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MAJOR HONORS AND AWARDS
FERBREIR

ENTERPRISE BRAND R &R

China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited

FEXREEREFTRLTA
Number Honors and awards Awarding body
ok FERREA ARERE
1 The Most Valuable Social Services Company Zhitongcaijing
BRAEBELERE A BRBK

Tianbao Real Estate Group Co., Ltd.

XREHRESERRLA
Number Honors and awards Awarding body
FF R gERRE EREE
1 2023 Advanced Unit for Innovation and Development Housing and Real Estate Industry Association of Hebei
Province
2023 F ERIFBREEEN MEEAZHEEHEERS
2 Yuxian Tianbao Property Development Co., Ltd. was Construction Association in Hebei Province

awarded the Top 100 Private Enterprises in Service Industry

in Hebei Province in 2023

HRAREHLEMZEBRLAE2023FE ML EEREHS
M ERBEERETRELE
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MAJOR HONORS AND AWARDS
FERBREIR

Tianbao Construction Group Company Limited
XREFKEARLT

Honors and awards
RERRIA

Awarding body
fE MR

Corporate Credit Rating of 3A

ERFERERIAK

2023 National Advanced Organizations Implementing High
Performance

2023F EExEEREBANLEAR

A21, A22, mall (Zhongdu Ginza) Project of Tianbao New
City Residential District (Phase Ill) won the 2022-2023
China Construction Engineering Luban Award (National
Quality Project)

ARFH/EEDE(ZH)A21 - A22 -

35 (P AR IR fE) T 12 2022-2023 F E
TEERIESENE(AXREEIR)

Main building project of Haiziwa cultural tourism scenic
spot hotel and ancillary apartment project won the 2023
Anji Cup for Construction Engineering of Hebei Province
(Provincial Quality Project)
BFENLRESEEERBREAEEHR
FTEIBE203FENLEERIBRRENER
(BEBEBEIR)

5A Grade Units for Honesty and Trustworthiness in
Bidding and Tendering in 2022
2022FEHETERERESAREN

2022 Advanced Unit of Hebei Society of Landscape
Architecture

2022FENLL B A SEMBE EEEN

2023-2024 Top 10 Landscape Enterprises in Hebei
Province

2023-2024 F EM b E +EEMEE

2023-2024 Excellent Landscape Enterprise of Hebei
Province

20232024 FEN L EEMEBEF L E

China Building Decoration Association
TEEELGHHES
China Association for Quality

TEHEEHS
China Construction Industry Association

TEEEXHS

Construction Association in Hebei Province

ML EREEHBS

Hebei Construction Engineering Bidding and Tendering
Association

MEEERIRBERERS

Hebei Society of Landscape Architecture

MEtERSEMES
Hebei Society of Landscape Architecture

TtERSEMES
Hebei Society of Landscape Architecture

MLEREEMNES
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MAJOR HONORS AND AWARDS
FERBREIR

Number
: 3]

Tianbao Construction Group Company Limited
XREFKEARLT

Honors and awards
RERRIA

Awarding body
AR MR

10

11

12

13

14

15

2023 Grade 5A Integrity Enterprise in the Urban
Landscape Industry of Hebei Province

2023 F EW L AW T EMAZLITESARBE DX

20283 Hebei Province Advanced Organizations
Implementing High Performance

2023F EN LA EREMABNEEAS

2023 Advanced Unit in the Municipal Industry of Hebei
Province

2023 F EON AWM TR L EE N

2023 Excellent Enterprise in the Municipal Industry of
Hebei Province

2023 F EALL BT BITEES X

2023 Advanced Enterprise in Building Decoration Industry
of Hebei Province

2023 F ML R ELMTELREDLE

Contribution Unit of Vocational Skills Competition of Hebei
Province

ML EREREREEREN

Three-Star Enterprise in Baoding Construction Industry
RETEEXERLE=ZER

Hebei Society of Landscape Architecture

MtERSEMNESE
Hebei Association for Quality

MtEEEHS
Hebei Municipal Industry Association

A ETBRITEGS
Hebei Municipal Industry Association

MEETRTEGS
Hebei Building Decoration Industry Association

Mt BEREMEHS

Department of Housing and Urban-Rural Development
of Hebei Province, Department of Human Resources and
Social Security of Hebei Province, Education Department
of Hebei Province, the General Workers’ Union of Hebei
Province, Hebei Committee of Youth League
AEEEEMBBERE - TLEEADERM
HEREE -TLEHAE -TLELIS
HEETLEZE

Baoding Housing and Urban-Rural Development Bureau
RETEEMHBERR
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited, |
hereby present to the shareholders the audited 2023 annual results
and business review for the year ended December 31, 2023 (the
“Year”) and future outlook of the Company and its subsidiaries.

MARKET OVERVIEW

In 2023, amidst the global economic recovery, there was an
accelerated advancement in the construction of major and key
projects in the PRC, with the scale of effective investment consistently
expanding, playing a crucial role in stabilising growth. According to
data released by the National Bureau of Statistics, the gross capital
formation contributed 28.9% to the economic growth in 2023, driving
a 1.5 percentage point increase in GDP. In 2023, GDP for the year
was RMB126,058.2 billion (RMB, the same below), representing an
increase of 5.2% compared to the previous year at constant prices.

In 2023, the property market in the PRC struggled to sustain a
consistent recovery and remained in a phase of adjustment as
a whole. According to data released by the National Bureau of
Statistics, the sales area of commercial housing in the PRC was
1,117.35 million sg.m. in 2023, representing a year-on-year decrease
of 8.5%, of which the sales area of residential housing decreased by
8.2%; and the sales amount of commercial housing was RMB11,662.2
billion, representing a year-on-year decrease of 6.5%, of which the
sales amount of residential housing decreased by 6.0%.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHRE

EHMNEMLRER:

FAERRPEARREBZRARA2ABMEMLRR
REAQNAREMBARBE2023F 12831 HLLF
E(XRFENKER 023 FEXBEREBER
BEARRE-

4% 85

2023F HHUEZRLEEBRMNES BRNEKRE
B ERTIRELMREE ERRERETHIR
X HEERNBEEFREEZE - BEXKTH
HE 0B8FEEARBEBHEEERNERES
28.9% ' W BIGDPIE R1.5( 5 5 & 5 2023F 2 F E
NEEHE1,260582BT(ARE TRE)  RIAEE
BerE Lk EFEERS52%

2023 - HEEHMETSERSELNTE BRER
ERBEzH -BERSFREE 20235 2BBHRE
HEBMBEI11,7358FH K FL THE85%  HffE
EHEEBETHRE2% . MmEHEH116,622F T -
B TF6.5% HATEHEEETHE6.0% -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERRE

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, with the goal of stabilising the economy, promoting
development and strengthening confidence, our Group remained
committed to maintaining its core strengths and actively pushed a
transition into the healthcare industry while steadily boosting the two
major segments of construction and property development.

Construction Business
1. Consolidating business indicators

In 2023, Tianbao Construction Group exhibited strong
determination and pursued a steady and focused approach.
Our Group maintained its commitment to creating high-quality
projects and setting industry benchmarks, resulting in the
prestigious “Luban Prize” in the construction industry in the
PRC. During the Year, our Group won 12 awards in corporate
management, 62 awards in technology and 15 awards in
engineering.

2. Planning for market layout

Our Group implemented a strategic adjustment in the
Southwest region, focusing on establishing local direct
operations and actively promoting an independent operation
model. Our Group expanded its presence into the untapped
markets such as Liaoning, Yunnan, Fujian and Guangdong
to further explore local resources. Our Group has newly
registered 11 subsidiaries in Anhui Lu’an, Wenshang,
Zhengding, Fujian, etc., with a total of 40 subsidiaries
established, covering 27 provinces, cities, and autonomous
regions across the country.

3. Enhancing qualification management

The Company meticulously constructed a qualification
platform framework that “combines general contracting and
professional contracting, and integrates the construction
industry with related sectors”. The Company successfully
obtained the first-grade qualification for general contracting
of municipal public works construction. Additionally, we have
obtained qualifications in seven other areas, including general
contracting for power engineering construction, professional
contracting for steel structure engineering, design of municipal
engineering water supply and drainage and road engineering
design. Currently, we hold a total of 22 qualifications, all of
which have been renewed.

1 O China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited Annual Report 2023
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Property Business
1l Ensuring delivery and stabilising construction

Tianbao Real Estate Group made orderly progress in projects
in locations such as Zhuozhou, Yuxian, Huailai and Zhangbei.
The internal public area renovation and landscaping of
apartments in Jingbei Health City have been completed,
meeting the delivery conditions. The design and planning
for Tianbao Xinyue Bay Phase Il and Tianbao Jingxifu have
been finalised and construction of such projects is about
to commence. The Phase Il of Edelweiss City in Yuxian and
the Phase Il of Boyue Bay have been successfully delivered
to the property owners, receiving overwhelming praise. The
procedures for the Zhangbei Tianbao New City project have
been fully completed, marking a successful conclusion.
Following the severe flood disaster in Zhuozhou on July 23,
the Tianbao team has been working tirelessly day and night,
with a view to meeting the construction schedule to ensure the
progress of the projects.

2. Seeking partnerships for transformation

Seizing the opportunity of the 2024 Zhuozhou Tourism Industry
Development Conference, our Group deeply engaged in the
development of the cultural and tourism industry in Zhuozhou.
We strategically focused on expanding our presence in the
healthcare industry, and actively planned for a transformation
in our real estate strategy based on the Jingbei Health City
Project in Huailai County, Zhangjiakou City. At the same time,
we enhanced deep-level business exchanges with Yanda
Group, working together to drive our collaboration towards
broader and more profound progress.

Healthcare Business

In 2023, our Group continued its strategic planning for the expansion
of the healthcare segment. With the support and attention from
leaders at the provincial, municipal and county levels, as well
as assistance from the provincial construction bank, the Huailai
Jingbei Health City Project proactively addressed the requirements
of coordinated development policy for elderly care in the Beijing
area and the pressing demand of elderly individuals from Beijing
to seek retirement options outside the city. The Company made
efforts to explore new forms and approaches for corporate
development, undergoing transformation and upgrading to establish
a comprehensive model that integrates “medical care, rehabilitation
and health care”.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHRE

Bt & %

1. B BER
AREHEEBEFEERMN HH ZR.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERRE

The Jingbei Health City project will resume full-scale construction
in March 2024. It will consist of four major components, namely a
hospital, a nursing centre, an elderly care community and an elderly
care science and technology industrial zone, which can provide 350
medical beds and 8,500 elderly care beds, creating employment
opportunities for 5,000 individuals. We are committed to building the
project into the largest mid-to-high-end healthcare industrial city in
northwest Beijing.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

In 2024, as the concluding year of our Group’s “Eight-Five Plan”, our
Group will adhere to the development principles of seeking progress
while maintaining stability, promoting stability with progress, and
establishing priorities before making breakthroughs. It will interpret
national policies, and enhance the foresight, comprehensiveness and
stability of its strategies.

Tianbao Construction Group will adhere to the guidance of national
policies, accurately understanding the new stage of development. It
will emphasise building a solid economic foundation, coordinating
market positioning, adjusting management structure, strengthening
the management system, and exercising strict control over project
management. These initiatives facilitate its sustained, healthy and
steady development.

Tianbao Real Estate Group will adhere to the principle of seeking
progress while maintaining stability, and promoting stability
with progress. With a primary focus on “strengthening sales and
promoting payment collection”, it will also solidify and strengthen the
favourable trends brought about by the economic recovery, driving
transformative innovation and pursuing a comprehensive upgrade of
the real estate sector.

1 2 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited Annual Report 2023
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHRE

We will comprehensively embark on the transformation and PEFAREEEREAAL EEERERBE U
upgrading of the healthcare and elderly care sector, aligning with MLtEREZEEALRY BARZTLREHIFE
national development policies. Starting with the prioritised elderly HEAPE K 2RERLEERERELE UBEKRHE
care projects in Hebei Province, we will continuously develop BT E R AR IR o

Tianbao Jingbei Health City into a mid-to-high-end, full-process and

continuous healthcare community. Through tangible initiatives, we

aim to achieve a new breakthrough in our transformation and upgrade

efforts.

China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited FEXREEZTRERLT

Li Baotian FHEHA

Chairman of the Board, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer EFRFE HITEFRTHAER
Hong Kong o

March 28, 2024 2024% 3 828 H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBHWRS

The Group is a construction company and property developer based
in Zhuozhou, Hebei Province, the PRC. The Group’s business scope
covers construction, planning and design, property development,
property sales, investment and operation and other multi-industry
sectors.

The Group principally engages in the following businesses:

° Construction contracting business. As a construction
company, the Group provides construction contracting
services mainly as a general contractor for building
construction projects, infrastructure construction projects, and
industrial and commercial construction projects.

° Property development business. As a property developer,
the Group focuses primarily on the development and sales
of residential properties, and leasing and operation of an
investment property.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group’s revenue was
approximately RMB2,717 million, representing an increase of 41%
comparing to RMB1,924 million in 2022.

The underlying profit of the Group was approximately RMB31 million
(2022: the underlying loss of RMB159 million).

The reported profit of the Group amounted to approximately RMB11
million, and the the reported loss amounted to approximately
RMB347 million in 2022, mainly attributable to the gradual resumption
to normal of construction contracting business in 2023 under the
impact of COVID-19 pandemic in 2022, the increase in gross profit,
the fair value loss on investment properties, realised loss of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss and the impairment losses
on financial and contract assets recorded in the year decreased
significantly by approximately RMB349 million as compared to 2022.

1 4 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Reconciliation of underlying profit/(loss) and reported profit/(loss) are
as follows:

THBE WS

HEAREMN (BRIRAMER(BR)EEREMOT :

For the year ended December 31
HE12A31HLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®FR

Reported profit/(loss) AfE A (& 8) 10,990 (347,346)
Fair value loss on investment properties REVENLIFEBE 100 72,379
Realised loss of financial assets at fair value RAFEFAEZENEZREEN

through profit or loss EEREE 12,357 108,154
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value BRAFEFABRNEREE

through profit or loss ATFEEE 7,932 7,378
Underlying profit/(loss) B (&A) 31,379 (159,435)

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023 increased
by 41% to approximately RMB2,717 million (2022: RMB1,924 million).

The increase in revenue from the construction contracting business
was mainly due to the fact that the economy resumed development
after three years of COVID-19 pandemic prevention and control in
2023, and the construction contracting business gradually returned
to normal. The construction and normal bidding progress returned to
normal, and the business volume increased. The increase in revenue
of the property development business was mainly due to the increase
in amount of sales recognised after the completion of the property
sales.

KBEOE
AEBEZE2023F12A3 AL FE 2 WiE L A41%
ERNARB2TMITAEEB T(2022F : AR¥1,9248 8
JT) e

BEABEBBRALA TEHR2023FR=ZFH
BEBHEERELEREREN —F EEEKE
EXBESHMELR - RHIREENBRENEEMR
BER ¥X¥BELA - FHERBEKZRSZ LA £
EREHREHETRARBERHEEEE M-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBHWRS

The Group’s underlying profit was approximately RMB31 million
(2022: underlying loss of approximately RMB159 million), which
was primarily attributable to the fact that (i) with the end of the
epidemic, the increase in the construction volume of the construction
contracting business led to a rebound in revenue and profit; (ii) the
sales of property projects in 2023 were more than the sales in 2022;
(iii) the impairment of financial and contract assets and fair value
loss on investment properties in 2023 have significantly decreased
compared to 2022.

As at December 31, 2023, the net assets of the Group were
approximately RMB1,014 million (2022: RMB1,000 million), bank
deposits of approximately RMB437 million (2022: RMB626 million)
and total bank and other loans of approximately RMB1,046 million
(2022: RMB904 million). As at December 31, 2023, the net debt
(being total borrowings minus bank deposits) of the Group was
approximately RMB609 million (2022: RMB278 million).

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s revenue
by business segment for the years indicated:

2023
Percentage of

TEEBMNERGINNAREIIEET(2022F : &£
BEHNARKIOBER) T EHR)BEEREE
#BoOBEEENRAE BIBEA WHERABELEHA
(i)2023F (= #: & 78 B 84 &£ 3 L2022 F L # ; (iii)2023
FHEMEAREEREBERREVELAFEEEL
2022 F K IE T F& ©

R2023F12A31H  REEMNFEEENARKE1,014
BET(2022F: ARB1,0008E8 ) HHBITE
RHOARBAITEET(2022F : ARM626HE T)
Rk BRTRHEMERDOARYE1,046F & T (2022%F :
ARMBI4IEE T) o N2023F12A31H AEEM
EEFRABEENBRRBITFRINARKEE09EE
TT(2022F : A\R¥278HE ) ©

TERHEIRFARFERAEBRER NS 2 W=
B A

For the year ended December 31

BEZ12A31HLEFEE

2022
Percentage of

Revenue total revenue Revenue total revenue
f 4 &= ke
I & B I & B
RMB’000 (%) RMB’000 (%)
Segment o8 AERE® T AR®BTR
Construction contracting EERBERK
business 2,169,878 79.9 1,455,411 75.7
Property development and EEMABEREMER
other business 546,711 20.1 468,458 24.3
Total g 2,716,589 100.0 1,923,869 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Below is a review of each business segment of the Group.

(i)

Construction Contracting Business

The Group has been engaged in the construction contracting
business since 1998, as a general contractor for building,
industrial, commercial and infrastructure construction projects.
The Group generates the majority of its revenue from this
business. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group
generated the majority of its construction contracting revenue
from construction projects located in Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei
region, mainly in Hebei Province and in Beijing. The Group’s
construction projects in other geographical locations were
mainly located in Inner Mongolia, Anhui, Shandong and
Jiangsu Provinces. For the year ended December 31, 2023,
the Group entered into new contracts with the aggregate value
of approximately RMB1,989.5 million. As at December 31,
2023, the Group’s aggregate backlog of construction projects
was approximately RMB7,542.6 million.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of revenue from
the Group’s construction contracting business by geographical
locations for the years indicated:

THBE WS

TXHINAEEZEH D EEME -

(i)

BEXAXY

REBA19BFE-—ERBEEERBEY
EAEFT I X BENERREREIRE
NWBEREH RBIWZELAZREB -BE
2023 12A3IALFE AEEFTEARE
HEWE(FELRTLEREINEEER
EERBIBREARBREZ - AEBRAM T
BENENREEEZTZEMARRAET S R# WL
RARI&HE - BE2023F12A31HLFE
AEBHETECRABAENARB1,98958E
JTe R2023F12A31H  BEEBE N RT K
ERBREEANARKTS426BE T -

TREINAEERFTREFERBES S HNE
HEBEBWEAMA:

For the year ended December 31
HE12A31HLEFEE

2023 2022
Percentage of

Percentage of

Revenue total revenue Revenue total revenue
kS waka
I & BSk I & BSk
RMB’000 (%) RMB’000 (%)

Region it E AR¥®TT AR®TR
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei mEE 1,175,745 54.2 861,210 59.2
Other HAi 994,133 45.8 594,201 40.8
2,169,878 100.0 1,455,411 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBHWRS

During the Reporting Period, the Group undertook most
of such construction projects as a general contractor.
As a general contractor, the Group performs all major
aspects of the construction project, including building
construction, foundation works, curtain wall construction,
building decoration and fireproofing projects. The Group
is also responsible for engaging subcontractors to provide
construction services and the labor force for the construction
projects, coordinating the work of all parties, providing the
major equipment and machinery, procuring raw materials and
ensuring the timely completion of construction projects. The
Group believes undertaking construction projects as a general
contractor reflects its overall capabilities and is significant
to the Group’s continued success. Having obtained the
Premium Class Certificate in 2017, the Group is, and expects
to continue to be able to, undertake larger-scale building
construction projects with increased complexity and higher
returns nationwide, as well as charge a premium rate for the
Group’s services.

In addition to construction contracting as a general contractor,
the Group also undertakes specialised construction projects
directly subcontracted by other general contractors or project
owners, such as renovation and decoration, steel structure
construction and curtain wall construction projects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Project Types

The following table sets forth the breakdown of revenue
generated from the Group’s construction contracting business
by project type for the years indicated:

THBE WS

HEHE

TREIRFRFELAEBEZEBHEEE D
MEEABEBRESKREAMA:

For the year ended December 31

BE12A31HIEFE

2023 2022
Percentage of Percentage of
Revenue total revenue Revenue total revenue
E#8ka E R &
I & BSHL I & B
RMB’000 () RMB’000 (%)
Project type HRHEY AR®TT AR®FT
Building construction EFEE 739,505 34.1 392,265 27.0
Industrial, commercial I% - BER
and infrastructure ERRBEESE
construction 1,430,373 65.9 1,063,146 73.0
Total g 2,169,878 100.0 1,455,411 100.0

The Group provides construction contracting services for
municipal and public infrastructure projects. The Group’s
infrastructure construction projects primarily consist of urban
roads, bridges, facilities for water supply and treatment,
urban pipelines, city squares and street lighting. The Group’s
infrastructure construction customers are primarily local
government entities.

The Group is also undertaking industrial and commercial
construction contracting projects. These projects mainly
include steel structures, horticulture, buildings, industrial
buildings, new pseudo-classic buildings and preservation of
antiquities and historical buildings. The Group’s industrial and
commercial construction customers are enterprises in diverse
industries.

The Group also provides construction work of buildings and
corresponding building services for building construction
projects. Building construction customers are primarily
property developers and local government entities.

REBATHRLAHAERRBEERMESR
AERB - AEENERREELEREETE
BREEATER BR KHEREERE W
TER-BTESREERA -FAEENHER
REEEEFPFTEAEHRTER-

FEBT AR TIXERBEEEABIER
TERRAEE B2 -BF I XBE - F
TERENERTEEBERB - AEENT
ERBEEERFRZATENEE -

FAEBTARFEEHBRHABFTERIRE
FHEENEFRE - BFREERFEIERE
HWERBBERGBIRTER-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBHWRS

The following is a brief introduction to the Group’s large-scale
construction contracting projects this year:

Repair and Protection Project of Langdang Temple (Bf & &)
in Linzhou County, Lhasa City

The project is located in Linzhou County, Lhasa City, with a
contract value of approximately RMB5 million. The project
covers the maintenance and reinforcement of the existing main
museum and one pagoda of Langdang Temple to restore the
appearance of cultural relics and ensure the protection and
continuation of the historical landscape of cultural relics and
historic buildings.

New Construction of Guangzhou Baiyun Station (Tangxi
Station) and Related Works for the Railway Hub in
Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province

The project is located in Guangzhou City, Guangdong
Province, with a contract value of approximately RMB17
million. The project covers the decoration work of the station
room of Baiyun Station and the related engineering platform
floor.

National Defence Education Base in Urad Middle Banner,
Bayannur City, Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region

The project is located in Bayannur City, Inner Mongolia
Autonomous Region, with a contract value of approximately
RMB65 million. The project covers earthwork engineering,
building decoration engineering, installation engineering and
supporting external network engineering for the construction
of the national defence education base of 14,000 sq.m..

Comprehensive Parking Lot and Supporting Project of
Gangimaodu Port Processing Park in Urad Middle Banner,
Bayannur City, Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region

The project is located in Bayannur City, Inner Mongolia
Autonomous Region, with a contract value of approximately
RMB51 million. The project covers a car park with 460 parking
spaces, a comprehensive service building and a maintenance
building.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Middle School Teacher’s Dormitory Construction Project in
Maotan Factory, Lu’an City, Anhui Province

The project is located in Lu’an City, Anhui Province, with a
contract value of approximately RMB131 million. The project
covers the construction of six dormitory buildings for teachers
and ancillary facilities, with a total GFA of approximately
48,000 sg.m..

Rainwater and Sewage Pipeline Network Improvement
Project in Beidaihe District, Qinhuangdao City, Hebei
Province

The project is located in Beidaihe District, Qinhuangdao
City, Hebei Province, with a contract value of approximately
RMB103 million. The project covers the construction of a
total of 36 km of sewage pipes, sewage household pipes and
drainage pipes, and the construction of two sewage upgrading
pumping stations and one upgrading pumping station.

Hebei Shijiazhuang Zhengding High-tech Industrial
Development Zone Rental Housing Project

The project is located in Shijiazhuang City, Hebei Province,
with a contract value of approximately RMB149 million. The
project covers the construction of one rental housing and
related outdoor engineering, with a total GFA of approximately
50,000 sqg.m..

Backlog and New Contract Value
Backlog value

Backlog refers to an estimate of the contract value of work that
remains to be completed as of a certain date. The contract
value represents the amount that the Group expects to receive
under the terms of the contract, assuming the contract is
performed in accordance with its terms.

THBE WS

EHENRTEERPENGESERTH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBHWRS

The following table sets forth the contract value of outstanding TRHIBEREHARARBEBELES IO R
projects in the backlog by geographical locations as of the end EREBFHNATHEESREHE:
of the Reporting Period:

As of December 31

#E12A31H
2023 2022
Percentage of Percentage of
Contract total contract Contract total contract
value value value value
L& R LER#EE
eREE EaS AREE B
RMB million (%) RMB million (%)
Region = AR¥BEERT ARBBET
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei mEE 3,215.3 42.6 2,953.8 37.2
Other Hfth 4,327.3 57.4 4,980.4 62.8
7,542.6 100.0 7,934.2 100.0
The following table sets forth the contract value of outstanding TREIINBZHREFHRIREBEBHRESIN KR
projects in the backlog by project types as of the end of the ERERHTPNARTEREESREE:

Reporting Period:

As of December 31

B X=12A31H
2023 2022
Percentage of Percentage of
Contract total contract Contract total contract
value value value value
EaRE HEaREE
eRRE Eaatt AREE B
RMB million (%) RMB million (%)
Project type HERR AR®EET ARE®EET
Building construction BFEE 2,867.0 38.0 2,690.1 33.9
Industrial, commercial T - BER
and infrastructure HEREZmESRE
construction 4,675.6 62.0 5,244 1 66.1
7,542.6 100.0 7,934.2 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

New Contract Value

New contract value represents the aggregate value of
contracts entered into by the Group during the Reporting
Period. The contract value is the amount that the Group
expects to receive under the terms of the contract if the
contract is performed by the Group in accordance with its
terms.

The following table sets forth the aggregate value of new
contracts entered into by the Group by geographical locations
for the years indicated:

THBE WS

e REE
HAAEREEEAEERBREIRNTLING
BRE-fREEEMAEEERSEKX
BTE&R MASEERRBEARKAME
HEH -

TEREINFAREELAEHEHUEBELES D
WHTERBHE:

For the year ended December 31
BE12A31BLFEE

2023 2022

Percentage of Percentage of
Contract total contract Contract total contract
value value value value
HEeER#E LER##E
eREE B AREE Bk
RMB million (%) RMB million (%)

Region = AEWEBRTT ARE®BRT
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei mEE 989.8 49.8 1,676.4 56.6
Other H b 999.7 50.2 1,283.5 43.4
1,989.5 100.0 2,959.9 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBHWRS

The following table sets forth the aggregate value of new TRHIAFTTIEERAEBRZREEERLE S
contracts entered into by the Group by project types for the Wi eREE:
years indicated:

For the year ended December 31
HE12A31HLEFEE

2023 2022
Percentage of Percentage of
Contract total contract Contract total contract
value value value value
LEeER#EE LER#EE
eREE B eREE B
RMB million (%) RMB million (%)
Project type REER AR®EERTT AERER®EET
Building construction EFEE 419.7 21.1 1,099.0 37.1
Industrial, commercial T BER
and infrastructure ERBmESE
construction 1,569.8 78.9 1,860.9 62.9
1,989.5 100.0 2,959.9 100.0
After obtaining the Premium Class Certificate in 2017, RWVI7TEERBEBREER AEE-—ESH
the Group has been involving in larger-scale building 2EHEEANEREEROBYBESNARE
construction projects with increased complexity and higher BFEFEA MASERE E£2023F128
returns nationwide. The value of the new contracts entered BFTALFEITUNFTERIERAS ARY1,989.5
into by the Group amounted to RMB1,989.5 million for the BB REA AEEREERECEKE
year ended December 31, 2023. The Group expanded the REZDZEHEUNMME BEZEE AR
construction contracting business to regions other than HoEEW e

Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region during the year, including Anhui
Province, Inner Mongolia and Chongging City.
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(ii)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Property development and other business

The Group’s property development business consists of (i)
the development and sales of residential properties; and
(ii) leasing and operation of investment properties. The
revenue of the Group is derived from sales of residential
properties and rental income from investment properties.
As of December 31, 2023, the Group had a diverse portfolio
of 20 property projects consisting of 17 residential and
commercial properties, 2 investment properties and 1 hotel,
which are all owned and developed by the Group. Among the
20 property projects, 7 projects are located in Zhuozhou and
the remaining 13 projects are located in Zhangjiakou. Among
these 20 projects, 14 projects were completed, 3 projects
were under construction and 3 projects were held for future
development. As of December 31, 2023, the Group had land
reserves with a total GFA of approximately 1,046,115 sq.m.,
including (i) completed properties with a total unsold saleable
GFA of approximately 229,335 sq.m. and a rentable GFA
held for property investment of approximately 78,700 sq.m.,
accounting for approximately 29.5% of the Group’s total
land reserves; (ii) properties under development with a total
planned GFA of approximately 152,139 sg.m., accounting
for approximately 14.5% of the Group’s total land reserves;
and (iii) properties held for future development with a total
planned GFA of approximately 585,941 sg.m., accounting for
approximately 56.0% of the Group’s total land reserves.

(ii)

THBE WS

EBHEMRRAMES

FEENEHERREBBENEEZEMED
HBERFEE URMHREVEHEREE - &
EENREREHETENERRENED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBHWRS

The table below sets forth a breakdown of the revenue from TREBEIIAFTTSTEEREESERKAKLES
property development business by business line and nature of PHREFHERBELHOKRZHA:
income for the years indicated:

For the year ended December 31
HE12A31HLEFEE

2023 2022
Percentage of Percentage of
Revenue total revenue Revenue total revenue
8k E R &
I & BSHL I & B
Business line Nature of income RMB’000 (%) RMB’000 (%)
KW WAKE AR®TT AR®FT

Property development  Sales of residential

and sales properties
EHEHBHEE TEMEHEE 538,368 98.5 456,589 97.5
Commercial property Rental income

investment and

operations
HMEVEREREE HakA 8,343 1.5 11,869 2.5
Total
HEt 546,711 100.0 468,458 100.0
The Group’s land reserves are mainly located in Zhuozhou TEENITHEREEIZEVARBERBIRAN
and Zhangjiakou which have high development potential. The BFMEERO-UTREAEEEBEMNBGN

following is a brief introduction of such projects of the Group:

Projects in Zhuozhou M ERE

Tianbao Green City (X 1R #% %) ARG H

Located on the north side of Guanyun Road and the west side BEAUNRBENSTERLLQ K -—NEQ &
of Xuyi Village in Zhuozhou, the project covers a total site area it EE33, 7641 FH K- BHERXRBER &
of 33,764.1 sq.m. The project has convenient transportation B8Rk BRSE BEEREHEY
facilities connecting Beijing-Shijiazhuang High-speed Railway 105000 5K EBESEBEE BEDNER
and Beijing-Hong Kong-Macao Expressway. The GFA of the FHEiG - B E2023F 128318 1k XR&EH
project is approximately 105,000 sq.m., including high-rise EHHE7T4E  EHB3IZE -

residential buildings, commercial properties and parking lots.
As of December 31, 2023, 874 units have been launched and
833 units have been sold for Tianbao Green City.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Tianbao Xinyue Bay (X {R 2 1% &) (also known as Project Ming
Yang Phase |) (855 — #§)

The project is located in Beixiguo Village, Matou Town,
Zhuozhou, with convenient surrounding transportation
facilities. The project can be reached through the Beijing-Hong
Kong-Macao Expressway and the Beijing-Shijiazhuang
High-speed Railway. The project covers a site area of
approximately 17,593.3 sq.m.. 1# and 3# buildings have a GFA
of approximately 48,000 sq.m., including high-rise residential
buildings. There are 480 units in these 2 buildings. As of
December 31, 2023, 436 units have been sold for 1# and 3#
buildings. The project has been delivered to purchasers in
batches since 2020. 2# building has a GFA of 7,243.0 sq.m.,
including a high-rise residential building, with 56 units. 2#
building is currently in the construction stage and is scheduled
to be delivered in 2025.

Tianbao Smart Building Technology Park (X 1R & Z # Z Rl # [F])

The project is located at the intersection of Yongji East Road
and Pengcheng Street in Zhuozhou. It covers a site area of
58,610.9 sq.m. and a GFA of approximately 310,000 sg.m.
The project is about 6 kilometers from Zhuozhou High-speed
Railway Station, about 17 kilometers from Beijing Daxing
International Airport and about 1 kilometer from Zhuozhou City
Terminal of Beijing Daxing International Airport. This project
is a high-end complex integrating business office, corporate
headquarters office, commerce, micro-movie bar, catering
and conferences. There are approximately 4,100 units in this
project, and currently its main parts are under construction
stage. As of December 31, 2023, 934 units have been
launched and 429 units have been sold for this project.

Baoxin International Building (1R & B BX X &)

The project is located at No. 33 Guanyun East Road, Zhuozhou
Development Zone. It covers a total site area of 17,792.4
sg.m., with a total GFA of approximately 50,039.7 sqg.m.
Baoxin International Building is a comprehensive commercial
building integrating office and business functions. After the
completion of the project, it has won many awards, including
the “Luban Prize” of the construction industry in 2018 and
the “Guang Xia Award” of the property development industry
in 2019. Baoxin International Building has contributed stable
rental income to the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBHWRS

Projects in Zhangjiakou
Tianbao New City (X 1 #7 #%)

The project is located in the core area of Zhangbei County,
at the intersection of Zhongdu Street and Xinghe Road in
Zhangbei County. It covers a site area of approximately
230,000 sg.m., with a total GFA of approximately 600,000
sq.m. The project is developed and constructed in three
phases, mainly high-rise and middle-high-rise buildings,
consisting of 46 residential buildings, community clubs,
kindergartens and a large-scale commercial complex Zhongdu
Ginza. As of December 31, 2023, the residential units of
Tianbao New City were basically sold out, and few remaining
street shops are on sale.

Tianbao New City — Zhangbei Zhongdu Ginza (X 1R #7 4% — i 1t
1 &B 2R )

The project is located in the northwest of the residential
area of Tianbao New City, mainly consisting of two high-rise
apartments, office buildings and commercial podiums, being
a landmark building in Zhangbei County. The project is a
comprehensive high-end commercial building integrating
shopping malls, cinemas, catering, conferences, offices,
hotels, leisure, business and other functions, with a total
GFA of approximately 86,690.5 sq.m. The mall portion of
the project, named Tianbao Plaza, is a 5-storey diversified
shopping hotspot with supermarkets, lifestyle stores,
restaurants and cinemas, and officially opened in 2022.
High-rise apartments started pre-sale in September 2020, with
the portions sold to be delivered to purchasers since 2021.
As of December 31, 2023, a total of 163 units have been
delivered.

Zhangbei Fuxinyuan Shanty-town Improvement Project (i 3t
GEBEREMFENZEEER)

Fuxinyuan residential community is project constructed in
response to Zhangbei County Government’s shanty-town
reconstruction project, located on the north side of Zhangbei
County Family Planning Bureau and east of Jingdu Street. The
construction of the project started in September 2017 with a
total of 1,272 units. The project has been completed in 2020
and started to be delivered to purchasers on the same year.
There are 1,252 residential units and 20 commercial units
available for sale. As of December 31, 2023, 1,215 residential
units were sold.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Tianbao Edelweiss City (X 1% Z # 7 &)

The project is a residential and commercial project located
on the north side of Yu County Economic Development
Zone, with urban planning roads in the south, Edelweiss
Avenue in the north, Industrial Street in the east and
urban planning roads in the west. It consists of residential
communities and commercial facilities. The project covers a
site area of approximately 155,000 sq.m., with a total GFA of
approximately 430,000 sq.m. Star-rated hotels, AAAAA-level
office buildings and high-end communities will be built to
create a multi-functional and high-efficiency urban complex
integrating commercial offices, landmark buildings, residence,
catering and entertainment. Tianbao Edelweiss City has 1,942
residential units available for sale, of which pre-sale of Phase
| and Phase Il residential units launched in 2019 and 2021,
respectively, and pre-sale of Phase Ill, comprising a total of
85 commercial units, launched in 2021, and were successively
delivered to purchasers in the 4th quarter of the same year. As
of December 31, 2023, a total of 1,250 units have been sold.

Tianbao Boyue Bay (X 1R #1 1% &)

The project is located in the southwest of the urban area of Yu
County, with West Outer Ring Road in the east, Qianjin West
Road in the west, Heping West Road in the south and Lipuzi
Village in the north. The project includes middle-high-rise
residential units, high-rise residential units and commercial
properties, covering a site area of approximately 81,815
sqg.m. and a total planned GFA of approximately 193,000
sg.m. The construction work of the project started in 2019,
and the pre-sale began in 2020. Tianbao Boyue Bay has a
total of 1,836 residential units available for sale, and were
successively delivered to purchasers in the first half of 2022.
As of December 31, 2023, 1,187 units have been sold.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Tianbao Jingxifu (X 1R 5 7 f7) ARE AR

The project is located in Nanfanzhuang Village, Yuzhou Town, BENARROTHGEHMNERREEN K
Yu County, Zhangjiakou. The Group acquired the land for this EEA2021FOAEBLABABRKR MEBLLER
project through public bidding in September 2021. The project T ih o T B b EAE 43,242 F F K R B E
has a site area of approximately 43,242 sg.m. and a planned ££ TH & #9 86,000 F 75 3K o

GFA of approximately 86,000 sg.m.

Nasutu Hotel (7% % [E] )& J&) (formerly known as Haiziwa Hotel) HEEEIE (RE & FZEEE)

(& FZEFE)

The project is a wholly self-owned project located in Zhangbei BHUREROWRLG A—E2EHEE
County, Zhangjiakou. As of December 31, 2023, the project BIEE B ZE2023F12A31B8 1 ZEEE
has obtained all certificates. Conveniently located near KOS EEGH - ENEBEEFEAN R TLEEER
Nasutu resort in Zhangjiakou, Hebei Province, Nasutu Hotel RO BB & B = B A M3 o B0 % B8 5 16 i
occupies a total site area of approximately 52,237 sq.m. and BHEBHNRRB7TEFRRBLEEZABNA
an aggregate GFA of approximately 33,967.5 sq.m. with a total 33,967.5F 5 K #3180 & E - Bl £2023
of 180 guest rooms. As of December 31, 2023, the project was F12A31 B, ZEEESHEF -

underway.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Land Reserves

The following table sets out the GFA breakdown of the Group’s
land reserves by geographical location as of December 31,
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TRHIAEEHE2023F12 431 H R E
NEIITNIHREBELRERZAMA:

2023:
Under Future Total land
Completed development  development reserves
B®I (3] ARAB RS Percentage
Rentable of total land
Unsold GFA held Planned reserves by
saleable  for property GFA under Planned Total geographical
GFA investment  development GFA GFA location
fif BHENE
*HE ESS WENAE
THE A i3 403 % || HER HLthekin
BRER BRER BREE® BEER [ BRlL
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
Region HE (EHX) (FHX) (EHX) (EHX) (EHX)
Zhuozhou AN 23,756 44,336 141,901 175,435 385,428 36.8
Zhangjiakou wxRA 205,579 34,364 10,238 410,506 660,687 63.2
Total @ 229,335 78,700 152,139 585,941 1,046,115 100.0
Commercial Property Investment and Operations HEYPEREREE

The Group owns and operates Baoxin International Building

and Tianbao Plaza, which the Group developed for long-term

investment purposes. The Group holds these properties for

capital appreciation and rental income.

FEEREREEAEERBNRBEARK
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EUEGSEXARBERBASTEWA -
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(iii)

Healthcare business

China has entered an ageing society since 2000, and the
proportion of the elderly population in the total population
has continued to rise, and the pace of ageing development
has gradually accelerated. The rapid growth of the ageing
population has created a huge demand for elderly care
services. In 2021, the proportion of permanent residents
aged 60 and above in Beijing exceeded 20% for the first
time, officially entering a moderately ageing society. In 2022,
the proportion of permanent residents aged 60 and above
in Beijing reached 21.3%, which was 1.5 percentage points
higher than the national average, further deepening the ageing
population. The development level of Beijing’s economy
and residents’ income is relatively high, ranking first among
provincial-level regions in China, and residents have strong
purchasing power and high service requirements for elderly
care services.

In recent years, the Chinese government has proposed to
actively respond to the aging population, and the healthcare
industry, as an industrial integration to implement major
strategies, is regarded as a new engine to promote the
well-being of people and the adjustment of industrial
structure, and is also regarded as a “big prescription” for
the construction of a healthy China. Therefore, the elderly
care industry has become one of the key support directions
of national policies, and the central and local governments
have intensively introduced various supporting policies for the
elderly care industry.

Starting from April 2023, in order to promote the coordinated
development of the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region and further
facilitate the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei insured personnel to
seek medical treatment in different places within the region,
medical insurance reimbursement treatment can be enjoyed
without going through the registration procedures for medical
treatment in different places.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In May 20283, the central government proposed to promote the
construction of medical treatment combination and promote
the expansion of the Beijing-Tianjin elderly care project to
areas in Hebei that meet the conditions. In the same month,
the Hebei Provincial Government held a meeting to discuss
and promote the development of the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei
elderly care project in the province. Focusing on 14 counties
(cities and districts) around Beijing, we will deepen our
cooperation with tertiary hospitals in Beijing, and take
advantage of ecological resources, hot springs and other
resources as well as lower living costs to attract Beijing’s
elderly to Hebei for retirement.

In January 2024, the General Office of the State Council
issued the No. 1 Notice on the Opinions on the Development
of the Silver Economy and the Improvement of the Well-being
oftheElderly (BB R B RBELEREZFABUNE
B )), proposing to promote the synergy of the healthcare
industry, accelerate the scale, standardization, clustering and
brand-oriented development of the silver economy, so that the
elderly can share the development achievements and enjoy the
happiness in the old age. It points out that (i) optimizing elderly
health services. Our country will strengthen the construction
of geriatrics in general hospitals and traditional Chinese
medicine hospitals, improve the level of geriatric disease
prevention and control, and promote the transformation
of scientific research achievements in the field of geriatric
health; (ii) improving elderly care services. Our country will
guide local governments to provide differentiated subsidies
for ordinary and nursing beds in elderly care institutions,
strengthen the construction and transformation of elderly
care institutions to enhance their care service capabilities for
disabled elderly people, and appropriately add special care
areas for the elderly with cognitive impairment; (iii) promoting
the development of industrial clusters. In some regions such
as Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region, the Yangtze River Delta, the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, Chengdu,
Chongqing, it is planned to deploy about 10 high-level
industrial parks of silver economy to promote cross-regional
and international cooperation in the field of silver economy.

THBE WS

202358 - FREFRHEEHEEHEBER
EFRZEZHEMUTLABRENLEE
R -BA ALEBRFTEHER FHK
EHTZENBRRZHEBEEZEHANBER - U
BRUEAZKMH BAEH RLELELR=F
BEREF ABRLER BREERNBREEE
BABZ RoltmEFAETLEE-

202451 8 - B Br #F 2 BB 3 1SR SR R B
ERELEREZFABUANER) RER
EFRBEEXBRE MRESKLERE(L BE
ft-&&tt RRLEBER BEFALAHRE
BR ZEZEBRF -BHOELEFRER
B-maGaBER TEEREFEENE
ROREBEFEHRBAKE EBDEFRERY
BFRREL; (I TEEEZRERK -5 81
FTHEERBEBARUMNMERRRALEST
ERLEY - MAEZRBERNRENE
RAREZEFARERBED  BELRAX
BREZFAREZR; (NHEEEEHBERE -
ERREE -R=ZA BEBRXREE HAZE
HoREGRIOBEES KERELEESX
BE HERBSLSHERERE BEIBRMESHE-

2023EEH THAREERREEAT 33



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBHWRS

Tianbao Jingbei Health City

The Group seized the opportunity of the aging population
in Beijing and the elderly healthcare industry in Beijing
undertaken by Hebei Province, and therefore, decided to
transform Jingbei Health City into a comprehensive Continuing
Care Retirement Community, contributing to the integration of
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei healthcare.

The project is located in Tumu Village, Tumu Town, Yanshan
Cultural New City, Huailai County, Hebei Province, adjacent
to Guanting Lake to enjoy unique and spectacular scenery
and within easy reach of Beijing-Xizang Expressway,
Beijing-Xinjiang Expressway, Beijing-Chongli Expressway, 110
National Highway and Beijing-Zhangjiakou High-speed Railway
to enjoy the capital’s half-an-hour life circle. The project will
consist of four major components, namely hospitals, nursing
centres, elderly care communities and elderly care science
and technology industrial zones. A Continuing Care Retirement
Community will be established to enable the elderly to
continue living in a familiar environment and receive care
services corresponding to their physical condition when their
health conditions and self-care ability change by providing
them with self-care, device-aide and nursing-care integrated
living facilities and services. The project has a site area of
approximately 200,000 sq.m.; the hospital has a total GFA
of approximately 55,700 sg.m., and the nursing centres and
the elderly care centres have a total GFA of approximately
450,000 sg.m.. It is expected to provide 350 beds for medical
treatment and 8,500 beds for the elderly healthcare. The total
investment of the project is approximately RMB2.55 billion, of
which as of December 31, 2023, approximately RMB1 billion
has been invested. The project will be constructed in two
phases, with the first phase comprising hospitals, 5 nursing
centres and 13 blocks of elderly care community residence
and the second phase including 21 blocks of elderly care
community residence. Currently, the first phase of hospitals,
5 nursing centres and the part of the 13 blocks of elderly care
community residence have been finished. It is expected to
commence business in the fourth quarter of 2024, providing
350 beds for medical treatment and 4,000 beds for the elderly
healthcare, as well as hospital visits and care services for
the elderly. Construction of the second phase is planned to
commence in the first quarter of 2025 and is expected to be
completed by the end of 2025 to mid-2026. Jingbei Health
City is committed to building the project into the largest
mid-to-high-end healthcare industrial city in northwest Beijing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

1.

Revenue

The revenue of the Group was primarily derived from two
business segments: (i) construction contracting business; and
(i) property development business. Total revenue of the Group
increased by 41% from approximately RMB1,924 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022 to approximately
RMB2,717 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.

1.1 Construction contracting business

The revenue of the Group’s construction contracting
business was primarily derived from the construction
contracting services provided by the general
contractors of building construction projects,
infrastructure construction projects and industrial and
commercial construction projects.

The overall increase in the revenue from the Group’s
construction contracting business was primarily
attributable to the fact that with the end of the
epidemic, the increase in the construction volume of
the construction contracting business led to a rebound
in revenue. The revenue from this segment increased by
49% from approximately RMB1,455 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022 to approximately RMB2,170
million for the year ended December 31, 2023.

1.2 Property development business

The Group’s revenue from property development
business comprises sales of properties and rental
income. Revenue from sales of properties is recognised
only after properties have been sold to purchasers
and after satisfying the requirements for delivery as
stipulated in the purchase agreements. Consistent
with industry practice, the Group usually enters
into purchase agreements with purchasers while
the properties are under development and fulfil the
conditions for presales in accordance with PRC laws
and regulations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBHWRS

The aggregate GFA delivered increased from
approximately 92,000 sg.m. for the year ended
December 31, 2022 to approximately 112,000 sq.m. for
the year ended December 31, 2023 and the recognised
revenue increased from approximately RMB457 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022 to approximately
RMB538 million for the year ended December 31,
2023. The above changes were primarily attributable
to the large-scale delivery of Tianbao Boyue Bay and
Edelweiss City to purchasers, resulting in more area
delivered during the year than that in 2022.

The rental income of the Group was primarily derived
from lease of commercial investment properties. The
Group holds these commercial investment properties
for capital appreciation and leases them to generate
rental income. As of December 31, 2023, the Group
held one commercial investment property, Baoxin
International Building and one shopping mall, Tianbao
Plaza, with a total rentable GFA of 78,700.4 sq.m.

Cost of sales

The Group’s costs of sales primarily represent the costs
incurred in the construction contracting service rendered
by the Group and the costs of property development
and sales. The cost for construction contracting services
primarily includes labor costs, raw material costs, machinery
costs, subcontracting costs and other costs. The cost for
property development business primarily includes land costs,
construction costs and rent costs.

The Group’s cost of sales increased from approximately
RMB1,809 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to
approximately RMB2,555 million for the year ended December
31, 2023, representing an increase of 41%, which was in line
with the changes of construction contracting business and
property development business of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The following table sets forth a breakdown of gross profit
and gross profit margin by business segment for the years
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3. ENRENE

TREIRFFFEREZ S BE D NWEF
RENEHAM:

indicated:
For the year ended December 31
HEN2ANALEE
2023 2022
Percentage Percentage
of gross  Gross profit of gross  Gross profit
Gross profit profit (ETGTII Gross profit profit margin
HERH HEF
L] BSl EXIE LX) B Ef®E
RMB’000 (%) (%) RMB’000 (%) (%)
ARBTR ARBTRE
Segment b2 ]
Construction contracting BERBER
business 100,085 61.8 4.6 76,651 66.8 5.3
Property development FHEREER
business 61,828 38.2 11.3 38,061 33.2 8.1
Total Bt 161,913 100.0 6.0 114,712 100.0 6.0

The Group’s gross profit increased from approximately
RMB115 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to
approximately RMB162 million for the year ended December
31, 20283, representing an increase of 41%, which was
primarily attributable to the increase in gross profit of the
Group’s construction contracting business from approximately
RMB77 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to
RMB100 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The
Group’s gross profit margin remained stable at approximately
6.0%. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the gross profit
margin of the construction contracting business of the Group
was 4.6% (2022: 5.3%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBHWRS

Other income and gains

The Group’s other income and gains included the dividend
income received from equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income of approximately
RMB10 million (2022: Nil) and realised loss of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss of approximately RMB12
million (2022: RMB108 million).

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses primarily
consist of (i) advertising, marketing and business development
expenses; and (ii) staff costs in relation to our salespersons.

Most of the selling and distribution expenses were capitalised
to property development projects during the year.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses primarily consist of staff
costs in relation to the Group’s administrative personnel, office
expenses, depreciation and amortisation, traveling and other
expenses.

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by 7.0% from
approximately RMB65.9 million for the year ended December
31, 2022 to approximately RMB61.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023. Staff costs (including Directors’
remuneration) amounted to approximately RMB30.2 million
(2022: RMB30.3 million). The Group exercised stringent cost
control, resulting in a decrease in administrative expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Impairment losses on financial assets and contract
assets, net

The Group performs an impairment analysis as of December
31, 2023 using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses (“ECLs”). The provision rates are based on days past
due for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date.
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure ECLs.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group’s net
reversal of impairment on financial assets amounted to
approximately RMB18.2 million (2022: impairment loss of
RMB162.7 million), primarily due to the Group’s consideration
of the impairment needs of financial and contract assets on a
prudent basis.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs primarily represent interest
expenses on bank and other loans less the capitalised cost of
interest on relevant loans incurred for property development.

The Group’s finance costs increased by 0.9% from
approximately RMB70.9 million for the year ended December
31, 2022 to approximately RMB71.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, as the loans obtained by the Group
from banks and other institutions increased by approximately
RMB141 million compared to 2022, resulting in an increase in
interest expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBHWRS

9. Income tax expenses

The Group’s income tax expenses include payments
and provisions made for corporate income tax and land
appreciation tax (“LAT”) by the PRC subsidiaries of the Group.

The Group’s income tax expenses increased from the
reversal of approximately RMB18.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022 to the provision of approximately
RMB33.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, which
was mainly due to the increase in provision for the Group’s
taxable profit derived from the property development business
and construction contracting business and the reversal of LAT
previously provided for the property development business,
which did not occur in the Year, due to the completion of
settlement of LAT of some of the property projects in 2022.

10. Underlying profit for the year

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group’s underlying
profit amounted to approximately RMB31 million, as compared
to the underlying loss of approximately RMB159 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCE AND CAPITAL

The Group has historically met its liquidity requirements through cash
flows from operations and bank and other borrowings. The Group’s
primary liquidity requirements are to finance working capital, fund
capital expenditures and provide capital for the growth and expansion
of operations. The Group expects these sources to continue to be its
principal sources of liquidity.

Cash position

As at December 31, 2023, the Group’s total deposits, cash and
cash equivalents amounted to approximately RMB437 million (2022:
RMB626 million), which are denominated in RMB and Hong Kong
dollars, respectively, including pledged deposits of approximately
RMB249 million as at December 31, 2023 (2022: RMB403 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THBE WS

Future plans for material investments and acquisition of EXBRERBAEFEENREKLS
capital assets

There was no material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and REEFHE AEEHEEANBEREENE QA
assets by the Group during the Reporting Period. R&EE-

As at the date of this report, the Group did not have any major RAE®EAR
future investment plans. The relevant major investment plan will be HMAEERRE
announced in a timely manner if the Group thinks fit.

B AEEYUBEETARRERNRETE -
AEE BERBAMEBERREES -

Significant investments held FRiSHEEXRSE

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group did not hold any B ZE2023F12A3MAHLFE AEEHEFELEM
significant investments. BRKRE-

Loan and pledge of assets BEEREEEN

As of December 31

#E12A31H
2022
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate Maturity RMB’000 rate Maturity RMB’000
BElRfE A AR®TRE BElRfE HYH AE®TR
(%) (%)
Current D &
Secured other borrowings BEEBHEMER 12.0 Over dueifl # 274,390 11.00-12.00 2023 270,464
Unsecured other borrowings 1 # H 41 & 12.0 Over dueifl # 35,172  11.00-12.00 2023 34,675
Current portion of secured ~ HEBFRB/RTER
long-term bank borrowings  #9 B 5 £ % 5.25-6.65 2024 231,000 5.50-8.70 2023 339,099
540,562 644,238
Non-current 3k BD 83
Secured bank borrowings ERHFRTER 5.25-8.70 2025-2026 505,000 5.50-6.65 2024-2025 260,000
1,045,562 904,238
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The table below sets out the maturity of the interest-bearing bank and TRHIBEFAABRAEENHERTREMLE

other borrowings of the Group as of the dates indicated: M E HAE R
As of December 31
#iEZ12A31H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRE AR®BTR
Bank and other borrowings repayable: RITREMERARUTHREE:
Within one year or on demand AR—FRIRER 540,562 644,238
In the second year BAREZ 503,000 110,000
In the third to fifth years, both inclusive BERE=ZFZFERF
(BEERMTF) 2,000 150,000
Total wat 1,045,562 904,238
The Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are all AEBNAERITREAMBERGUARERETIIE -

denominated in RMB and US dollars.

The Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are secured AEENHERTRAMBERASTEEFREA K

by various assets with aggregate carrying amounts as follows: HELBNOT :
As of December 31

giE€12831H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR
Investment properties REWE 239,700 239,800
Properties under development TEEWE 135,981 283,600
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRE 486,805 199,175
Right-of-use assets FTHAEEE 7,891 8,120
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Key financial ratios

The table below sets forth a summary of the Group’s key financial

ratios as of the dates or for the periods indicated:

THBE WS

FEMHLE
TRHIBEZSEEHAMTHELAEENETEY
W RPE

As of December 31 or for the year
ended December 31
B E12A318®
Notes B E12A31ALEE

B & m’ 2022

Current ratio (times) B EE = ()
Gearing ratio (%) B ARG A= (%)
Net gearing ratio (%) FEAREEL R %)
Return on equity (%) IR 7S @ 3R & (%)
Return on total assets (%) 8 E [ 3R R (%)
Gross profit margin (%) E R & (%)

Net profit margin (%) 4R R (%)

1 0.96 1.11
2 103.1 90.4
3 60.1 27.9
4 1.1 (29.6)
5 0.2 (5.3)
6 6.0 6.0
7 0.4 (18.1)

Notes:

Current ratios were calculated based on the total current assets as
of the respective dates divided by the total current liabilities as of the
respective dates.

Gearing ratios were calculated by total interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings as of the respective dates divided by total equity as of the
respective dates and multiplied by 100%.

Net gearing ratios were calculated as total interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings as of the respective dates less cash and bank
balances and pledged deposits as of the respective dates, divided by
total equity as of the respective dates and multiplied by 100%.

Return on equity was calculated based on the reported profit (loss) for
the respective periods divided by the average total equity as of the
respective periods (sum of opening and closing balances of the total
equity of the respective periods and then divided by two) and multiplied
by 100%.

Return on total assets was calculated based on the reported profit (loss)
profit for the respective periods divided by the average total assets of
the respective periods (sum of opening and closing balances of the
total assets of the respective periods and then divided by two) and
multiplied by 100%.

Gross profit margin was calculated on gross profit divided by revenue
for the respective periods.

Net profit margin was calculated on reported profit (loss) for the year
divided by revenue for the respective periods.

Bt &

RBEENZBESRPNARBEELERUEE
ERHNRBEERETE-

EABBEERDREBEZE RPN ERTREME
RBRERUBEZHHMNAESZBRUI00%E -

FEEEBHEERDRBES AN ERTRAEM
BRAERBEEAMNBEERBTERURECE
HES RUBEZEHOARE BRU100%E
)

BRABHEZDREEHENDMEN(BRIBKABE

EHENTHARES(SHENAES B ED R
B2AMBBRUZ)BRERLI00%FTH -

REERBREDEZHENAMAERN(BRIBRUE
HENFHREE(SHRENBEENDEB KRG
ZHBBRUZ)BRIU100%TE °

ENEZDRENBRUSHBEORSETE -

AR T 5 4 PO 2 5 ) O ) B A 90 1 0 0
HE-
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Commitments i
Operating Lease Commitments EEHERE
The Group as a lessor KEEERLHHEA

FAEERBELHERHBAEHREN X KB
BRI F-—ZEZTF - RBEHR REEBRKE
HERBEABPI YN TIRELEHRETHR

The Group leases its investment properties under operating lease
arrangements with lease terms negotiated ranging from one to

ten years. At the end of the Reporting Period, the undiscounted
lease payments receivable by the Group in future periods under
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

MREREENSRET :

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®FR
Within one year —F R 9,610 6,971
In the second to fifth years, both inclusive RE_FZFEFE(BFEEEMF) 34,145 10,801
After five years HEEBE 7,813 2,063
51,568 19,835
Capital Commitments FE L3 1
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the AEBRBEHAREUTERAIE
Reporting Period:
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AER®TR
Contracted, but no provision has been made: BRI EEREE:
Construction contracting BERG 261,912 241,695
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Contingent Liabilities
Mortgage guarantee

The Group has provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities
for certain purchasers of the Group’s properties amounting to
approximately RMB1,789.4 million (2022: RMB1,729.9 million) as
of December 31, 2023. The Group’s guarantee period starts from
the dates of the grant of relevant mortgage loans and ends upon
the issuance of real estate ownership certificates to the purchasers,
which will generally be available within one to two years after the
purchasers take possession of the relevant properties.

The Directors consider that the fair value of the guarantees is not
significant, and in case of default on payments, the net realisable
value of the related properties can cover the repayment of the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued interest
and penalties. Therefore, no provision for the guarantees has been
made during the Reporting Period.

OTHERS
1. Events after the Reporting Period

The Group has obtained a new long-term bank facility of
RMB800,000,000 which was guaranteed by properties and
controlling shareholder on January 12, 2024 and withdrew
RMB440,000,000 as at the report date.

2. Foreign Currency Risk

The Group primarily operates in the PRC. The majority of
the Group’s transactions were denominated and settled in
RMB. Currently, the Group had not entered into any hedging
activities aimed at or intended to manage our exposure to
foreign exchange risk and did not use any financial instruments
for hedging purposes. The Group will continue to monitor
foreign exchange activities and safeguard the cash value of
the Group with its best effort.

3. Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from interest-bearing
bank and other deposits and bank and other borrowings. Bank
deposits and bank and other borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Bank
and other borrowings bearing an interest at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

THBE WS

BHRAR
B ER

B E2023F12A31H L REBECECREBDEN
ETEFHNARBI7804B B T(2022F : AR
17200 BN EBRERFRER - FEENER
HREBEFRERRUIYHE EZAET#HK
FHEMEREESRL —RRESTMEABED X
B—EMFERER-

EERR ERNWLATEYLFEXR BMARELY
AEEYENTERFETRERBEERBRESR
CEREARNERISNER Bt RESHHE
I R B AR A B

1. HBEHRA&ER

AEBEC R2024F1A12HE B HF N RS
iR 17 Bt & A K ¥800,000,0007T ' B ¥ ¥ K
ERERRER RABESAHECRDMARYE
440,000,000 7t °

2. SR BR

FEBITERPEREXB - XEBRBD
REDUARBFERGFE - AKEEREL
AREEELZEEBEIHERE XKL
EE EMECATANESRMIAFHEPAZ-
FEBREBEEEEIETD UBERER
EENREEE-

3. FWERRE
AEBWANEREBERGFERTRHEAMER
RETRAEMER - BREBFRG B ZRIT
FRERRTREMCERSAEEERERRER
MERB - ZEEMNEFE2RTRAME
REAEEHEBEATFEFERRR -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Corporate Governance

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and enhance the corporate value as well as the
responsibility commitments. The Company has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code as its own code of corporate
governance.

The Company has been in compliance with all applicable code
provisions under the Corporate Governance Code. To the
best knowledge of the Directors, the Company has complied
with all applicable code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code during the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this report, except for the deviation from provision
C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code. The Directors will
endeavor to procure the Company to continue to comply with
the Corporate Governance Code.

A review of the corporate governance of the Group is set out in
the section headed “Compliance with Corporate Governance
Code”.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

During the year ended December 31, 2023, save as disclosed
in “Future plans for material investments and acquisition
of capital assets” in this section, there was no material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and assets by the
Group.

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities
Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as a code for the
Directors to deal in securities of the Company.

After making specific enquiries to all Directors, each of the
Directors has confirmed that he/she has complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code during the year
ended December 31, 2023.

The Company’s employees, who are likely to be in possession
of inside information of the Company, have also been subject
to the Model Code for securities transactions. No incident
of non-compliance of the Model Code by the Company’s
employees was noted by the Company during the year ended
December 31, 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

7. Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Listed
Securities of the Company

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company and
any of its subsidiaries did not purchase, sell or redeem any
securities of the Company listed on the Stock Exchange.

FUTURE PROSPECT
Construction Contracting Business

We will adhere to the guidance of national policies, accurately
understand the new stage of development. It will emphasise on
the building of a solid economic foundation, coordinating market
positioning, adjusting management structure, strengthening the
management system, and exercising strict control over project
management. These initiatives will facilitate our sustained, healthy
and steady development.

Property Business

We will adhere to the principle of seeking progress while maintaining
stability, and promoting stability with progress. With a primary focus
on “strengthening sales and promoting payment collection”, we will
also solidify and strengthen the favourable trends brought about
by the economic recovery, driving transformative innovation and
pursuing a comprehensive upgrade of the real estate sector.

Healthcare Business

We will comprehensively embark on the transformation and
upgrading of the healthcare and elderly care sector, aligning with
national development policies. Starting with the prioritised elderly
care projects in Hebei Province, we will continuously develop
Tianbao Jingbei Health City into a mid-to-high-end, full-process and
continuous healthcare community. Through tangible initiatives, we
aim to achieve a new breakthrough in our transformation and upgrade
efforts.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended December 31, 2023 (for the year ended December 31,
2022: Nil).

THBE WS

7. MR HERXRRODFLXFLHTES

BE2023F12A81BLFE - A2ARAREE
ANBLARABERE - HERBED A2 FE
ARBRPFLET &S -

XEMR
BERERARE
BRUERBRALSE EREBEFRRME £

KEER -SEHSMHMRE AEEEER FEEH
BR BEREEE PESESARRRBRIBE-

it E R

BEERRE NERE UEHEE EEXIAE
ER ZEMERLEQAGFRESE  FEAH &
RitEREZE AR -

REERY

PHARBEASELAAL  EEBEXRBEREE U
MEEHBEZRBEREBH BRXRRLEBERSE
TEATSWEELEEREEELHE  UEKRSE
T AR BT AR RO R -

XHER
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFRERERE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Li Baotian (Z # H % %), aged 68, is the Chairman of the Board,
an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company.
Mr. Li was appointed as a Director on November 16, 2018 and was
redesignated as an executive Director on April 17, 2019. Mr. Li has
over 38 years of experience in property development and construction
contracting industry. Mr. Li is the Controlling Shareholder as well as
the father of Mr. Li Yaruixin (Z I & & 5t %) and uncle-in-law of Ms.
Wang Xinling (£ #¥% & t).

Mr. Li is a representative of the 15th People’s Congress, Baoding
City(REWE+HEEARNKRKRAENRK), amember of the presidium
of the People’s Congress, Zhuozhou City (KM T A AR K £ &
B &) and has been a vice president of Federation of Industry and
Commerce of Zhuozhou City (M ™ I & ¥ 8 & &) since 1998. On
June 13, 2019, Mr. Li was appointed as the president of Zhuozhou
Entrepreneurs Association. Since September 2019, Mr. Li has served
as an expert of construction material procurement of the property
industry in Hebei Province for a term of two years. In April 2020, Mr.
Li was elected as the vice president of the Emergency Management
and Work Safety Association of Hebei Province (it Z B2 E B HEH %
£ EWHE). On June 1, 2020, Mr. Li was appointed as the Honorary
President of Zhuozhou City Supporting Army Volunteers Association
(FEMNTHEELZEERS).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li has received various awards in recognition of his achievements.
In November 2009, he was awarded the 4th Outstanding Builder of
Socialism with Chinese Characteristics of Hebei Province (28 M f& 5]
TtEEFFEBEHEEETZTZTEEREMBI). In 2010, he was named
as the Advanced Worker of the Quality Management of Construction
(ZEIREEREE=EEEE I EE) by China Construction Industry
Association (Bl & £ %2 1% ). In 2011, he was honored as the Senior
Occupational Manager in China’s construction industry of 2011 (2011
FETHEEEESFTSRBE E£KE A) In December 2014, he was
conferred as the Outstanding Entrepreneur in Hebei province (3] 3t
# BB EX). In 2016, he was awarded the 2015 Excellent Enterprise
Manager in Construction Industry in Hebei province (2015 £ i 4t
BEREEEFLEEEE) and the 2016 Outstanding Entrepreneur
in Hebei province (2016 F E it BEEF % K). In 2018, he was
awarded the 2017 National Outstanding Entrepreneur in Construction
Industry (2017F E2EEF K T L EX). In April 2019 and July
2020, he was awarded the 2018 Excellent Enterprise Manager in
Construction Industry in Hebei province (2018 #F E i 4t & i £ ¥
B F & ¥ T ¥ %) and the 2019 Excellent Enterprise Manager in
Construction Industry in Hebei province (2019 £ E At B E £ E
F ¥ EE %), respectively. In November 2019, he was named as
the Advanced Worker of Enterprise Culture Construction at the 70th
Anniversary of the Founding of the PRC ($i Bl 70 F > ¥ XL E &
5t T YE#&). In December 2019, he was awarded the Individual Prize
of Quality Award of the Zhuozhou Government (& M T B fF & £ #€ {@
A ). In November 2020, he was named as the Advanced Worker of
Enterprise Culture Construction in the 13th Five-year Plan Period (“+
=R PE D ELER %L E T E) In December 2020, he won
the title of Hebei Province Outstanding Private Entrepreneur of 2020
(2020 FEMd EEF R E B EX) conferred by the Hebei Provincial
People’s Government. In 2021, he was awarded the Entrepreneur
for 40 Years of Meritorious Service in Quality Management of Hebei
Enterprises. In January 2021, he was awarded the Individual Prize of
Quality Award of the Baoding Government (IR E T B fF & £ # @ A
#). In April 2021, he was named as the 2020 Advanced Individual in
Emergency Management and Safety Production in Hebei Province
(2020 FEMLtBESEBER 2 4 E % EM@A) In December
2021, he was awarded the 2021 Outstanding Entrepreneur in the
Construction Decoration Industry in Hebei Province (2021 il it & #
FEMITEBFLEXMBI) and the 2021 Outstanding Entrepreneur
in the Municipal Industry in Hebei Province (2021 & E 4t & 1 &
TEEF D E R In July 2023, he was awarded the title of
Admirable Veterans in Baoding City ((RET “B&R ZREE A"TEE). In
December 2023, he was awarded the 2023 Outstanding Entrepreneur
in the Municipal Industry in Hebei Province (2023 £ E i 4t & ™ B 1T
XBFLERBR).

EFREREERRE
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201954 A 202057 8 » K E20185F E K 20195
ETLtEREXERLEEEEBR - R2019F 11
A MEEHFPEAOFEEXEREEIHFER
5% o M2019F 128 » HEFEFEM T HFESRMEAEL -
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ARBER F2020FENLEBEERELERBER -
R20215  FEETLCEXEEEBIOF DX
KB -MN2021F18 RREREDTHFELEE
ANBoR20215F48  WEE2020F EN L EE =
EERAZ2EELEMBABR - R2021F128 - &
KEIFTLEEEREHTEXBESTLEZIBER
1TEENLEETHRITEBESLERBEN - 12023
F7TA REBERED HERRE AIHER - H2023
F12A HMER20BFETLEDTRITEBEST X
KB -

2023 +tEAREEzRsRAn 49



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Li obtained an adult higher education certificate (X A S E#H B &
¥ ®£) in urban construction issued by Hebei Agricultural University
(T4t 2 % K 2) in June 2002. Mr. Li obtained an Executive Master of
Business Administration (EMBA) degree from Community Business
College (3 B fn M 7 2 X 2) in September 2021.

Ms. Shen Lifeng (B B B % *), aged 58, is an executive Director
and vice president of the Group. Ms. Shen was appointed as an
executive Director on April 17, 2019. Ms. Shen has more than 37
years of experience in law, investment and financing management
and corporate management.

Ms. Shen has been a founding arbitrator of the Arbitration Committee
of Langfang City (8 %5 ™ 1# & Z & &) since June 2017. She was
an executive committee member of the Federation of Industry and
Commerce of Hebei Province (S &t ¥ T ®& ¥ B & &) and a vice
president of the General Chamber of Commerce of Hebei Province
(5T 4t & # 7 €) until August 2017. From February 2019 to April 2019,
she served as the chief executive officer of Porda Havas International
Finance Communications (Group) Holdings Company Limited (1&
EGHEFEMRLERMEE)ZERAERADA). In December 2023, she
was elected as a co-president of the Finance Committee of the Hong
Kong Hebei Fraternity (B BTt ISR EXZEEHEER).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Shen’s previous work experience includes serving as a teaching
assistant in the department of law of Hebei University (5] 4t X £2) from
September 1987 to October 1989; the director of the legal department,
an assistant to the general manager and a vice general manager of Hebei
Textiles Import and Export (Group) Company (Al 4t & #5 & @ 1 B O (5 E)
‘A 7)) from October 1989 to May 2006; a standing vice general manager
and a member of the discipline-inspection committee of Shenglun
International Industrial Group Co., Ltd. (EEmEBIREXEER MG R 2 7),
responsible for the reorganisation and restructuring of the state-owned
enterprise from May 2006 to December 2007; an executive director and
the general manager of Shaanxi Kunzheng Mining Co., Ltd. (B 7 # I #&
%% 1 AR 2 ) from September 2008 to August 2014; and the chief
director in charge of PRC businesses of Chong & Partners LLP from
September 2016 to February 2019. Ms. Shen has been an independent
non-executive Director of Hebei Construction Group Corporation Limited
CTdEZEREEBER MDA R A 7)) (stock code: 1727. HK), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since December 15,
2017. Ms. Shen has been appointed by Shenzhen SASAC as an external
director of Shenzhen SEZ Construction and Development Group Co.,
Ltd. since November 2021. She has been an independent non-executive
director of China South City Holdings Limited (stock code: 1668.HK), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since June
16, 2022 and has been re-designated as a non-executive director since
January 6, 2023.

Ms. Shen obtained a bachelor of degree in law from Hebei University
in July 1987 and obtained a master degree of economics in world
economy from Hebei University in June 1999. She also obtained
a Ph.D. Degree of Laws in civil and commercial law from Peking
University Law School in June 2005 and a master’s degree in
Buddhist Studies from University of Hong Kong in November 2015.
Ms. Shen obtained the qualifications of lawyer from the Lawyer’s
Qualification Review Committee of the Ministry of Justice (&) 3% 25 2 &f
B BEEZERE) in June 1998 and senior economist from the Office
of the Leading Group for Professional Title Reforms in Hebei Province
CTdeERBREEE /DAY QN E) in November 1998, respectively.
Ms. Shen was accredited the 2004 “Top Ten Excellent Youth of Hebei
(G4t + K £ H & F)” and the first-class merit for individuals ({8 A
— % 1) by the China Communist Youth League Committee of Hebei
Province (# & 1 it & Z & &) and Hebei Provincial Department of
Human Resources and Social Security (1t & A 1 &R M i = R E )
and the “Top Ten Excellent Youth of Enterprises contributed by Hebei
SASAC (Nt EBEEZMHERE T K H S F)” by Hebei SASAC
in 2005, respectively. Ms. Shen was also elected and served as the
representative of the 6th and 7th sessions of the Party Congress of
Hebei Province. Ms. Shen was elected as the 13th committee member
of Hebei Province of the CPPCC in January 2023 (special inviter).

EFREREERRE
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFRERERE

Ms. Wang Xinling (E % ¥ & %), aged 41, is an executive Director
and vice president of the Group. Ms. Wang was appointed as an
executive Director on April 17, 2019. Ms. Wang is the niece-in-law of
Mr. Li Baotian. She is a director and the general manager of Tianbao
Construction Group. Ms. Wang joined Tianbao Construction Group
as a safety officer of project department in June 2001 and was the
manager of safety and environmental protection department from
January 2002 to February 2005 and held the positions of vice general
manager and the standing vice manager from February 2007 to
January 2018. She has over 22 years of experience in construction
industry.

Ms. Wang is currently a standing committee member of the Zhuozhou
City 9th Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (B 1 %
MMENEZEEEZE) and a representative of the 15th People’s
Congress, Zhangjiakou City ((R X 0 % + & @ A X &). Ms. Wang
has been the deputy president of Construction Association in Hebei
Province (i 4t & 2 £ % #% &) since 2016 and a deputy president
of the Construction Association in Baoding City (ff & ™ £ £ % %
&) since December 30, 2016. On September 8, 2020, Ms. Wang
was appointed as a corporate culture expert of China Association of
Construction Enterprise Management (1 Bl it T 7 % & 2 i &) for
a five-year term. On December 24, 2020, Ms. Wang was elected as
the vice president of the third session of council of Baoding Building
Decoration Association (4R & ™ 2 £ 2 & 17 &).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

In 2011, Ms. Wang was awarded the March 8th Flag Bearer of 2010
(2010 & E = \ AL }E F) by Women’s Federation of Zhuozhou (& /M
T LB & g). In 2013, she was honored as the outstanding leader
of the quality management group of the national construction of
2013013 FE2BHIBREREEEBRNATH I MEEE) by
the Evaluation Committee on the China Construction Quality Award
(BRIBREREEREEZESE). In 2017, she was honored with
the Outstanding Contribution Award of National High Quality Project
Award of 2016-2017 (2016 £2017 FEEXEE T RE X H T /M)
by the China Construction Enterprise Management Association (
Elje T ¥ E 21 E). In 2018, she was awarded as the outstanding
leader of the Quality Management Group of Construction (T 2 £ %
EEEE/)HEEEH S MBEE) by the China Construction Enterprise
Management Association (Ff Bl & T 1 % & ¥ % €). In 2018, 2019
and 2020, she was conferred as the excellent enterprise manager in
construction industry in Hebei Province of 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020
(201745 2018 F - 2019F E R2020F EA L X R KX BEE 0
¥ & 1 &) by the Construction Association in Hebei Province (3 it
HEE £ 1 ®), respectively. In March 2020, she was awarded the
title of the Most Beautiful Families of 2019 in Zhuozhou (2019 % E %
N £ 2 K BE) by Women’s Federation of Zhuozhou (% N T & 2z B
& ). In 2021, she was awarded the 2021 Individual Prize of Quality
Award of the Zhuozhou Government (2021 F E & M ™ BT Z 2 & (@
A #8)). In December 2023, she was awarded the 2023 Outstanding
Entrepreneur in the Construction Decoration Industry in Hebei
Province Q023 F E Mt BB L L MITE B F L ¥ KRB ) by the
Hebei Association for Quality (5 dt & 2 S £ & £ 1% &). In December
2023, she was awarded the 2023 Advanced Individual in the Hebei
Municipal Industry (2023 £ E Jl 3t & ™ B 1T % £ # {8 A) by the Hebei
Municipal Industry Association (;i] 4t & ™ B 1T % # =).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFRERERE

She also obtained the graduation certificate in urban economics and
management via the Self-taught Higher Education and Examination
(B Z # B 8 2 £ ) from Hebei Agricultural University (51 4t & %
K E) in December 2004. Ms. Wang obtained a bachelor degree in
civil engineering from Higher Adult Education of Hebei University
of Science and Technology G/ &t B & K B2 B A & £ % B) via
online learning in June 2019. Ms. Wang obtained a master’s degree
in management programme from Australian National University
in December 2020. In November 2021, Ms. Wang passed the
qualification evaluation of senior professional technical position as an
engineer of construction (RE TR 5 R E XK M BFERE KT
) organized by the Office of the Leading Group for Professional Title
Reforms in Hebei Province (it ¥ BB EBE/NE P L E).

Mr. Li Yaruixin (Z 5 8 & % %), aged 39, is an executive Director
and vice president of the Group. Mr. Li Yaruixin was appointed as
an executive Director on April 17, 2019. Mr. Li Yaruixin is the son of
Mr. Li Baotian. He is the director and the general manager of Tianbao
Real Estate Group. Mr. Li Yaruixin joined Tianbao Construction Group
as an officer of planning department in June 2007. From July 2009 to
June 2010, he served as vice manager of Tianbao Real Estate Group.
He has been the director and general manager of Zhangbei Tianbao
Henggqi Property since October 2013, the director of Zhuozhou City
Mingyang Property since June 2016 and the director and manager
of Chengdu Tianbao Property Development since April 2018. Mr. Li
Yaruixin has over 16 years of experience in construction industry. He
has been a director of Hebei Zhuozhou Agricultural Commercial Bank
Co., Ltd Gt M BN B £ R 1T 5 B R 2 7)) since June 19, 2017.

Mr. Li Yaruixin was a member and standing committee member
of the Zhuozhou City 8th Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (BB FE MM ENEZEGZE R E Z), currently serves
as the 13th committee member of Hebei Province of the CPPCC and
a representative of the 16th People’s Congress, Baoding City (R &
mE+AREBARKEXAENRK). In December 2021, he was engaged
as a financial expert by Hebei Province Housing and Property
Development Industry Association (5] 4t & 1 & £ & i & 1 =).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

In 2005, Mr. Li Yaruixin was awarded as the New Long March Pioneer
of Zhuozhou City (3% M ™ ¥ & 1t 22 & F) by the Zhuozhou Committee
of Youth League of China (FEIHEXTEFFEFEMT ZEE T).
In 2012, he was awarded as the Excellent Committee Member of
Zhuozhou City (3% /N T {8 55 & ¥ Z &) by Zhuozhou Youth Federation
(FM™E &
Communist Youth League member of Hebei Province (i it & 18 5 &
& E#® IB) by the Hebei Committee of Youth League of China (7 B &
EXZ5FEMtEZEE). In 2014, he was named as the Model
Worker of 2011-2012 (2011 £2012 £ £ % &) £ &) by the People’s
Government of Zhuozhou City (& M ™ A K B ). In April 2019, he
was awarded as the excellent enterprise manager in Construction
Industry in Hebei Province of 2018 Q018 S E Nt E B E £ EF ¥
& 1% %) by the Construction Association in Hebei Province (] 4t & 2
F X E). In December 2019, he was awarded as an individual with
outstanding contribution to the property industry in Hebei Province
of 2019 (2019 FE AL B E# E T HE X L E R @ A). In December
2020, he was awarded as the Individual for Special Contribution to

B & &). In 2013, he was conferred as the Outstanding

the Fight against New Coronary Pneumonia in Baoding (R & T #1 £
358 B & & 1% 45 % & Bt 18 A) by the Baoding Municipal Committee
of Jiusan Society (L = 2 # R E T & & §). On January 30, 2021,
he was awarded as the outstanding member of the Zhuozhou City
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of 2020 (2020
FEEFMTE S KW ZEE) by the Zhuozhou City Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference (B % % M T Z & §). In December
2023, he was named the 2023 Advanced Individual in Innovative
Development (2023 F £ £l %7 % /& 5t # 18 A # 5%) by Hebei Province
Housing and Property Development Industry Association (i 3t & 1% =&
HEMEXGE).

Mr. Li Yaruixin obtained the graduation certificate from Hebei
Agricultural University (S 3t £ % X ) majoring in urban planning (3
###7 &) in June 2007, and he was admitted to the degree of Master
of Business Administration by Business School of Netherlands,
which is a part-time programme taught in China, in September 2015.
Mr. Li Yaruixin was qualified as a structural engineer (&% # I &
Ef) in December 2014 and as a municipal engineer (T B T 2 ffi) in
December 2016 by the Office of the Leading Group for Professional
Title Reforms in Hebei Province T &t # B B R & E & A # 2
%), and passed the qualification evaluation of senior professional
technical position as an engineer of construction (25 T 2 i 5 &
EER T E B B % 5T ) organized by the Office of the Leading
Group for Professional Title Reforms in Hebei Province (37 it & B #8
REEE /DA D E)in December 2021.
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Ms. Wang Huijie (£ 8 78 & %), aged 55, is an executive Director
and vice president of the Group. Ms. Wang was appointed as an
executive Director on April 17, 2019. She is the secretary of the Party
Committee and union president of Tianbao Construction Group. Ms.
Wang joined Tianbao Construction Group as the union president and
deputy secretary of the Party Branch in January 2001. She was a
deputy secretary of the Party Branch of Tianbao Construction Group
from January 2001 to October 2006, a deputy secretary of General
Party Branch of Tianbao Construction Group from October 2006 to
April 2009, and a deputy secretary of the Party Committee of Tianbao
Construction Group from April 2009 to January 2018.

Ms. Wang was a representative of the 12th Party Congress, Baoding
City REME + ZXERE K K), and is currently a representative
of the 8th Party Congress, Zhuozhou City (B M E£ /LR ERE R K),
a member of Zhuozhou City 8th Chinese People Political Consultative
Conference (3% /N ™ B 1% 25 /\ J|& & &), an executive member of the
Women’s Federation of Zhuozhou (& /N T # B # Z). In July 2021,
she was engaged by China Association of Construction Enterprise
Management (fF B it T 7 ¥ & 2 1% &) as an evaluation expert for
the Party building of engineering construction enterprises (L 2 &
RO EERIFEFEER), and was engaged by the Construction
Association in Hebei Province (51 1t % # 5 ¥ 1 &) as a construction
industry expert (Party building) of Hebei Province (it # £ %=
R (E K ER)). In August 2022, Ms. Wang was appointed by China
Association of Construction Enterprise Management as a culture
construction expert of engineering construction enterprises for a
three-year term. In May 2023, she was appointed as an unattending
vice chairman of the Zhuozhou City General Workers’ Union (& M
# T 2 3k 5 2 & = &) by the Zhuozhou City General Workers’ Union (3%
M8 TE).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

In 2006, Ms. Wang was accredited as a Construction and Installation
Flag Bearer of 2004-2005 (2004 £2005 FE £ EZ K ALIE F) by the
Baoding City General Workers’ Union ({ff € T # T &). From 2006 to
2016, she was awarded as the Excellent Worker of Workers’ Union
(EF T € I1%) by the Zhuozhou City General Workers’ Union (3%
JN T # T &) for 11 consecutive years. In 2007, she was awarded as
the Advanced Female Worker in Hebei Province (CAldt & £ ¥ 28 T
T #£4) by the General Workers’ Union in Hebei Province (i 4t & #2
I &).In 2011, she was awarded as the Model Worker of Baoding
(IR E T & B # #i) by the People’s Government of Baoding (#& &
A K B ). In 2013, she was awarded as the National Outstanding
Worker of the Labor Union (2 B8 % I & I /£ %) by the All-China
Federation of Trade Unions ( # % B # T &). In 2014, she was
awarded as the Model Worker of Hebei Province (3 dt & % &) 4 &)
by the People’s Government of Hebei Province (5] 4t & A B B f¥).
In 2016, she was awarded as the National May 1st Labor Medal (&
Bl & — % B 4€ &) by All-China Federation of Trade Unions (4 # &
Bl #4 T ). In December 2018, she was awarded as the Excellent
Worker of Workers’ Union ({5 T & I /£ &) by the General Workers’
Union of Hebei Province (A dt & # T &). In March 2019, she was
awarded as the March 8th Flag Bearer of Baoding City (fR & ™ = /\
4 & F) by the Women’s Federation of Baoding City (& & ™ /& #).
In June 2019, she was awarded as one of the “Top 1,000 Secretaries
of Party Branch” of Hebei Province (i 4t & “F & #F & £”) by the
Organisation Department of the Hebei Provincial Party Committee of
the Communist Party of China (7 #£1 dt & Z 48 4 26). In March 2022,
she was awarded the title of Female Entrepreneur in the Property
Service Industry of Hebei Province in 2022 by the Hebei Property
Management Institute.

Ms. Wang graduated from Huabei Petroleum College of Finance and
Economics (Z 4t A i BF £ 22 1) with a diploma majoring in marketing
through distance learning in July 1998 and she was qualified as an
Intermediate Policy Analyst (7 &% Bt I &) in April 2016.
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Mr. Zang Lin (# & 5% %), aged 44, is an executive Director and vice
president of the Group. Mr. Zang was appointed as an executive
Director on April 17, 2019. Mr. Zang joined Tianbao Construction
Group in October 1999 and served various positions in Tianbao
Construction Group, including manager of technical and quality
department from October 1999 to June 2005 and standing vice
manager from June 2005 to March 2010. He has been the vice
general manager of Tianbao Construction Group since March 2010,
director of Tianbao Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. since March 2019
and manager and executive director of Zhangjiakou Tianbao Plaza
Commercial Management Co., Ltd. GRER O A RESHEXEEEFTR
‘~ |]) since November 2019. He has over 24 years of experience in
construction industry.

Mr. Zang was a member of the Zhangbei County 15th and 16th
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (/ AR
BEmEEeEERLEEETEHE +NEZEE)andis currently a
representative of the 18th People’s Congress, Zhangbei County (3& it
BETNEARRERARS).

In 2008, Mr. Zang was awarded as the Constructor of Chinese
Characteristic Socialism (FE &8 E T X E X E R &) by the
United Front Work Department of Zhuozhou City of China (1 E &
M ™ Z # B ) and the Federation of Industry and Commerce of
Zhuozhou City (FE M ™ T & £ ¥ 4 €). In 2009, he was awarded as
the Excellent Worker for Management of Construction Engineering,
Economy and Technology in Baoding City (R E T EFTERIREL
& 54 B B T 4E#&) by Construction Association in Baoding City (4%
EMEEEWE). In 2015, he was the project manager of Zhuozhou
107 National Road and Connection Line Transformation Project (3%
M 107 Bl B & E #E 4 X ¥ 18 B) and such project was awarded
the outstanding construction of Hebei Province with Anji Cup for
Construction Engineering of Hebei Province in 2015 (2015 & Eu[dt &
# R I R E M) by the Construction Association in Hebei Province
Cude B E L ZHE). In 2017, he was awarded as the Outstanding
Project Manager of the Construction Enterprises of China (& B i& &
¥ > %8 518 B £ #) by China Construction Industry Association (&
Bl #£ 13 8). In 2018 and 2020, he was awarded as the outstanding
project manager in construction industry in Hebei Province of 2017
and 2019 (2017 FER2019 FET L E R L X EHFEH L) by the
Construction Association in Hebei Province (it Z# B2 £ £ 1# ). In
December 2021, he was awarded as an individual with outstanding
contribution to the property industry of 2021 (2021 FEE it E T £ &
i 5 Bt 8 A) by Hebei Province Housing and Property Development
Industry Association G dt & X B EH E ith E £ 5 =).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zang passed the Self-taught Higher Education and Examination
(BE%#% B 8 22£&) of Engineering of Industrial and Civil Buildings
(I HERHMAEZEIR)and was approved for graduation by Hebei
Agricultural University (O] 3t & 2 X 2) in June 1999. He obtained the
graduation certificate on Adult Higher Education program (X A & &
# &) majoring in Civil Engineering (£ /x T #2) from Hebei University
(57 4& K £) via distance learning in January 2017. He was qualified
as an engineer in architectural engineering (£ % T & I #& £0) in
November 2013 by the Office of the Leading Group for Professional
Title Reforms in Hebei Province At E BB R EEE N AP D F).
He was qualified as a senior engineer in civil engineering technology
(FRBEIREMS R IREEN in December 2019 by the Office of
the Leading Group for Professional Title Reforms in Hebei Province (A
tERBREEENEBRRE).

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Hou Liang (& 5% % %), aged 67, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Hou Liang was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on October 21, 2022. He is primarily
responsible for providing independent advice on the operations
and management of the Group. He has approximately 35 years of
management experience in government departments.

Mr. Hou Liang served as: the secretary of the Committee of Youth
League of Daoyindi Town of Kangbao County (BER SE F i At B &
£ ) since July 1982; the deputy director of Zhangjiakou Coal Bureau
GExOmE®RBERBR) since October 1993; the deputy mayor and
a member of the Party group of Zhangjiakou Municipal Government (5&
KROWMBMAETRREMHRKE) since June 2001; the deputy secretary
of Zhangjiakou Municipal Committee (38 X O ™ Z gl £ &), the dean
of Zhangjiakou Municipal School of Administration (7 1T B £ Bx Bx &)
and a member of Council of Party School of Zhangjiakou Municipal
Committee (7 Z £ & & & £ B) since October 2010; the deputy
secretary of Zhangjiakou Municipal Committee, the mayor and the
secretary of the Party group of Zhangjiakou Municipal Government
(RXOMZRIER BT RREASER) since February 2012; and
the secretary of Zhangjiakou Municipal Committee GRRXR O T ZE£2)
since August 2015. Mr. Hou did not hold any position in the Party and
government after his retirement from the secretary of Zhangjiakou
Municipal Committee since February 2017.

Mr. Hou Liang graduated from on-the-job postgraduate class of
Economics and Management in the Party School of Hebei Provincial
Committee, with a postgraduate degree and a master’s degree in law.

EFREREERRE

BAEENI99F6 A BB IXxRRAEETIRESER
FHEZH YR TLBRERSBHESEE - KRN2017
FIREEERZEREBTILRERASEREEX
%E’E{IgiKIE"f)§2542013$11ﬁ§i§/7:tt*§ﬁ§h
BAERENMABLERTREEIRIRMERK -
f&%2019¢1253§ﬂibé3§2f§€&$?§\ PEBRAE
BFIAZEIRRMERIREMER -

BIUFRITES

BREE 67Tm RBAUFHTEE -F2ALEER
2022F10B21IREZEAEMNBLHNITES -
HREIZEEREAEENKEREERMBIER -
BEAWIBFRFIMEELER -

REEEMIETATERGEFHAHBEZER
1993 F10AERROMERBER K 200156 A
FRIXOTHBENETREREANKE 20106108 £
RROTZRIED TTHREREERTZERR
BZE 202F2AFRKAOMZRIES HATR
FEAEL 2015F8AFRKOMEER -REL
B2017F2ARREOTZEECEN AL EBLE A
£ E BB A -

BRALEEERTLEZEREBRMRLEUNLEEE
BEX MREZE  F2BLT 2

2023EEH TEAREERREEAT DI



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFRERERE

Mr. Li Qingxu (3= & 8 5%t &), aged 68, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Li Qingxu was appointed as our independent non-executive
Director on June 25, 2019. He is primarily responsible for providing
independent advice on the operations and management of the Group.

Mr. Li Qingxu served in the People’s Liberation Army from December
1973 to March 1997. He worked as the director of the general
office (3 2 Z F 1£) of China Association of Construction Enterprise
Management (FF Bl it T & ¥ & 2 # &) from August 1997 to April
2009. He worked as the deputy secretary of China Association of
Construction Enterprise Management (ff B /&8 LT & ¥ & 2 # &)
from April 2009 to April 2015. He has been the vice president, the
head of commission of science and technology and the head of
informatisation committee of China Association of Construction

Enterprise Management (4 Bl it T 1 % & 1 1 &) since April 2015.

Mr. Li Qingxu graduated from the People’s Liberation Army Armored
Force Engineering Institute (FEARKEFNEBREL P EH AT ER)
with a bachelor’s degree in engineering in May 1982.

Mr. Li Xu (B &), aged 49, is an independent non-executive Director.
He was appointed as our independent non-executive Director on June
25, 2019. Mr. Li Xu is primarily responsible for providing independent
advice on the operations and management of the Group.

Mr. Li Xu was a financial analyst of Lucent Technologies Inc., a
company which was formerly listed on the New York Stock Exchange,
in 1999. Prior to joining the University of Hong Kong, he served as an
assistant professor of Lehigh University in the U.S. from August 2010
to August 2012 and was the assistant professor of the University of
Texas at Dallas in the U.S. from August 2004 to August 2010. He
has been the associate professor of the Faculty of Business and
Economics at the University of Hong Kong since July 2012, where
he was mainly involved in imparting practical knowledge in the
commercial world during the teaching of accounting and financial
management courses. He is currently the program director of
executive master of business administration offered by the University
of Hong Kong where he is responsible for project management and
promoting accounting, business and finance education towards the
development of the business and finance profession and human
capital.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Xu has been an independent non-executive Director of
China Kangda Food Company Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 834) and on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (stock code: P74), from August 24, 2020
to July 12, 2023. He has been an independent non-executive director
of Pizu Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8053) since April 20, 2023, and has been an
independent non-executive director of China South City Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1668)
since May 16, 2023.

Mr. Li Xu has become a member of the American Accounting
Association since September 2002. Mr. Li Xu has obtained the
Certified Financial Analyst (CFA) qualification from the Association for
Investment Management and Research, now known as CFA Institute,
since October 2003.

Mr. Li Xu received a bachelor’s degree in Economics (International
Business Management profession) from the University of International
Business and Economics in Beijing (1t Z ¥ N & B E 5 K £)in
July 1997, a master degree in Finance from the Boston College in
December 1998 and a degree of doctor of philosophy in accounting
from Massachusetts Institute of Technology’s Sloan School of
Management in June 2004.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our senior management is responsible for the day-to-day
management and operation of our business.

Our executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Baotian, Ms. Shen Lifeng,
Ms. Wang Xinling, Mr. Li Yaruixin, Ms. Wang Huijie and Mr. Zang Lin,
concurrently hold senior management positions in the Group. For
each of their biographies, please refer to the section above.

Mr. Li Guodong (ZF B # % %), aged 39, is the vice president of the
Group and deputy general manager of Tianbao Construction Group.
Mr. Li Guodong joined Tianbao Construction Group in February 2004
and served various positions in Tianbao Construction Group, including
as the officer of safety and environmental protection department
from February 2004 to February 2005 and as the manager of safety
and environmental protection department from February 2005 to
February 2011. He has been the deputy general manager of Tianbao
Construction Group since February 2011. Mr. Li Guodong has over 19
years of experience in safety and environmental protection field.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFRERERE

In July 2021, Mr. Li Guodong was engaged by the Construction
Association in Hebei Province (5[ dt & 2 £ # 1% &) as a construction
industry expert of Hebei Province (Sl it & & £ £ H x).

In 2011, Mr. Li Guodong was awarded as the excellent worker for
management of construction engineering projects of Baoding City
(REMEFTERIREEE EE I{EE) by Construction Association
in Baoding City (/R & ™ & £ # 1% &). In 2011, he was awarded as
the excellent manager (promoter) of group activity for engineering
construction quality management in Hebei Province of 2010 (2010 £
ETLEIREREEZEEE NATHEFTEEE (HEE)) by the
Construction Association in Hebei Province (5] 1t & 2 £ % it =).
In 2013, he was awarded as the advanced worker for engineering
construction quality management in Hebei Province of 2012 (2012
FENLEBEIREREEEHE %L E I E) Dby the Construction
Association in Hebei Province (JA1 4t & # % % 1 &). In 2014, he
was awarded as the Excellent Enterprise Manager in Construction
Industry in Hebei Province of 2013 2013 S EA Lt BB L X EF 1
¥ B 1 &) by the Construction Association in Hebei Province (5 it &
BEEWE) In 2015 and 2016, he was awarded as the outstanding
project manager in construction industry in Hebei Province of 2014
and 2015 (2014 £ ER2015 FETL A EEXEFEE LE) by
the Construction Association in Hebei Province (Gl it & 2 £ % i &).
In 2017, he was awarded as the outstanding project manager of the
construction enterprises of China (2 EIZ2E £ £ EFHBKLHE) by
China Construction Industry Association (F Bl & £ %2 1% ). In 2019,
he was awarded as the outstanding project manager in construction
industry in Hebei Province of 2018 (2018 £ ENt E R L X EF 8
B & 1) by the Construction Association in Hebei Province (o] it &
#EE ). In May 2019, he was awarded as the Hebei Province
Excellent Communist Youth League Cadre of 2018 (2018 £ & 5 it
BEFHEEHIEE) by the Hebei Committee of Youth League
(#£ & B A 3t & Z). In May 2020, he was awarded as the National
Excellent Communist Youth League Cadre (2 Bl & & & & B # )
by the Central Committee of the Communist Youth League (% &
F 92). In January 2021, he was named as the Advanced Individual in
Emergency Management and Safety Production in Hebei Province (7]
tEESEBEEZT L EKE@A) by the Emergency Management
and Work Safety Association of Hebei Province (Tt ¥ B2 EE H %
THEEHBSE).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Guodong has completed the Executive Business Administration
Studies Course (& & I & & = 3% 12 #f 1§ ¥f) held by the School of
Continuing Education, Tsinghua University (B # K 2 # BB H 5 &2
Bt) in November 2011 and completed the Adult Higher Education
program (f A & % # &) majoring in engineering management of
Hebei Construction Engineering College (5] 4t # £ T 2 £ Bx) via
distance learning in January 2013.

Mr. Li Guodong obtained the registration Certificate of Second Grade
Constructor (= # 3 #& AF & fft &% &) issued by the Department of
Development of Hebei Province (5] dt & # 5% E&) in March 2008. He
was qualified as a senior engineer of architectural engineering from
the Office of the Leading Group for Professional Title Reforms in
Hebei Province Gt B Wi fE S £ B E /N H 3 2 =) in December 2016.

Mr. Yang Yanqing (¥ 8 % % &), aged 42, is the vice president of
the Group and deputy general manager of Tianbao Construction
Group. He joined Tianbao Construction Group in June 2006 and
served various positions in Tianbao Construction Group, including
as assistant to chairman from September 2006 to June 2014 and
the project manager from June 2014 to February 2017. He has
been a deputy general manager of Tianbao Construction Group
since February 2017. Mr. Yang has over 17 years of experience in
construction industry.

Mr. Yang Yanqging was engaged as an expert of Hebei Province BIM
Technical Expert Committee 1 dt #BIM HE M ERZ & &) in 2020.
In April 2021, he was engaged by China Association of Construction
Enterprise Management (1 Bl it T (> % ¥ # &) as a scientific and
technological expert of China Association of Construction Enterprise
Management. He has been the vice president of the Supply Chain
Branch of the Construction Association in Hebei Province (3 it & &
FEHEHEESD F) since May 2021. In June 2021, he was engaged
by the Construction Association in Hebei Province (Sl dt & # £ # 1
&) as a construction industry expert of Hebei Province. In May 2023,
he was awarded the title of Hebei Province Construction Industry
Expert (Al 4t & 22 £ % 5= R % 5% ) by Construction Association in Hebei
Province (it B 2 £ =).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFRERERE

In 2017 and 2018, Mr. Yang was awarded as the outstanding project
manager in construction industry in Hebei Province of years 2016
and 2017 (2016 £ E k2017 FEMN L EEZE X EFEHB L) by
the Construction Association in Hebei Province (5] 4t & 2 £ % %
&). In 2017, he was awarded as the outstanding leader of the quality
management group of construction of 2017 2017 FE IR EZ X &
2 EHE /DMK E =M% EE) by China Association of Construction
Enterprise Management (1 Bl i T & % E E 1% &). In April 2019, he
was awarded as the outstanding leader of the quality management
group of construction in Hebei Province of 2018 (2018 £ & 1 it
EIRERE=ERE /AT = %8 E #E) by the Building and
Construction Professional Committee under the Quality Association
of Hebei Province (Tt E B EHEELHEE I HEXZER), and as
the outstanding project manager in construction industry in Hebei
Province of year 2018 (2018 F E ALt E 2 £ X E FH B L) by
the Construction Association in Hebei Province (5] 4t & 2 £ % 1%
&). In June 2019, he was awarded as the outstanding leader of
the quality management group in Hebei Province of 2019 (2019 #
MtEEEEE/)HEESH E M EEE) by Hebei Administration for
Market Regulation ;i 4t & T 15 B & & # /) and other entities. In
April 2020, he won the Excellence Award in the Building Decoration
BIM Competition (3 5 £ #iBIM Kk & {8 55 #) organised by China
Building Decoration Association (7 Bl £ & £ &7 1 ). In July 2020,
he was awarded as the 2019 Hebei Province Construction Industry
Excellent Chief Engineer (2019 FE N Xt B Z £ X E F H T 2 )
by the Construction Association in Hebei Province (S dt & # £ # 1%
&). In September 2020, he was awarded as the outstanding leader
of the quality management group in Hebei Province of 2020 (2020
FALEEEEERPATEEMEEE). In January 2023, he was
named as the Advanced Individual in Emergency Management and
Safety Production (& & & & B2 %2 & 4 7= 5L # @ A) by the Emergency
Management and Work Safety Association of Hebei Province (JA it
EEESEEHEZ 24 EWHE). In December 2023, he was awarded as
the 2023 Hebei Municipal Enterprise Excellent Chief Engineer (2023
FEMLETBRLEEFE IR by Hebei Municipal Industry
Association CAdt & BT ERE).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang graduated from Hebei University (i 3t X ) with a bachelor
degree in engineering mechanics in June 2006 and was awarded
as Received the Master of Business Administration degree from
China University of Geosciences in September 2022. He obtained
the Certificate of Registration of Constructor issued by the Ministry
of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of China (% B 1 & #1 #
4B 32 3% =B) in September 2013. He was qualified as an engineer of
architectural engineering from the Office of the Leading Group for
Professional Title Reforms in Hebei Province (Al it & B R £ @ E /)
#H P A ZE) in December 2014. He was qualified as a senior engineer
in civil engineering technology by the Office of the Leading Group for
Professional Title Reforms in Hebei Province (3T 1t % B 8 ok & 48 & /)
# 3% 2 E) on December 20, 2019.

Ms. Liu Dandan (81 /& ## & %), aged 35, was appointed as the chief
financial officer on April 17, 2019. Ms. Liu is primarily responsible for
overall financial and fund management of the Group.

Ms. Liu joined the Group in November 2012 and served various
positions, including as officer of finance department of Zhangbei
branch of Tianbao Construction Group from November 2012 to
June 2013, as finance manager of Zhangbei branch of Tianbao
Construction Group from June 2013 to November 2014 and as
finance manager of Zhangbei branch of Tianbao Real Estate Group
from December 2014 to October 2018. She has been the manager of
finance and monitoring department of Tianbao Construction Group
since November 2018.

In March 2020, Ms. Liu was awarded the March 8th Flag Bearer of
Zhuozhou City of 2019 (2019 F E & M = N\ A i F) by Women’s
Federation of Zhuozhou (& M T % Z # & &). She was engaged by
the Construction Association in Hebei Province (JAldt ¥ 2 £ ¥ =)
as a construction industry expert of Hebei Province (At E £ ¥ &=
%) in July 2022.

Ms. Liu obtained a junior college graduation certificate in accountancy
from Hebei Finance University (i dt & &t £ pZ) in June 2011. She
graduated with a bachelor’s degree in construction management in
Hebei University of Architecture (3 it # 58 T 2 2 %) through distance
learning in June 2019. She obtained a bachelor degree in financial
management from Hebei University of Science and Technology (i it
%l K ) through distance learning in June 2020.

EFREREERRE

BEER2006F6AEXRNTLRE - BEIRHE
BT E2URRN2022F908ETEBERBEIHER
BMELBU-KRNR201BFIORREHTHEEMABE
RMEBRNEIMEEMES - WR2014F128 EH
TEBBREEE P ARLERTREEIREIREM
B HR2019F12A20B B AL EMBREEE
NERAEBRFIAZEIREMSRIBMERE -

BARKE 355 M2019F4817THEZXERETRE
BEE - RLLtTEEEAEENERYBRES

EHE

Bzt R201L2FMMAMAXZEBLEETS BB
BEB2012F11 A Z2013F6 A IEEXRREREE
R DNAMBBBE B2013F68 £2014F 11
BEEAXRREREERLS 2D HELER B2014
F12AZ2018F 10 AR REHESEERLE S D
AMBEEE - HE08FMAE-—EEERRER
EEMEERIKE-

Bl L+ R2020F3 EFMTFLBEERTH
2019 F E &M T = NALIE F R - R2022F7 B #7
LEBEXHERTATLEREXRER

Bzt R20MFEREBSTLEREBREHEER
BEXEFZ -HMN201956 A BBEREBE R TILEE
ITRERSXYRESIEEEE - 21 K MN2020
FORAENLENMRAZEBERLSENEUBEES
P& -

2023EEH THAREERREEAT 0D



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFRERERE

Ms. Liu has passed all subjects under the futures qualification
examination of the China Futures Association (F B # & ¥ 1% &) and
securities qualification examination of the Securities Association of
China (P El % % %1% &) in May 2011 and March 2014, respectively.
Ms. Liu was accredited as a certified public accountant by The
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (¥ Bl 5+ f} & =t &7 175 =)
in April 2016. She obtained her intermediate accountant qualification
from the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC
(PEADERMIEEREER) in September 2016 and tax advisor
qualification issued by The China Certified Tax Agents Association (4
Efl &% i #% 7% 87 15 &) in November 2017. She was qualified as a First
Grade Constructor (— # # #5 ff) by the Ministry of Human Resources
and Social Security of the PRC in September 2021. In 2021, she
passed the National Technical Advanced Qualification Examination
for Accounting Major (2 Bl €t EE R T K E K E ). In 2022,
she passed the Senior Management Accountant Examination of the
National Association of Chief Financial Officers.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Liu Tsz Kit (B F f# 5& &), aged 44, was appointed as the company
secretary of our Company on October 21, 2022.

Mr. Liu joined the Company in February 2020 as the chief investment
officer. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants since 2010 and a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2006. Before joining
the Company, he worked in an international audit firm for eight years
and a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange for
ten years, where his last position was financial controller. He has over
20 years’ working experience in finance management in Hong Kong
and China.

Mr. Liu holds a bachelor’s degree with honours in Accounting from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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The Board hereby presents the Shareholders with the Group’s annual
report and audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2023.

The Company is an exempted company incorporated under the laws
of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on November 16, 2018.
The Company’s Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on November 11, 2019.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Group is a construction company and property developer in
Zhuozhou, a city in Hebei Province, China. The Group operates
through construction contracting and property development
businesses. For construction contracting business, the Group
provides construction contracting services mainly as a general
contractor for building construction projects, infrastructure
construction projects, and industrial and commercial construction
projects. For property development business, the Group engages
in development and sales of residential properties, and leasing and
operation of an investment property.

RESULTS

The Group’s results for the year ended December 31, 2023 and
financial position as at December 31, 2023 are set out on pages 146
to 149 in the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND PAYMENT

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended December 31, 2023 (for the year ended December 31,
2022: nil).

There was no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or
agreed to waive any dividends.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERHE

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Company proposes to hold the annual general meeting (the
“Annual General Meeting”) at 9:00 a.m. on May 23, 2024. For
determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the Annual General
Meeting, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
May 20, 2024 to May 23, 2024, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. All transfer documents
of the Company accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
May 17, 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended December 31, 2023 and up to the date of this
Annual Report, there have not been any movements in the share
capital of the Company.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 151 in this Annual Report. As at December 31, 2023,
the distributable reserves of the Company available for distribution
amounted to approximately RMB191,905,000.

DONATION

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group made
charitable and other donations of approximately RMB3,650,000.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The Group’s financial summary for the last five financial years is set
out on pages 292 to 293 of this Annual Report.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware that the Shareholders are entitled to any
tax relief by holding the Company’s securities.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis — Material Acquisitions and Disposals” in this Annual
Report, during the year ended December 31, 2023 and up to the date
of this Annual Report, the Group did not have any material acquisition
and disposal of subsidiaries and associates.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCE COSTS

Details of the Group’s capitalised interest and other borrowing cost
during the Year are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year ended December
31, 2023 are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as of December 31, 2023 are
set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and
to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company’s Shares in public
hands are no less than 25% of the entire share capital in issue from
January 1, 2023 and up to the date of this Annual Report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

(a)

(b)

Business Review for the Year

A review of the business of the Group during the Year, a
discussion on the Group’s future business development
and an analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year
using financial key performance indicators are set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”.
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Report
— Subsequent Events” in this Annual Report, the Group has
no significant events after the end of the financial year ended
December 31, 2023 and up to the date of this Annual Report.

Environmental Policy and Performance

The laws and regulations governing the environmental
requirements for the construction industry property
development in China include the Environmental Protection
Law of the PRC ({ R # A R # M B R & Rk # £ )), the
Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution Law of the
PRC (FRZEARHLFE KRS HPEEE)), the Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution Law of the PRC (K H# AR £ M E
7K 55 $2Bh A 3%)), the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste Law of the PRC ({ Ff # A R & #I
E B2 B ¥ 55 2 1R % By A 3£ )), the Construction Law of the
PRC ({(f ZE AR &£ M B & £ %)), the Prevention and Control
of Noise Pollution Law of the PRC K Z# A R £ M E & 5
12 B 55 3 Bh 34 3% )), the Environmental Impact Assessment
Law of the PRC (R EZE AR X M E R E L EFE L)), the
Administrative Regulations on Environmental Protection for
Development Projects (R E B R B R & E 2 & #)) and
the Administrative Regulations on Environmental Protection
for Acceptance Examination Upon Completion of Buildings
(EREERAIRERERWEEWE)). Pursuant to these
laws and regulations, depending on the impact of the project
on the environment, an environmental impact study report,
an environmental impact analysis table or an environmental
impact registration form shall be submitted by a developer
before the relevant authorities will grant approval for the
commencement of construction of the property development
projects. In addition, upon completion of the property
development, the relevant environmental authorities will also
inspect the property to ensure compliance with the applicable
environmental standards and regulations before the property
can be delivered to the purchasers.
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(c)

The Group has established and implemented an environmental
compliance system to specify various environmental
protection procedures and measures and ensure the Group’s
compliance with international standards and the relevant PRC
laws and regulations. The Group has adopted corresponding
environmental protection measures to ensure compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, including noise control and
air pollution control, as well as solid waste and waste water
treatment.

The Group maintains ISO 14001: 2015 (environmental
management standards published by the International
Organisation for Standardisation) Certifications for the
construction contracting business to ensure that the Group
adopts appropriate environmental management measures.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group did
not violate any national or local environmental laws and
regulations that would materially and adversely affect the
Group’s business operations. The Group was not subject
to any material environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or
disciplinary actions during the same period.

Social Responsibility

The Group has entered into employment contracts with
its employees and maintains social insurance for them in
accordance with the applicable PRC laws and regulations. The
Group maintains insurance (including group personal accident
insurance and personal injury insurance) for the on-site staff of
its construction projects in accordance with the relevant PRC
laws and regulations.

All employees of the Group are entitled to benefits of the
Group including paid leaves, marriage leaves and maternity
leaves.

(c)
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(d)

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group has in place stringent internal safety policies to
ensure our safe operations and ensure our compliance with
relevant PRC laws and regulations. The Group’s production
safety department is responsible for overseeing the Company’s
compliance with relevant PRC laws and regulations, conducting
regular reviews and inspections of our safety performance,
reviewing the circumstances of any material accidents, and
ensuring that the Group maintains the necessary licenses,
approvals and permits to operate. The Group maintains GB/
T28001-2011 Occupational Health and Safety Management
System Certificates (a recommended standard in China for
an occupational health and safety management system) for
our construction contracting business, and conducts regular
assessment and safety inspection to continuously improve the
working environment and safeguard the health of employees.

The Group first obtained the certificate for our construction
contracting business on December 15, 2011 and renewed such
certificate on December 14, 2018. The Group also organizes
accident prevention and management training sessions for
employees on a regular basis and for new employees on an as
needed basis. The Group implements an occupational health
and safety management system. The Group’s production
safety department is responsible for formulating health and
safety standards. The Group’s project management teams
ensure that our subcontracted workers are adequately trained
and have received the requisite licenses and certificates to
perform special operations. The Group’s project management
teams also address safety issues before commencing each
work day, and conduct weekly safety inspections of the
Group’s operations and those of the Group’s subcontractors.
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(e)

The Group’s occupational health and safety management
system includes a reporting and record system for unsafe
conditions at our construction sites. All accidents occurred
within the Group must be immediately reported to the
responsible project management team, who reports the
accident to our branch office and production safety
department. Personnel from the responsible project
management team are required to arrive on site immediately
to oversee the handling of the accident. Any accident that
resulted in any fatalities or major injuries will be promptly
reported to the production safety department. The Group will
report the accident to the relevant government authority as
required by PRC laws and regulations and cooperate with
local government authorities to investigate such accident.

The Board confirms that, during the year ended December 31,
2023, neither did the Group nor its subcontractors have any
material workplace accidents and fatalities with respect to our
construction contracting projects and property development
projects, and the Group had not been subject to any fines,
public criticism or warnings in relation to any incidents relating
the safety of workers.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations which have a significant
impact to the Group. As at the date of this Annual Report,
except as disclosed in the Annual Report, the Group complied
with, in all material respects, all the relevant and applicable
PRC laws and regulations governing the business of property
development and management and the Group has obtained all
licenses, permits and certificates for the purpose of operating
its business.
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(f)

Relationship with Stakeholders

(1)

2

Relationship with Employees

The Group believes that its long-term growth depends
on the expertise and experience of its employees.
The Group mainly recruits through the labor market,
recruitment fairs and on-campus recruitment. The
Group has established a comprehensive training system
for our employees based on their responsibilities,
covering professional knowledge, technical, operational
and managerial skills, corporate culture, internal control
and other areas. Such programs are designed to foster
career development for employees and thus to invest in
the future of the Group’s human resources.

The Group offers its employees salaries and make
contributions to social insurance fund, including
pension, medical, unemployment, maternity and
occupational injury insurance, and housing provident
fund for employees.

The Group contracts with labor unions that protect
employees’ rights, help fulfill economic objectives
of the Group, encourage employee participation
in management decisions and assist the Group in
mediating disputes with union members. The labor
unions have established branches at the Group’s
operating units. The Group did not experience any
material labor dispute as of December 31, 2023.

Relationship with Subcontractors or Suppliers

The Group also strives to develop strategic business
relationship and long-term business partnership with its
subcontractors or suppliers to ensure resource quality
and stable development of the Group’s business.
The Group reinforces business partnerships with its
subcontractors through active communication such as
regular meetings with its suppliers.
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(9)

(3) Relationship with Customers

The Group recognizes the importance of maintaining
good relationship with its customers and provides
products to meet the needs and requirements of the
customers. The Group communicates with its customers
to understand the changes of product preference in the
market, which enables the Group to actively meet the
market demand, thereby improving the relationship with
its customers. The Group strives to enhance customer
satisfaction with our property development projects
through fine construction workmanship and strict
quality control measures.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s business is subject to extensive governmental
regulation and, in particular, the Group is sensitive to policy
changes related to the PRC property development industry
and construction industry, including those that affect the
supply of land for property development, project financing and
taxation, as well as local government budgets and the policies
regarding regulation and control of the property market.

(9)
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Principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group include

but are not limited to:

(i)

The Group’s business operation is subject to PRC
laws and regulations and, in particular, the Group is
sensitive to policy changes related to the PRC property
development industry and construction industry,
including those that affect the supply of land for
property development, project financing and taxation,
as well as local government budgets and the policies
regarding regulation and control of the property
market. The Group cannot guarantee that the PRC
government will relax existing restrictive measures,
impose and enhance restrictive measures, or impose
other restrictive policies, regulations or measures in
the future. The existing and other future restrictive
measures may limit our access to capital, reduce
market demand for the Group’s products and increase
the Group’s finance costs, and any easing measures
introduced may also not be sufficient. If the Group fails
to adapt its operations to new policies, regulations and
measures that may come into effect from time to time,
or such policy changes negatively impact the Group’s
business, the Group’s financial condition, results
of operations and prospects may be materially and
adversely affected.

The Group cannot guarantee that its internal control
measures will always be sufficient and effective. Certain
legal uncertainties in, and inconsistent interpretations
and enforcement of, current PRC laws and regulations
expose the Group to the risk of non-compliance. If
deemed non-compliant, the Group could be subject
to administrative or regulatory fines and penalties,
including the suspension or revocation of the
Group’s licenses, and the Group’s operations may be
hindered or halted, which could have a material and
adverse effect on the Group’s business and results of
operations. As the PRC legal system and the property
development and construction industries continue to
evolve, changes in the relevant laws and regulations
or in their interpretation or enforcement may also
make the Group exposed to the risk of the difficulty in
complying with the laws and regulations.
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(ii)

The Group will closely monitor relevant regulations
issued by the PRC government, and will try its best to
response by adopting appropriate strategies.

The Group’s business and prospects depend on
economic conditions and performance of property
market in the PRC. In particular, the Group has many
property projects at various stages of development
in Zhuozhou and Zhangjiakou, and the Company
plans to expand to cities in Beijing-Tianjin-Hebe
Region. As such, the Group’s business continues to
be heavily dependent on the property markets in such
areas. Such property markets may be affected by
local, regional, national and global factors, including
economic and financial development, speculative
activities in local markets, demand for and supply of
properties, availability of alternative investment choices
for property buyers, inflation, government policies,
interest rates and availability of capital. Any adverse
development in the overall property market of the PRC
or in the property markets of the cities in which the
Group has or expects to have business operations
may adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects. The
Group will closely monitor the sales position and adopt
strategies with flexibilities to cope with the risks.
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(iii)

The growth and success of the Group’s business
depend on its ability to continue acquiring land
reserves located in desirable locations at commercially
reasonable prices. The Group’s ability to acquire land
depends on a variety of factors that the Group cannot
control, such as general economic conditions, the
Group’s effectiveness in identifying and acquiring land
parcels suitable for development and the competition
for such land parcels. Rapid property development in
Zhuozhou and Zhangjiakou and other parts of Hebei
Province in recent years has resulted in a shortage in
the supply of undeveloped land in desirable locations
and increased land acquisition costs, which is one
of the largest components of the Group’s cost of
sales. Any increase in the Group’s land costs resulting
from shortages of supply or our inability to procure
land could have a material and adverse effect on
the Group’s business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects. The Group will acquire
sufficient land reserves through various methods,
including merger and acquisition, public tender, auction
or listing-for-sale process, to control the availability of
land acquisition.

Fluctuations in the Group’s operating results may
be caused by other factors, including fluctuations in
expenses, such as land grant premium, development
costs, administrative expenses, and selling and
marketing expenses, and changes in market demand
for our properties. In addition, the cyclical PRC
property market affects the optimal timing for the
acquisition of land, the planning of development and
the sales of properties. This cyclicality, combined with
the lead time required for the completion of projects
and the sales of properties, means that the Group’s
results of operations relating to property development
activities may be susceptible to significant fluctuations
from period to period. Furthermore, the Group’s
property development projects may be delayed or
adversely affected by a combination of factors beyond
its control, which may in turn adversely affect revenue
recognition and consequently the cash flow and results
of operations, particularly for the property development
business.
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(iv)

PRC law allows property developers to pre-sell
properties prior to their completion upon satisfaction of
certain requirements. The Group depends on cash flows
from the pre-sale of properties as an important source
of funding for its property projects. Under current
PRC laws and regulations, property developers must
fulfill certain conditions before they can commence
pre-sale of properties and the use of pre-sale proceeds
may be subject to certain limitations. The pre-sale
proceeds of properties may only be used to fund the
property development costs of the relevant projects.
There is no guarantee that the PRC government will
not adopt any restrictions to or will not abolish current
pre-sale practices. The future implementation of
any restrictions on the Group’s ability to pre-sell its
properties, including any requirements to increase the
amount of up-front expenditures the Group must incur
prior to obtaining a pre-sale permit, would extend the
time required for recovery of the Group’s capital outlay
and would force the Group to seek alternative means
to finance the various stages of the Group’s property
developments, including increasing borrowings, which
would in turn increase the Group’s interest payments.
This could have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s business, cash flow, financial condition and
results of operations.

In addition, the Group may experience delays in the
completion of pre-sold property developments, in
which case the Group may be liable to purchasers for
their losses. Furthermore, pursuant to the pre-sale
agreements the Group enters into with our customers,
if a pre-sold property development is not delivered
on time, the purchaser may be entitled to damages. If
the delay extends beyond the contractually specified
period, the purchaser may terminate the pre-sale
agreement, reclaim the payment and claim damages in
accordance with the contract.

(iv)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFRHE

FEEEAFEHRERBEARFTES
TERZEVERINEEDE X
SEREREVEFRSCRERERSD
rEBEHERENEEESRR
RERTHEEERER BHER
BREALEAREETHRHETTRKRES
ME MEEFRSRBERBRITRRSE
TREUFMEE - MERERSRIRE
TRFEAEERENEHLEMBRAE
REEZ BEERBPEBFTET
SEERMEMRANERENFEESES -
R ORAE AT S AN 55 B TR E 4 3 8E 0 K N
RS BEEANEBEAREEAL M
AT IRESHEEFTENER
BELERAEEUDEFARIMTE
MR WAEAEESRAMT E(E
FEMEBERUATEERHLERMES
EREMBE - #MBMAKEHF
ENR -ZE2HAEENEL BRER
B UBERARKEXBERNEKRT
N & -

S AEETREEERRAERBER
BHRIT -ELRBERT AEETE
RERNBREAERET - U REX
EEEEZFIUNEEHSE WCEHE
ENEHEMBRERBERN BEX
EERRBE - BFLEEBBER M
AR EXTZERERAATELRILE
EHE WENRLERREE-

2023EEH TEAREERREEAT (9



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERHE

Most purchasers of the Group’s properties apply
for bank borrowings and mortgages to fund their
purchases. In accordance with industry practice, banks
require the Group to guarantee mortgage loans taken
out by purchasers of the properties that the Group
develops. Typically, the Group guarantees the full value
of mortgage loans taken out by purchasers, as well as
accrued interest and penalties for defaults in mortgage
payments, up until the issuance of the relevant
property ownership certificates and the registration of
the mortgage in favor of the mortgagee bank. These
are contingent liabilities not reflected on the Group’s
balance sheets. If a purchaser defaults on a mortgage
loan, the Group may be required to repurchase the
underlying property by paying off the mortgage. If the
Group fails to do so, the mortgagee bank may auction
the underlying property and recover any additional
amount outstanding from the Group as the guarantor of
the mortgage loans. In line with industry practice, the
Group does not conduct any independent credit checks
on its customers and relies on the credit evaluations
conducted by the mortgage banks for such customers.

The Group normally receives progress payments
from its customers based on the site works done, or
milestone payments from its customers based upon
our achievement of key milestones of the project as
stipulated in the project contract. Furthermore, the
Group’s customers generally retain up to 5% of the
total contract sum as retention fees. The retention
fees are generally returned to the Group in full upon
expiry of the defects liability period if there are no
material quality issues with the Group’s works during
such period. In most of the Group’s construction
contracts, the defects liability period ranges from six
months to two years following the completion of the
construction contracting project, depending on the
type of construction work the Group undertakes. As
such, if the Group fails to achieve any key milestone
as stipulated in the project contract on time, the
Group will not receive any milestone payments until
it achieves such milestone, which may materially and
adversely affect the Group’s cash flows and financial
position. Should the customers fail in or delay in
making progress payments or milestone payments,
or in releasing retention fees, the Group may need to
recognize such default payment as bad debts and the
Group’s cash flow position and working capital may be
materially and adversely affected.
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(vii)

The Group subcontracts certain of its construction
services from time to time. The Group conducts
regular quality inspections of its subcontractors’
work; however, the Group cannot guarantee the
performance and work quality of its construction
subcontractors as the Group may not be able to
monitor the operations of its subcontractors as directly
and efficiently as the Group does its own operations. If
a construction subcontractor fails to meet the Group’s
quality standards or breaches our subcontracting
agreement, and if the Group is unable to hire alternative
construction subcontractors in a timely manner or
on favorable terms, or at all, the Group’s operations
may be delayed, which could harm its reputation
and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
condition and results of operations. Moreover, the
Group may be subject to additional costs if it is
required to hire alternative construction subcontractors,
which would lower the efficiency and profitability of the
Group’s operations.

In addition, the Group may be required to bear the
liability arising from any defects in its construction
subcontractors’ work and thus may be subject to
claims arising from any such defective work. The
Group may attempt to seek indemnity from the relevant
construction subcontractors in the event a liability
claim is brought against the Group with respect to
their performance, but the Group may be required to
compensate its customers before it is able to recover
such amounts. If the Group is unable to seek indemnity
from its construction subcontractors or the Group
remains uncompensated for a protracted period of
time, the Group may be required to bear significant
financial burdens, in which case the Group’s business,
financial condition and results of operations could be
materially and adversely affected.

(vii)
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(viii)

The Group operates heavily regulated businesses
that require the Group to obtain, maintain and renew
a number of licenses, qualifications, approvals and
permits including, but not limited to, qualification
certificates for property development enterprise and
construction contracting enterprise, land use rights
certificates, construction work planning permits,
construction works commencement permits, pre-sale
permits and completion certificates. The Group must
meet specific conditions in order for the government
authorities to issue or renew any certificates, licenses
or permits. Further, the Group is subject to regular
inspections, examinations, inquiries and audits, as
well as periodic and spot inspections by the relevant
governmental authorities, to maintain or renew such
licenses, qualifications and permits. The Group cannot
guarantee that it will be able to obtain, maintain or
renew the requisite licenses, qualifications and permits,
or comply with any new licensing requirements, if new
laws or regulations are promulgated or existing laws or
regulations are amended, which may subject the Group
to resulting penalties, limitations or costs and, in turn,
may have a material and adverse effect on the Group’s
business, financial condition and results of operations.
Further, extensive government regulation and related
delays in seeking the requisite licenses, qualifications
and permits can significantly delay the introduction of
additional services or products, which could materially
and adversely affect the Group’s competitiveness.
Even if the Group does obtain the requisite licenses
qualifications and permits from the relevant authorities,
they may be granted on a limited basis or be subject to
modification of the Group’s services or products, which
could increase the Group’s operational costs.
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OUTLOOK

Details of the future development of the Company’s business are set
out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this Annual Report, respectively.

BOARD COMPOSITION

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Annual Report,
the Board consists of nine Directors with details as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Baotian (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Shen Lifeng

Ms. Wang Xinling

Mr. Li Yaruixin

Ms. Wang Huijie

Mr. Zang Lin

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Hou Liang
Mr. Li Qingxu
Mr. Li Xu

According to Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of
three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election. The Company at the general meeting at which
a Director retires may fill the vacated office.

According to Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, Ms.
Wang Huijie, Mr. Zang Lin and Mr. Hou Liang will retire from the
directorships at the Annual General Meeting, and are eligible and will
offer themselves for re-election.
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No Director proposed for re-election at the Annual General Meeting
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this Annual Report.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Mr. Li Xu was appointed as an independent non-executive director
and a member of each of the audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee of Pizu Group Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8053) with
effect from April 20, 2023 and an independent non-executive director
and a member of each of the nomination committee and remuneration
committee of China South City Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1668) with effect from May
16, 20283. With effect from July 12, 2023, Mr. Li Xu has resigned as
an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the audit
committee, a member of each of the remuneration committee and
the nomination committee of China Kangda Food Company Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 834) and the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (stock code: P74),
respectively.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other information which is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

On October 21, 2019, each of Mr. Li Baotian, Ms. Shen Lifeng, Ms.
Wang Xinling, Mr. Li Yaruixin, Ms. Wang Huijie and Mr. Zang Lin,
being our executive Directors, has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the
date of signing contract and subject to renewal in accordance with
the Articles of Association of the Company and the applicable laws,
rules and regulations. After communication between the management
of the Group and each of the executive Directors, pursuant to the
contents of the Executive Director’ Service Contracts, both parties
agreed to implement the renewal arrangement in accordance with the
original contract for a service period of three years in 2022.

Each of Mr. Li Xu and Mr. Li Qingxu, being our independent
non-executive Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company on October 21, 2019. Each letter of appointment
is for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date. After
communication between the management of the Group with Mr. Li Xu
and Mr. Li Qingxu respectively, pursuant to the letter of appointment,
both parties agreed to implement the renewal arrangement in
accordance with the original letter of appointment for a service period
of three years in 2022. Mr. Hou Liang has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years on October
21, 2022. The letters of appointment may be renewed in accordance
with the Articles of Association of the Company and the applicable
laws, rules and regulations.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of December 31, 2023, the interests or short positions of the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be entered in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were
otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code under the Listing Rules, are
set out below:

Member/Associated

EERBEETRAEBRFLOFXAEMEBE
EeEG #HRAROERREEEPHESZ R
ne

R2023F12AB31B L ESHARAESTHAE
RAD DN EE (2% R RS R KR EXY
2B) 00 1R 19 4R B AR 1) TR R AR ISR 5 R
ERODES2EREADTNARBHEERAES
AR LTRAUBETAEAEARD ARG
BERAAMT :

Approximate
Percentage of

Corporation of the Capacity/Nature Number of Shareholding
Name of Director Group of Interest Shares in the Company
FE@ABEREAT {6 & 27 B
EFENR HEEE BB g oK™ B8 EO I ON=R5 8 4
Mr. Li Baotian® the Company Interest in controlled 594,000,000 73.38%

corporation

TREXER PNV REZLEER
Notes:

(1) All interests stated are long positions.

(2) Mr. Li Baotian holds the entire interests in Jixiang International

Industrial Company Limited. Under the SFO, Mr. Li Baotian is deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Jixiang International Industrial
Company Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2023, none of the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be entered in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, or which were otherwise required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to the Company, as of December 31, 2023, as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO, the following persons, other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company, had an interest of 5% or more in
the Shares or underlying Shares:
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FERERR X 2T G KR K5 B
FHiEERRE

BADNT A BE2023F128318 1k A LD
ARBESRPEKNEICHKEAETEFTENETH
itk RESRAQARSTHRAEN T AL
REAREEROPEES%H U LERE:

Number of
Ordinary Shares or Approximate
Securities Percentage of
of the Company Held Shareholding
Name of Shareholder Capacity (shares)® in the Company
REEFLE
LiEKRERID HE LT EKE
BEREE 56 BH A @#raaskt
Jixiang International Industrial Beneficial owner 594,000,000 73.38%
Company Limited®
EHERBEEXEERAFC EREAA
Ms. Zhou Chunlan® Interest of spouse 594,000,000 73.38%
BEWMZLO R 15 E &5
Ai Xinting Beneficial owner 43,377,000 5.36%
EREAA
Notes: B 5 -
(1 All interests stated are long positions. (1) FolEEESGRITFR -
) Jixiang International Industrial Company Limited is wholly owned by Mr. ) EHEBRBXERATIHEZTRELELZERES -
Li Baotian.
(3) Ms. Zhou Chunlan is the spouse of Mr. Li Baotian. Therefore, under the (3) FAERLZITAZTREXENEB Bt REZEFR

SFO, Ms. Zhou Chunlan is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in
which Mr. Li Baotian is interested.

Save as disclosed herein, as of December 31, 2023, the Directors are
not aware of any persons (other than a Director or chief executive of
the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or would be required, pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register required referred to therein.
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ACQUISITION OF SHARES OR DEBENTURES BY
DIRECTORS

During the year ended December 31, 2023, there were no any
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares
in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, nor were there
any such rights exercised by them. Also, there was no arrangement
to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries is a party that would enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As of December 31, 2023, none of the Controlling Shareholders of the
Group or the Directors was engaged or had interest in any business,
apart from the business of the Group, which competes or is likely
to compete, directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business, which
would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Compliance with Non-Competition Undertakings
Deed of Non-Competition

To ensure that competition does not develop between the Company
and other business activities and/or interests of the Controlling
Shareholders (being Mr. Li Baotian and Jixiang International Industrial
Company Limited, which is wholly owned by Mr. Li Baotian), each
of our Controlling Shareholders (collectively, the “Covenantors” and
each, a “Covenantor”) has entered into a Deed of Non-competition
in favor of the Group on October 21, 2019, pursuant to which,
each of the Covenantors has, among other things, irrevocably and
unconditionally undertaken, jointly and severally, with the Company
that at any time during the Non-Competition Relevant Period (as
defined below), the Covenantor shall not, and shall procure that its/
his/her close associates (other than members of the Group) shall
not, directly or indirectly, carry on, engage in, invest in, participate
in, attempt to participate in, render any services to, provide any
financial support to or otherwise be involved in or interested in,
whether alone or jointly with another person and whether directly or
indirectly or on behalf of or to assist or act in concert with any other
person, any business or investment activities, whether in or outside
the PRC, which are the same as, similar to or in competition or likely
to be in competition with the business carried on or contemplated
to be carried on by any member of the Group from time to time (the
“Restricted Business”).
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Each of the Covenantors has also undertaken to refer, or to procure
the referral of, any investment or commercial opportunities relating to
any Restricted Business (“New Business Opportunities” and each, a
“New Business Opportunity”) to us (for ourselves and as trustee for
the benefit of each of our subsidiaries from time to time).

The relevant Covenantor shall be entitled to but shall not be obliged
to carry on, engage, invest, participate or be interested (economically
or otherwise) in the New Business Opportunity (whether individually
or jointly with another person and whether directly or indirectly or on
behalf of or to assist any other person) on the same, or less favorable,
terms and conditions in all material respects as set out in the Offer
Notice (as defined in the prospectus of the Company dated October
30, 2019) if:

(i) it/he/she has received a written notice from us declining the
New Business Opportunity; or

(ii) it/he/she has not received any written notice from the
Company of its decision to pursue or decline the New
Business Opportunity within 30 business days from the
Company’s receipt of the Offer Notice, or if it/he/she has
extended the Offer Notice Period (as defined in the prospectus
of the Company dated October 30, 2019), within such other
period as agreed by it, in which case the Company shall be
deemed to have declined the New Business Opportunity.

If there is a change in the nature or proposal of the New Business
Opportunity pursued by the relevant Covenantor, it/he/she shall
refer the New Business Opportunity as revised and shall provide to
the Company details of all available information for the Company to
consider whether to pursue the New Business Opportunity as revised.

When considering whether or not to pursue any New Business
Opportunities, the independent non-executive Directors of the
Company will form their views based on a range of factors, including
but not limited to, the estimated profitability, investment value and
permits and approval requirements. The Covenantors, for themselves
and on behalf of their respective close associates (except any
members of the Group), have also acknowledged that the Company
may be required by the relevant laws, regulations and rules and
regulatory bodies to disclose, from time to time, information on the
New Business Opportunities, including but not limited to disclosure in
public announcements or annual reports of the Company its decisions
to pursue or decline the New Business Opportunities, and have
agreed to disclose to the extent necessary to comply with any such
requirements.
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For the purposes of the above, the “Non-Competition Relevant
Period” means the period commencing from the Listing Date of the
Company and shall expire on the earlier of (i) the date when the
Covenantors and any of their respective close associates, cease
to hold, or otherwise be interested in, beneficially in aggregate
whether directly or indirectly, 30% or more (or such other percentage
of shareholding as stipulated in the Listing Rules to constitute a
Controlling Shareholder) of the issued share capital of the Company
or (ii) the date on which our Shares cease to be listed on the Stock
Exchange (except for temporary suspension of trading of our Shares).

Annual Review

The Covenantors have confirmed that they did not refer, or to procure
the referral of, any investment or commercial opportunities relating
to the Restricted Business to the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2023.

The Company has received a written confirmation from each of the
Covenantors in respect of the compliance by them and their close
associates with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition. Upon
receipt of confirmation letters from the Controlling Shareholders,
the independent non-executive Directors have conducted review
as part of the annual review procedures. The independent
non-executive Directors have assessed whether the Covenantors
and their close associates have complied with the terms of the
Deed of Non-Competition, and were satisfied that each of the
Covenantors has complied with its/his undertakings under the Deed
of Non-Competition during the year ended December 31, 2023.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with “related parties” as
defined under the applicable accounting standards.

There were no other discloseable non-exempted connected
transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction under
the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the date of this Annual
Report.

None of the “Related Party Transactions” as disclosed in Note 36
to the consolidated financial statements for the Year constituted a
discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or a non-exempted
continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules.
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To the extent that the above “Related Party Transactions” constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had complied with the
relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during
the Year.

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended December 31, 2023 are disclosed in note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company,
or one of its subsidiaries, and any of its Controlling Shareholders
or their respective subsidiaries and no contract of significance was
entered into for the services provided to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by the Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
during the year ended December 31, 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

Other than those transactions disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group in this Annual Report and in the
paragraph headed “Directors’ Interests in Competing Business” in
this section, no Director or Controlling Shareholder of the Company
or entity associated with a Director has any material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the Group’s business to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent companies were a party
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended
December 31, 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or subsisted during the year ended December 31, 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to Article 191 of the Articles of Association and subject
to Cayman Islands Company Law, the Directors are entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any
act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duty as a Director, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain
through their own dishonesty, wilful default or fraud. The Company
has arranged appropriate directors’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors of the Group.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management members receive
compensation from the Company in the form of salaries, bonuses and
other benefits in kind such as contributions to pension plans.

The Directors’ remuneration for the year ended December 31, 2023 as
well as information on the five highest paid individuals, please refer to
notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our Board will review and determine the remuneration and
compensation packages of the Directors and senior management and
will receive recommendation from our remuneration committee of the
Board (the “Remuneration Committee”) which will take into account
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the Company.

Certain Directors waived their remuneration during the year ended
December 31, 2023, please refer to note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

During the Reporting Period, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any Director or any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.
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EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The remuneration of the Group’s employees is mainly determined
based on prevailing market level of remuneration and the individual
performance and work experience of employees.

The remuneration policies of the executive Directors and senior
management of the Company are determined with reference to various
factors including (i) the Group’s actual operation; (ii) remuneration of
industry peers; (iii) position and duty of executive Directors; and (iv)
adjustment of organisational structure, and are reviewed annually in
order to offer a reasonable remuneration package to attract, retain
and motivate the Directors and senior management to serve the
Group. The fee of independent non-executive Directors is determined
with reference to their respective duty and responsibility in the
Company and is reviewed annually.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group’s total staff costs
(excluding Directors’ remuneration) amounted to RMB26,664,000,
including salaries, wages, allowances and benefits.

The Group’s long-term growth depends on the expertise and
experience of our employees. The Group mainly recruits through
on-campus recruitment, experienced hire and online recruitment.

In addition, the Group has adopted a Share Option Scheme (as
defined below) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible persons who contribute to the success of the Group’s
continual operation and development.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had a total of 384 employees.
The Group has established a comprehensive training system for our
employees, based on their responsibilities, covering professional
knowledge, technical, operational and managerial skills, corporate
culture, internal control and other areas. Such programs are designed
to foster career development for our employees and thus to invest in
the future of the Group’s human resources.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFRHE

& R & % B B 3R
AEBERECHFHEIERETERTFHAT &
BEAXBRAR TFERTRE -

ARABAPTESRSREBAENFHEREIZZ
SEEZ HTEEAEEOEREERR: ()BT
EHFBMKT (NBTEZOBMC BE R(VAS
RERAES VYEASFHFERT URMH-EEERN
FHEBUANS RERABEESRSRITHA
ERFAEERB -BUFITESNHREREZRS
ARALATNBBREEAMEELEFHFHB -

BE2023F12A3MBLFE  REBNLETHACT
BREESHFM HARY26,664,000t BEHFE T
B RBURER-

FEBRNEREAENEENEREER -F&HE
TERARERE L SHE PLAENSTABE
’E -

o AEBERMABEREAEA(ERRTX) A%
FEEFELRERBERAMFEHERZEERAL
RERBRERK-

B ZE2023F12A31H L AEBEITH AE B384 ©
rEECRBEENBEAREZY —B2EMNE
R REHELENE BN EEREERE &
¥t - APEHEHEMBES - RFTZEEB EHER
EREENBELEERRE KMALEBANERMN
RRBRE

2023EEH TEAREERREEAT 93



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERHE

PENSION AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group offers our employees in the PRC salaries and makes
contributions to social insurance fund, including pension, medical,
unemployment, maternity and occupational injury insurance, and
housing provident fund for the Group’s employees. The Group has
joined a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all
employees in Hong Kong.

Pension Plans

The Group has the social pension plans (the “Social Pension Plans”)
for its employees arranged by local government labour and security
authorities. The Group makes contributions on a monthly basis to the
Social Pension Plans. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the Social
Pension Plans. Under such plans, the Group has no further obligation
beyond the contributions made. Accordingly, no forfeited contribution
under the Social Pension Plans is available to reduce the contribution
payable in future years.

The MPF Schemes

The Group operates a MPF Scheme under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees in Hong Kong who
are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the relevant income of employees in
Hong Kong and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme except for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions
forfeited when the employees leave employment prior to fully vesting
in such contributions, which can be used to reduce the amount of
future employer contributions or to offset against future administration
expenses or to refund to the Group, in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. Accordingly, no forfeited contribution under the
MPF Scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.
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Housing Provident Fund and Other Social Insurances

The Group has participated in defined social security contribution
schemes for its employees pursuant to the relevant laws and
regulations of the PRC. These include housing provident fund, basic
medical insurance, unemployment insurance, injury insurance and
maternity insurance. The Group makes monthly contributions to the
housing provident fund and other social insurances. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss on an accrual basis. The Group has no
further obligations beyond the contributions made.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the share option
scheme conditionally adopted by the Company through written
resolutions on October 21, 2019 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The
Share Option Scheme is subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules.

(a) Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Group to grant options to selected participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group. The Board
believes the Share Option Scheme will enable the Group
to reward our employees, our Directors and other selected
participants for their contributions to the Group. Given that our
Directors are entitled to determine the performance targets
to be achieved as well as the minimum period that an option
must be held before an option can be exercised on a case by
case basis, and that the exercise price of an option cannot in
any event fall below the price stipulated in the Listing Rules
or such higher price as may be fixed by our Directors, it is
expected that grantees of an option will make an effort to
contribute to the development of the Group so as to bring
about an increased market price of the Shares in order to
capitalize on the benefits of the options granted.
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(b)

Who may join

Our Directors may, at their absolute discretion, invite
any person belonging to any of the following classes of
participants, who our Board considers, in its sole discretion,
have contributed or will contribute to the Group (collectively
the “Eligible Participants”), to take up options to subscribe for
Shares:

(i) any directors (including executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors) and employees of any member of the Group;
and

(ii) any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors,
customers, suppliers, agents, business partners, joint
venture business partners, service providers of any
member of the Group.

For the purposes of the Share Option Scheme, the options
may be granted to any company wholly-owned by one or more
persons belonging to any of the above classes of Eligible
Participants. For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any
options by the Company for the subscription of Shares or
other securities of the Group to any person who falls within any
of the above classes of Eligible Participants shall not, by itself,
unless our Directors otherwise so determine, be construed as
a grant of option under the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the above class of Eligible Participants
to the grant of any option shall be determined by our Directors
from time to time on the basis of our Directors’ opinion as to
the Eligible Participants’ contribution to the development and
growth of the Group.
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(c) Maximum number of Shares

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group shall not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the aggregate of the Shares in issue as at the date
of approval of the Share Option Scheme, and such
10% limit represents 60,000,000 Shares (the “General
Scheme Limit”).

Subject to paragraph (i) above and without prejudice
to paragraph (iv) below, the Company may issue a
circular to its Shareholders and seek approval of
its Shareholders in a general meeting to extend the
General Scheme Limit provided that the total number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share options scheme of the Group shall
not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as of the date of
approval of the limit and, for the purpose of calculating
the limit, options (including those outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group) previously granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group will not be counted. The circular
sent by the Company to its Shareholders shall contain,
among other information, the information required
under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the
disclaimer required under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing
Rules.
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(d)

(iv) Subject to paragraph (i) above and without prejudice
to paragraph (iii) above, the Company may seek
separate Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting
to grant options beyond the General Scheme Limit or, if
applicable, the extended limit referred to in paragraph
(iii) above to participants specifically identified by
the Company before such approval is sought. In
such event, the Company must send a circular to its
Shareholders containing a general description of the
identified participants, the number and terms of options
to be granted, the purpose of granting options to the
identified participants with an explanation as to how
the terms of the options serve such purpose and all
other information required under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the
Listing Rules and the disclaimer required under Rule
17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.

(v) The exercise of any option shall be subject to our
Shareholders in general meeting approving any increase
in the authorised share capital of our Company. Subject
thereto, our Board shall make available sufficient
authorised but unissued share capital of our Company
for purpose of allotment of shares upon exercise of
option(s).

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group (including both exercised and outstanding options)
to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time
being (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options to
a participant in aggregate in excess of the Individual Limit
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such
further grant shall be subject to the issue of a circular to
our Shareholders and our Shareholders’ approval in general
meeting of the Company with such participant and his close
associates abstaining from voting. The number and terms
(including the exercise price) of options to be granted to
such participant must be fixed before Shareholders’ approval
and the date of board meeting for proposing such further
grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the exercise price under note to Rule 17.03(9) of
the Listing Rules.
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(e)

f)

Time of acceptance and exercise of option

An option may be accepted by a participant to whom the offer
is made within five (5) business days from the date on which
the letter containing the offer is delivered to that participant.
An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by our Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end
in any event not later than ten (10) years from the date of grant
of the option subject to the provisions for early termination
under the Share Option Scheme. Unless otherwise determined
by our Directors and stated in the offer of the grant of options
to a grantee, there is no minimum period required under the
Share Option Scheme for the holding of an option before it
can be exercised.

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted and the
option to which the offer relates shall be deemed to have been
granted and to have taken effect when the duplicate of the
offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed
by the grantee with the number of Shares in respect of which
the offer is accepted clearly stated therein, together with a
remittance in favor of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of
consideration for the grant thereof, which must be received by
the Company within five (5) business days from the date on
which the offer letter is delivered to the grantee.

Subscription price for Shares and consideration for
the option

The subscription price per Share under the Share Option
Scheme will be a price determined by our Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the
offer of grant, which must be a business day;

(e)

)
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(ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five (5)
business days immediately preceding the date of the
offer of grant (provided that in the event that any option
is proposed to be granted within a period of less than
five (5) business days after the trading of the Shares
first commences on the Stock Exchange, the new issue
price of the Shares for the Global Offering (as defined in
the prospectus of the Company date October 30, 2019)
shall be used as the closing price for any business day
falling within the period before listing of the Shares on
the Stock Exchange); and

(iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.

(9) Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be effective for a period of ten
(10) years commencing from the date of adoption until October
20, 2029.

As of December 31, 2023, no option had been granted under
the Share Option Scheme.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS BREHABE

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in this Annual Report, RAFHRAEABREST B BE20235F12H31H
no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or LtHEE AEBIETYIREHNNHBEIEBG =
subsisted during the year ended December 31, 2023. MREM -

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS FEEFRRMESE

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group’s revenue from its HZ2023F12A31ALEE AEBRAEFHWK
five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s BEAEBRFEHLABEI0% U T o & £2023F 12
total revenue for the Year. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the ABMBLEE REAKEEEAEES 2 KBEMALLX
Group’s purchase amount from its five largest suppliers accounted for EEAFERBREIOWUT REABBEER A
less than 30% of the Group’s total purchase amount for the Year. The BASEE SO FTEREPRMERMMIEHERRE
information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable HWERMT :

to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the financial

year is as follows:

Percentage of the Group’s total
*EEFRGUTHEAES R

Suppliers
(primarily

raw material
providers and

labor force

Sales companies)

HEG(EEHR

HES#ERAR

#He SEHhaH)

The largest customer BREP 8% N/A 7+ & F
Five largest customers in aggregate BREFAEF 23% N/A 1~ & F
The largest supplier BAMER N/A T+ & H 3%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AEREEREE N/A 7 3& A 10%
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None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of issued share capital of the Company) had any interest in
the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended December 31, 2028.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the law of Cayman Islands being the jurisdiction in
which the Company was incorporated, under which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code for dealing
in securities in the Company by the Directors. The Directors have
confirmed compliance with the required standard set out in the Model
Code from January 1, 2023 to the date of this Annual Report.

The Company’s employees, who are likely to be in possession
of inside information of the Company, have also been subject
to the Model Code for securities transactions. No incident of
non-compliance of the Model Code by the Company’s employees
was noted by the Company from January 1, 2023 to the date of this
Annual Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company had applied the principles and code provisions as
set out in the Corporate Governance Code and has complied with
the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code during the
year from January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023, except for the
deviation from the Corporate Governance Code provision C.2.1.
Corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out
in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this Annual
Report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) has
reviewed the accounting principles and policies adopted by the
Group and discussed the Group’s risk management, internal
controls and financial reporting matters with the management. The
Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023.

AUDITOR

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2023 have been audited by Ernst & Young (“EY”). EY
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. A resolution for the
re-appointment of EY as the Company’s auditor is to be proposed at
the Annual General Meeting. The Company did not change its auditor
since its listing.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Group has obtained a new long-term bank facility of
RMB800,000,000 from China Construction Bank Corporation Huailai
Sub Branch which was guaranteed by properties and controlling
shareholder on January 12, 2024 and withdrew RMB440,000,000 as
at the report date.

By order of the Board
China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited

Li Baotian
Chairman of the Board and Executive Director

March 28, 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the Corporate Governance Code as its code of corporate
governance.

The Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code during the year ended
December 31, 2023 and up to the date of this Annual Report (the
“Relevant Period”), except for the deviation from the Corporate
Governance Code provision C.2.1. The Directors will do their best
to procure the Company to comply with the Corporate Governance
Code on a continuous basis.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code,
the roles between the chairman and the chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr.
Li Baotian has been serving as the chairman of the Board and the
chief executive officer of the Company during the Relevant Period.
However, the Board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman
of the Board and chief executive officer in the same person has
the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and
enables more efficient overall strategic planning for the Group.

Our Board considers that the balance of power and authority for
the present arrangement will not be impaired and this structure will
enable our Company to make and implement decisions promptly and
effectively. The Board will continue to review and consider splitting
the roles of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the
Company at a time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into
account the circumstances of the Group as a whole.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The functions and duties of our Board include determining business
and investment plans, formulating our annual budget and final
accounts, and formulating our proposals for profit distributions and
for the increase or reduction of registered capital. In addition, our
Board is responsible for exercising other powers, functions and duties
in accordance with the Articles of Association and all applicable laws
and regulations, including the Listing Rules.

The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to
these Board committees’ various power and responsibilities as set
out in their respective terms of reference which are published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Board’s main corporate governance duties include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the corporate governance
report.

The operation and management of Group’s property development
and construction contracting businesses, the market development,
the daily administration of the Group and the financial and fund
management of the Group are delegated to the senior management
of the Group. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board held 2 Board meetings to:

(i) consider and approve the annual audited financial statements,
annual results announcement and annual report for the year
ended December 31, 2022;

(i) consider and approve the unaudited financial statements,
interim results announcement and interim report for the six
months ended June 30, 2023;

During the Reporting Period, the Board had reviewed and monitored
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance,
reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, reviewed and
monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, reviewed and monitored the code
of conduct applicable to employees and Directors, and reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
made disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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BOARD COMPOSITION EERREMK

The Board currently comprises nine members, consisting of six EERBABHANEBEREAN BEANBHATESER
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. ZEBYHBTES REBHSAB EERAUTE
During the Relevant Period, the Board comprised the following EARK:

Directors:

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Li Baotian (the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer) TREBEE(EEREREFTHAESR)

Ms. Shen Lifeng REBRZL

Ms. Wang Xinling EFHBR L

Mr. Li Yaruixin ThnERRE

Ms. Wang Huijie 2Rzt

Mr. Zang Lin R K&

Independent Non-executive Directors BUAFBTESE

Mr. Hou Liang BRxE

Mr. Li Qingxu ZEFEMREE

Mr. Li Xu TMEE

During the Relevant Period, the Company has maintained at REESRE AARESEFLEMmHAEIA0(N)K £
least three independent non-executive Directors (representing at 310Q2) M KR E310A% BT ELP=EBILHHTE
least one-third of the Board) and at least one of the independent EHEERABAEBLP=92 KRB —FEH
non-executive Directors with appropriate professional qualifications or BEBEXERSEN B HNBNBEEESTEANRN
accounting or related financial management expertise, in accordance BYFHITES -

with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Li Baotian (Chairman of the Board, executive Director and chief ZREBEE(EEREE HITEEREAQATHA
executive officer of the Company) is the father of Mr. Li Yaruixin HAZTTDEELEEFTES)INRBREHL L
(executive Director) and uncle-in-law of Ms. Wang Xinling (executive (BITEE)INEL Rz EEFHEZHEE
Director). Other than this, there are no financial, business, family or B - ER RESEHMEKRBR-

other material relationship among members of the Board.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board members level
as an essential factor in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the Board’s
composition, the Board members diversity has been considered from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will
be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on
the Board members.

The nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination
Committee”) will select its members among the Board in accordance
with the Company's Nomination Policy and with reference to
the Board members diversity policy. The Nomination Committee
will report annually, in the Corporate Governance Report, on the
Board’s composition under diversified perspectives, and monitor the
implementation and effectiveness of the policy.
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The analysis on diverse composition of the Group’s Directors as at
December 31, 2023 is as follows:
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R2023F12A3M A, AEBEESZS T LARDI MU T:

Number of Years of
Directors Position Gender Age range service Principal roles and responsibilities Skills and knowledge
EFAR  Rf : 3] FRERN BHER TERERMER RERDR
Overall strategy, business development
1 Mal 60-70 36-40 and management
ale o .
B ERRE RBARREE Property development and construction
) 16-20 contracting
3 35.45 Operation and business management FHERRRERAE
Executive 2105 EEREREE
4 Director
HTES
Female Management of securities market, Law, investment and financial
5 2 0-5 investment and financing management and corporate management
50-60 %#?ﬁ%ﬁg‘}ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ /ﬁ&‘&ﬁ&@ﬁ%@ﬂ&ﬁ%%@
6 2105 Administrative management Corporate management
TRER rEER
Accounting, commercial and financial
7 education, human capital
45-60 gﬁ‘ﬁ%&ﬁﬂﬁ%‘)\ﬂﬁﬁ-‘
Independent o .
) Male Providing independent advice on »
non-executive . Government authorities management
8 , M 0-5 operations and management N
Director BEEREEELEYE BREPMER
BUFHTES o ,
Property, construction, corporate
9 60-70 management
EHE BE LEER

The Company recognises the importance of gender diversity and
recruits employees at all levels based on merits and regardless of
gender in order to ensure there is a pipeline of male and female
potential successors to the Board and the senior management.

Currently, our senior management comprises five male and four

female colleagues.

The Group has a total of 384 employees, 104 of them are female, 280
of them are male. All employees in the Group have a fair opportunity

in the workplace.

RAARAZBIMBNSTCNEEZEN I RBEEER
BmAwmMEBBEERETI  UBERESRERSR
EEBEEMRLMECRIEERB -RE  HMAN
EREEEER LA NROE LRS-

AEEHABERERES84E - HF104F5 /LM% 2808 5
EH-AEEXBEENIFSMYZELITHE -
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Based on the latest review, the Nomination Committee considers the
Board members to be diverse in respect of the aforesaid evaluation
criteria. The Nomination Committee has considered but decided
not to set any measurable objectives for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee will continue to ensure
that diversity is taken into consideration when assessing Board
composition.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the requirement on
structure, composition and diversity of the Board during the Reporting
Period. The Nomination Committee confirmed that the Company has
met the requirement on balance and sufficiency of the Board.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors actively participate in Board
meetings to bring independent judgement and make independent
recommendations on the operation and management of the Group.

They will make decisions aiming to protect all Shareholders’ interests
where potential conflicts of interests of other Directors arise. They
serve as members of various Board committees and will scrutinise the
performance of the Group in achieving agreed corporate goals and
objectives and also monitor performance reporting.

The Company has received confirmations from each of independent
non-executive Directors made in respect of their independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has
assessed the independence of all the independent non-executive
Directors based on the Listing Rules and considered that all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

On October 21, 2019, each of Mr. Li Xu and Mr. Li Qingxu, being
our independent non-executive Directors, has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from November 11, 2019. After communication between
the management of the Group with Mr. Li Xu and Mr. Li Qingxu
respectively, pursuant to the letter of appointment, both parties
agreed to implement the renewal arrangement in accordance with
the original letter of appointment for a service period of three years in
2022. On October 21, 2022, Mr. Hou Liang has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from October 21, 2022, which are subject to renewal in accordance
with the Articles of Association and the applicable laws, rules and
regulations.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established five Board committees with defined
scope of duties in writing. These Board committees are the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee,
the investment decision committee of the Board (the “Investment

Decision Committee”) and the strategic planning committee of the
Board (the “Strategic Planning Committee”).

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to

obtain independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances

at the expense of the Company if they consider necessary.

(1)

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are to review and supervise our financial reporting process
and internal control system of the Group, oversee the audit
process, provide advice and comments to our Board and
perform other duties and responsibilities as may be assigned
by our Board.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely Mr.
Hou Liang, Mr. Li Qingxu and Mr. Li Xu and all of them are
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Li Xu possesses
the appropriate accounting and related financial management
expertise. The chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Li Xu.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had
conducted annual review on the Group’s risk management
and internal control system and monitoring and auditing
procedures. The Audit Committee had advised the Board
on the risk management and internal control system and
monitoring and auditing procedures.
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For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Audit Committee
held three meetings, two of which were held with the
Company's external auditor to discuss and review the
auditing plan, accounting standards and policies adopted in
the financial results and report, reviewed the annual results
and annual report for the year ended December 31, 2022.
Meanwhile, the Audit Committee held a meeting separately to
review the interim results and interim report for the six months
ended June 30, 2023. The attendance record of individual
Directors at the Audit Committee meetings is set out in the
section headed “Directors’ Attendance Record at Meetings”
below.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee
with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee are to establish, review and
make recommendations to our Directors on our policy and
structure concerning remuneration of our Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policies concerning such
remuneration, determine the terms of the specific remuneration
package of each executive Director and senior management
and review and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives.

The Remuneration Committee consists of five members,
namely Mr. Li Qingxu (an independent non-executive Director),
Mr. Hou Liang (an independent non-executive Director), Mr. Li
Xu (an independent non-executive Director), Ms. Wang Xinling
(an executive Director) and Mr. Li Yaruixin (an executive
Director). The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr.
Li Qingxu.
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee had
assessed the performance of executive Directors, reviewed
and discussed on the remuneration package of executive
Directors, remuneration of independent non-executive
Directors and the arrangement of the existing share option
scheme. It also reviewed the remuneration policy of all
Directors and senior management and its implementation. The
Remuneration Committee had reported to the Board on the
business works and work performance of Directors and senior
management, and made recommendation to the Board on the
adjustment to salary of Directors and senior management.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
had conducted annual review on the remuneration of Directors
and senior management with reference to the remuneration
policy of Directors and senior management of the Group. The
Remuneration Committee had made recommendation to the
Board in respect of the results of the annual review.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to discuss the performance of all
Directors and senior management. The attendance record of
individual Directors at the Remuneration Committee meeting
is set out in the section headed “Directors’ Attendance Record
at Meetings” below.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code. The primary duties of the Nomination
Committee are to review the structure, size and composition
of our Board on a regular basis and make recommendations
to the Board regarding any changes to the composition of our
Board, identify, select or make recommendations to our Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorship,
and ensure the diversity of our Board members, assess the
independence of our independent non-executive Directors
and make recommendations to our Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
our Directors and succession planning for our Directors.

The Nomination Committee consists of five members,
namely Mr. Li Baotian (an executive Director), Mr. Hou
Liang (an independent non-executive Director), Mr. Li Xu
(an independent non-executive Director), Ms. Shen Lifeng
(an executive Director) and Mr. Li Qingxu (an independent
non-executive Director). The chairman of the Nomination
Committee is Mr. Li Baotian.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee
had conducted regular review on the structure, size and
composition of the Board, made recommendation to the Board
on re-election of Board members with reference to the Board
diversity policy and Nomination Policy of Directors of the
Company, and assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee
assessed the Nomination Policy during the Relevant Period,
the Board comprises nine Directors, among which, three
of them are female. Our senior management comprises of
nine members, among which, four of them are female. The
Nomination Committee believed the board diversity in all
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural/
educational and professional background, skills, knowledge
and experience are effective and properly implemented.
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The Nomination Committee will review the implementation of
the Nomination Policy, including the mechanisms for ensuring
independent views and input are available to the Board
annually. All Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are given opportunities to include matters in
the agenda for regular Board meetings. If a substantial
Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the matter should be dealt with
by a physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution.
Independent non-executive Directors who, and whose
associates, have no material interest in the transaction should
be present at that Board meeting. All Directors are entitled
to seek advice from independent professional advisers at the
Company's expense. The Nomination Committee considers
that the implementation of above mechanisms is effective.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to carry out discussion on
improvement of professional knowledge and skills of Directors
and assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

The attendance record of individual Directors at the
Nomination Committee meeting is set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Attendance Record at Meetings” below.

Investment Decision Committee

The primary duties of the Investment Decision Committee
are to supervise the performance of the previous investment
projects of the Company; assess and supervise the
proposed investment projects of the Company and make
recommendations on risk prevention of such projects; study
and review the investment projects for future development of
the Company and make recommendations to the Board in this
regard; and other matters as authorised by the Board.
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The Investment Decision Committee consists of ten members,
namely Mr. Li Baotian (an executive Director), Ms. Shen
Lifeng (an executive Director), Ms. Wang Xinling (an executive
Director), Mr. Li Yaruixin (an executive Director), Ms. Wang
Huijie (an executive Director), Mr. Zang Lin (an executive
Director), Mr. Hou Liang (an independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Li Xu (an independent non-executive Director),
Ms. Liu Dandan (senior management) and Mr. Li Zhengmao.
The chairman of the Investment Decision Committee is Mr. Li
Baotian.

During the Relevant Period, the Investment Decision
Committee did not hold any meeting.

Strategic Planning Committee

The primary duties of the Strategic Planning Committee are
to conduct research on the Company’s mid-term to long-term
strategic development plans and make recommendations;
review, supervise, amend and supplement the Company’s
mid-term to long-term strategic development plans and make
recommendations to the Board in this regard; review and
supervise the implementation of the Company’s strategies and
make recommendations; conduct research on material matters
related to future development direction of the Company
(including but not limited to future development planning,
development objectives, business strategies and operation
guidelines) and make recommendations; and other matters as
authorised by the Board.

The Strategic Planning Committee consists of eight members,
namely Mr. Li Baotian (an executive Director), Ms. Shen
Lifeng (an executive Director), Ms. Wang Xinling (an executive
Director), Mr. Li Yaruixin (an executive Director), Ms. Wang
Huijie (an executive Director), Mr. Zang Lin (an executive
Director), Mr. Hou Liang (an independent non-executive
Director) and Mr. Li Qingxu (an independent non-executive
Director). The chairman of the Strategic Planning Committee is
Mr. Li Baotian.
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During the Relevant Period, the Strategic Planning Committee
held two meetings in relation to:

1. Taking the national development plan of the senior
care industry and the current situation of the senior
care market in the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region into
consideration, the Strategic Planning Committee
adjusted the overall positioning, operational approach
and marketing model of the Jingbei Health City project.

2. Based on the current economic and real estate data,
the Strategic Planning Committee made basic analysis
and determination on the current situation of real estate
development and seek strategies for the transformation
of the real estate market to achieve stable and healthy
development

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Our Directors and senior management receive compensation from our
Company in the form of salaries, bonuses and other benefits in kind
such as contributions to pension plans.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the expenses incurred by
the Company in relation to remuneration (including fees, salaries,
allowances, benefits in kind, pension schemes contributions
and social welfare) for our Directors are detailed in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company incurred expenses in relation to remuneration (including
fees, salaries, allowances, benefits in kind, pension schemes
contributions and social welfare) for five highest paid individuals
(including our Directors) for the year ended December 31, 2023 of
approximately RMB3,122,000.

Pursuant to provision E.1.5 of the Corporate Governance Code,
details of the remuneration of the members of the senior management
(other than Directors) by remuneration band for the year ended
December 31, 2023 are as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS

The number of Board meeting, Audit Committee meeting,
Remuneration Committee meeting, Nomination Committee meeting,
Strategic Planning Committee meeting and the Annual General
Meeting of the Company held for the period from January 1, 2023
to December 31, 2023 and the attendance record of each individual
Director are set out in the following table:

EFHFEEMEs

H2023F1HA1H L £2023F12A31HLBHE &2
AETHNESRER EREECER FHNEZES
22 REZESSE BERIZESZEINRE
FRRBEAEEZAERZTESHEHELHEYH
RT&:

Attendance/
Attendance/ Attendance/ Attendance/ Number of
Number of Number of Number of Strategic Attendance/
Attendance/ Audit Remuneration Nomination Planning Number of
Number of Committee Committee Committee Committee Annual General
Directors Board Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
HERE/ HEXB,/ HERE/ HERE/ HERE/ HERE/
EER EUZAE FHZzAe REZAE BRANEZRE BREEXE
EF 1 1 E3 1 1 E3 BERY BERY BERH 1 1 E3
Executive Directors
BiTES
Mr. Li Baotian 2/2 N/A N/A 11 212 11
TRELE TEA TEA
Ms. Shen Lifeng 212 N/A N/A 11 2/2 11
REBLT TEA TER
Ms. Wang Xinling 212 N/A 11 N/A 2/2 11
IFkat TER TEA
Mr. Li Yaruixin 2/2 N/A 11 N/A 212 11
FLEERE TER TER
Ms. Wang Huijie 2/2 N/A N/A N/A 2/2 11
I8Aat TEA TER TER
Mr. Zang Lin 212 N/A N/A N/A 2/2 11
HELE TER TEA TER
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFUTEE
Mr. Hou Liang 212 213 17 11 2/2 11
BREE
Mr. Li Qingxu 2/2 2/3 11 11 212 11
TEREE
Mr. Li Xu 2/2 33 11 11 N/A 11
THEE TER
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For the year ended December 31, 2023, the chairman of the Board
held one meeting with the independent non-executive Directors
without the executive Directors present. During the Relevant Period,
the Company held the annual general meeting on May 25, 2023.

NOMINATION POLICY

(i) Objectives
The Nomination Committee assists the Board in making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors. This policy
provides the key selection criteria and principles of the
Nomination Committee in making any such recommendations.

(ii)  Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors
which are not exhaustive in assessing the proposed candidate
and make recommendations regarding the appointment of
Directors or re-appointment of existing Board member(s):

(a) Integrity;

(b) Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the
related businesses and other relevant industry;

(c) Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interests held
and attention to the businesses of the Company;

(d) Board diversity in all aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural/educational and professional
background, skills, knowledge and experience;

(e) Ability to assist and support the management and
make a significant contribution to the success of the
Company;

(f) Compliance with the criteria of independence, in case
for the appointment of an independent non-executive
Director, as prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules; and

(9) Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.
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The appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or
re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall
be made in accordance with the Articles of Association and
other applicable rules and regulations.

(iii) Nomination Procedures

(a) The secretary of the Company shall convene a meeting,
and invite nominations of candidates from Board
members (if any), for consideration by the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee may also
nominate candidates for its consideration;

(b) For the appointment of any proposed candidate
to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall
undertake adequate due diligence in respect of such
individual and make recommendations for the Board’s
consideration and approval,

(c) For the re-appointment of any existing member(s)
of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board for its consideration
and recommendation, for the proposed candidates to
stand for re-election at a general meeting; and

(d) The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand
for election at a general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

To ensure that every newly appointed Director has a proper
understanding of the operations and business of the Group and that
he/she is appropriately aware of the operations and business of the
Company and his/her responsibilities under relevant laws, regulations,
rules and requirements, every newly appointed Director will receive
the necessary induction training and information.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Directors were provided
with monthly updates on the performance and status of the Company,
so that the Board as a whole and each Director can perform their
duties.
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Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 set out in the Corporate Governance
Code, all Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills, so as
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The issuer should be responsible for arranging and funding
suitable training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of a listed company director. The Company
encourages the Directors to participate in continuous professional
development. The training record of each Director for the year ended
December 31, 2023 is as follows:
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Confirm reading Training on
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Executive Directors
BITESE
Mr. Li Baotian (the Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer) Yes Yes Yes
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Ms. Shen Lifeng Yes Yes Yes
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Ms. Wang Xinling Yes Yes Yes
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For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Directors’ trainings of
the Company were conducted by SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited, Central Share Registrar, Tricor, Credit Suisse
Financial Management, Hong Kong Jia Yuan team, Hong Kong Share
Registrar. The Directors’ trainings cover the following matters: (i)
employee share incentive scheme - in-depth research and analysis
of market development in Greater China and outlook of future trends;
(ii) the consultation paper on climate information disclosure under
the enhanced ESG framework published by the Stock Exchange; (iii)
the Board of listed companies in Hong Kong; (iv) seminar on market
outlook for the second half of 2023; (v) guidance letter on the basis
of consideration and business valuation disclosure in notifiable
transactions; and (vi) expanding paperless listing mechanism.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, each of the Directors
had confirmed that they have read the directors’ duties and
responsibilities information, including the online training seminars for
directors provided by the Stock Exchange.

According to code provision C.1.4 contained in the Corporate
Governance Code, all Directors are required to provide the Company
with a record of their trainings to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.
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AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor for audit
services and non-audit services are set out below:
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2023

# F2023F
12A31HLEEE
RMB’000

AR® T

Audit services ERRB
Non-audit fees *kEZEH

1,600

Total &t

1,600

COMPANY SECRETARY AND PROFESSIONAL
TRAINING

Directors have access to the services of our company secretary to
ensure that the Board procedures are followed. From January 1, 2023
to December 31, 2023, Mr. Liu Tsz Kit is the company secretary of
the Company.

In order to comply with the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules, during the year ended December 31, 2023, Mr. Liu Tsz Kit had
attended relevant professional trainings for not less than 15 hours.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company had adopted the Model Code as a code for Directors to
deal in securities of the Company on terms no less exacting than the
required standards set out in the Model Code. After making specific
enquiries to all Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they had
complied with the standards required by the Model Code during the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors confirm their responsibilities for preparing the
Company’s financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2023. The Board is responsible for disclosing the financial
information in the Group’s annual reports in accordance with the
Listing Rules, Companies Law and other regulatory requirements,
and making a balanced, clear, accessible and well-founded review
on the Company’s performance. The Company’s senior management
has provided such explanations and information to the Board when
necessary, so that the Board can make an informed assessment of
the Company’s financial and business conditions before put it for
approval.

RESPONSIBILITY OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR
FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare the
accounts, that is, to prepare the Company’s consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis in accordance with IFRSs and
the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) so
as to truly and fairly reflect the Group’s performance, financial and
business conditions and prospects.

As at December 31, 2023, the Group’s current portion of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings amounted to
RMB540,562,000, while its cash and cash equivalents amounted
to RMB187,924,000 and its net current liabilities amounted to
RMB165,023,000. USD39,870,000 (equivalent to RMB279,562,000) of
the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings was due and unpaid
as at the report date. In view of the volatility of the property market in
China, coupled with the limited source of financing from the capital
market, the Group may take longer time than expected to realise cash
from the sale of its properties, and the proceeds from construction
contracting and/or have the cash from external financing to meet its
loan repayment obligations.
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In view of the above circumstances, the Directors have given careful
consideration to the Group’s future liquidity requirements, operating
performance and available sources of financing in assessing the
Group’s ability to operate as a going concern. The following plans
and measures are formulated to manage the working capital and
improve the financial position of the Group:

(a) The Group continues to generate positive operating cash flows
for the next twelve months by implementing various strategies
to improve the Group’s income from construction contracting
services and property development and other services to
generate additional operating cash inflows and putting extra
efforts on the collection of outstanding trade receivables and
contract assets;

(b) The Group is actively reviewing its debt structure and
looking for funding opportunities; the Group has obtained a
new long-term bank facility of RMB800,000,000 which was
guaranteed by properties and controlling shareholder on
January 12, 2024 and withdrew RMB440,000,000 as of the
report date.

(c) The Group continues to monitor capital expenditure to
balance and relieve cash resource to support operations and
take action to tighten cost controls over various operating
expenses;

(d) The Group continues to identify suitable investors and engage
in discussions with certain potential investors on possible
investments in certain property development projects to raise
additional capital.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast covering
a period of twelve months from the end of the reporting period. They
are of the opinion that, taking into account of the above-mentioned
plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital to
finance its operations and meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the directors
believe it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023 on a
going concern basis.
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The statements of the Directors and the Company’s auditors
regarding their reporting responsibilities to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements are set out in the independent auditor’s report on
pages 135 to 145 of this Annual Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for continuously monitoring and reviewing
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
of the Group to safeguard the assets of the Group and the overall
interests of Shareholders. The Group will review annually and ensure
that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
continuously effective and adequate. The risk management and
internal control systems of the Group are designed to manage rather
than eliminate risks of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Company has an internal audit function
in place, which can effectively analyze and independently assess
the adequacy of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, and report its findings to the Board on an annual basis. For
principal risks faced by the Group, please refer to the section headed
“Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in “Directors’ Report” in this
Annual Report.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems include
relevant organizational framework policies, risk management
policies and risk control procedures. These systems are designed
to manage the risks faced by the Group, which are mainly the
Group’s operational risks, legal risks and liquidity risks. Relevant risk
management and internal control systems include:

(i) Our Board is responsible for and has general powers over the
management and conduct of the business of the Group. Any
significant operational decisions involving material risks, such
as decisions to expand into new geographic regions or to incur
significant corporate finance transactions, are required to be
reviewed, analyzed and approved at the Board level to ensure
a thorough examination of the associated risks by our highest
corporate governance body.

(ii) The legal and audit department of the Group is responsible
for proposing risk management strategies, formulating
policies on risk management, coordinating and preparing
risk management assessments and reports, guiding all
departments on relevant tasks and conducting all training
sessions in risk management. It is also in charge of designing
a comprehensive risk evaluation system and supervising the
implementation of risk management measures.
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(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

Each of the Group’s functional departments is in charge
of the daily business operations and risk monitoring, and
is responsible for the supervision of respective fields
of operations. Each department is also responsible for
formulating its own risk management strategies and rectifying
any deviations in the implementation of such strategies.

The Group has established and implemented enhanced
internal control policies relating to its project management,
sub-contracting, invoicing, payment, and authorization
controls.

Internal control policies and procedures have been revised by
the Group to implement internal control measures such that
the construction planning department of the Group will be
responsible for applying construction work planning permit and
construction work commencement permit, and will, together
with the cost and procurement department and construction
management department, prepare and submit the plan for use
of funds to senior management for approval. Weekly meetings
will be held by the project management department to prepare
and submit the project progress report to the construction
management department and senior management.

The Group’s internal policies and procedures have been
revised at regular intervals so that it is stated clearly that
pre-sales can only be carried out with the pre-sales permits,
and the engineering planning department will be responsible
for applying for pre-sales permits and will regularly report to
the Company’s senior management of the progress.

The Group has adopted internal policies and procedures for
various aspects of operations. The Group provides training
to our employees in order to enhance their knowledge of our
corporate culture, with a view to better managing the Group’s
operational and market risks.
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(viii  To safeguard the interests of our Company and the
Shareholders as a whole, the Company has put in place
internal approval and monitoring procedures relating to
our continuing connected transactions, which include the

following:

a. the Group will offer the same pricing terms to all
material suppliers, service providers or tenants and
no preferential terms shall be provided to the material
suppliers, service providers or tenants who are the
Group’s connected persons;

b. the Group has formulated and implemented the internal
guidelines according to the Listing Rules, which provide
approval procedures for connected transactions,
including mechanism to avoid conflict of interest; and

(o} our independent non-executive Directors conduct an
annual review of our continuing connected transactions
and provide annual confirmations in accordance
with the Listing Rules that the terms of the relevant
agreements are fair and reasonable, on normal
commercial terms or better and in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group, and the relevant
agreements are in the interests of our Company and
the Shareholders as a whole.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal risk management and
monitoring systems (including internal control) to ensure that the
management maintains and operates a sound system in accordance
with agreed procedures and standards. The Board has conducted
an annual review which covers all major controls, including financial
monitoring, operational monitoring, compliance monitoring and risk
management functions. The Board has confirmed on the effectiveness
of the Company’s processes for financial reporting and Listing
Rules compliance. The Board has confirmed that the Company’s
resources in terms of accounting and financial reporting functions
and internal auditors, qualifications and experience of employees
and training courses received by employees and related budgets
as well as those relating to the Company’s ESG performance and
reporting are sufficient. This review was made after discussions
with the Company’s management and its internal auditors, and the
assessment was performed by the Audit Committee. The Board
confirms that the internal risk management and internal control
systems of the Company and the internal audit function through
discussion with the Audit Committee are effective and adequate.
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INTERNAL AUDIT

The Company has established an internal audit function. The main
responsibility of the internal audit function is to assist the Board
and the Company’s senior management in the protection of the
Company’s property, reputation and sustainable development. The
internal audit function provides independent and objective verification
of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s
risk management, monitoring and governance process framework
as formulated and stated by the Company’s management. The
Company'’s internal audit function is independent of the Company’s
risk management and internal control systems.

The results of the internal audit work and the assessment results of
the Group’s overall risk management and monitoring framework are
reported to the Audit Committee where appropriate.

Before formally confirming the rectification of the problems found in
the audit, the internal audit function is also responsible for reviewing
the rectification plan proposed by the management of the Company
regarding the problems found in the audit, and verifying the adequacy
and effectiveness of the mitigation measures. During the year
ended December 31, 2023, the Audit Committee has reviewed the
responsibilities of the risk management and internal control systems
and the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the Group and
considered them effective and adequate.

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

With regard to the processing, procedures of release of inside
information and internal controls, the Company has complied with the
responsibilities under Part XIVA of SFO and the Listing Rules.

The Group has adopted a continuous disclosure compliance policy,
which sets out guidelines and procedures for the Directors and
management personnel of the Group to ensure that the inside
information of the Group is disclosed in a fair and timely manner.
The Group has implemented measures to keep the inside information
confidential. Once the inside information is leaked, the Company
will disclose it to the public immediately or apply for a trading halt
or suspension of trading in its securities. The Group holds regular
trainings for Directors and management personnel to assist them in
understanding and complying with relevant policies.
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WHISTLEBLOWING MECHANISM

The Company has established and from time to time updated the
whistleblowing policy. Under the whistleblowing policy, employees
of the Group and all related third parties who have business
relationships with the Group (including clients, suppliers, etc.) can
report any concern about possible improprieties in any matter related
to the Company, in confidence and anonymity, to the chairman of the
Audit Committee.

ANTI-CORRUPTION MEASURES

For policies and systems that promote and support anti-corruption
laws and regulations, please refer to the “Anti-corruption” section of
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance provides the framework within which the
Board makes decisions and conducts its business. The Board
focuses on creating long-term sustainable growth for Shareholders
and creating long-term value for all underlying stakeholders.
An effective corporate governance structure allows the Group
to have a better understanding of, evaluate and manage risks
and opportunities, including environmental and social risks and
opportunities. The Board is responsible for the effective governance
and oversight of environmental, social and governance matters, as
well as assessment and management of material environmental and
social risks. For details of the environmental, social and governance
for the year ended December 31, 2023, Environmental, Social and
Governance Report will be published on the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and on the website of the Company
(www.chinatbjt.com).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. Accordingly, when
considering the payment of dividends, it is necessary to obtain a
balance between sufficient reserves for the future development of the
Group and returns to the Shareholders.
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In considering the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board
will also take into account (among others):

a. the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

b. the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

(o}, the liquidity position of the Group;
d. the financial position of the Group;
e. the overall economic situation, the business cycle of the

Group’s business, and external factors that may affect the
future business and financial performance and condition of the

Group;
f. Shareholders’ interest;
g. any restriction on the dividend distribution; and
h. other factors the Board deems relevant.

The Board will continue to review this policy and reserve the right to
update, revise, modify and/or cancel this policy at any time in its sole
and absolute discretion. As at the date of this report, the Company
was not aware of any arrangements pursuant to which Shareholders
had waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each substantial
issue, including the re-election of individual Directors. Meanwhile,
the procedures for the Shareholders to (i) convene an extraordinary
general meeting; (ii) put forward proposals at general meetings; and (iii)
send their enquiries to the Board are available.

In accordance with Article 72 of the Articles of Association,
resolutions put to vote at any general meetings will be taken by poll
save that the chairman of the meeting may allow a resolution to be
voted on by a show of hands pursuant to the Listing Rules.

In addition, the poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange after the relevant general meeting.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, extraordinary general
meetings shall also be convened by one or more members of the
Company holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made
in writing to the Board or the secretary for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There is no single provision in the Articles of Association or the
Cayman Islands Companies Law for the Shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meetings. The Shareholders who wish to
propose a resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting in accordance with the procedures for Shareholders to
convene an extraordinary general meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board by Shareholders

Enquiries about the Company may be put to the Board by contacting
the Company or directly by raising the questions at an annual general
meeting or extraordinary general meeting of the Company. The
contact details of the Company are set out in the Company’s website
(www.chinatbjt.com).

Shareholders can contact the Company through the following
channels:

Address: No. 33, Guanyun East Road, Zhuozhou City, Hebei Province,
the PRC;

Telephone: (+86) 0312-3650258;

Email: zhongguotianbao@chinatbjt.com.
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Shareholders can also direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, whose address is Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

Rights on Appointment, Election and Removal of Directors

In accordance with Article 111 of the Articles of Association, the
Company may elect any person to be a director of the Company from
time to time by ordinary resolution in a general meeting to fill a casual
vacancy or as an additional to the existing Directors.

The Shareholders may remove any Director by ordinary resolution
before the expiration of his/her term of office in accordance with
Article 114 of the Articles of Association.

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, the Company
shall propose separate resolutions at general meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors.

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles of Association, if a shareholder
of the Company wishes to propose a person, other than a retiring
Director, or a person recommended by the Board of the Company
for election, as a Director at the general meeting, such shareholder
entitled to attend and vote at such general meeting, should lodge
a notice in writing of his/her intention to propose such person for
election together with the notice signed by the proposed person of
his/her willingness to be elected, at the Company’s place of business
in Hong Kong at Room 3101-3102, Hong Kong Plaza, 186-188
Connaught Road West, Hong Kong. The nominating shareholder
should also provide the biographical details of the person he or
she proposes to be elected as a director to the Company required
under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules. The notices should be given
within the period commencing on the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election of directors
and ending no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general
meeting and such period shall be at least 7 days. The procedures for
Shareholder to propose a person for election as a Director is available
on the Company’s website (www.chinatbjt.com).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERELRE

BRERTAIEEAOALAZEEROBFELESRE
FPRABHSECLARLITEAEREBR HURE
BB ERRBRI8IFESMAPT7TEI7T12-17165% 8 -

ZE EERMIEEFEHEN
REASERMBUAFNUE  A2FTFHRREK
ERBEERBREHAMATRALALTESE U
HERREANESNREZRAFEBAL -

RERABEEAMERMBIEIAGREESTHRERA
LEBRZERR2EMES -

AREBRRESZSREN XQ2AERZTERSTHEH(E
FERENESINBRRASREBIRER -

REASERMAUENMMF RARRRORER —
BAT(RBEESZMNBALRAESIHEBN A
TERRASLSEES ZERLEBIRNZRE
ARELEZERERVRREEREZENREBHIER
HZEREATEERPEHSEIENBEAZALRAR
AMEBEX MY ESL THET186-188R T EM
EFLS1I01-3102E - REBRREBEERZRB EWRAE
BLIQHBRRUFALAAZRRBEATZBEE - ZE
BHARRESENRAASSRESTLHAERH
BIAZZREASHAHATANARRNER  ZHR
BEATR BRREBATISBREZTNEFTIRALD
&) 4 ¥k (www.chinatbjt.com) & g °

2023FEH TEAREERRERAT 133



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELIRE

Upon receipt of the above notices after the despatch of the notice of
the general meeting, the Company shall publish an announcement or
issue a supplementary circular prior to the date of the general meeting
in accordance with Rule 13.70 of the Listing Rules, disclosing the
particulars of the proposed director as required under Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

A Shareholders’ communication policy has been adopted by the
Board, with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders are
provided with information about the Group to enable them to exercise
their rights in an informed manner, and to engage actively with the
Group. The policy is reviewed regularly to ensure its effectiveness.

The policy sets out various communication channels including, among
others, the Company’s website, Shareholders’ meetings and investor
briefings, through which Shareholders may communicate and provide
feedback to the Company from time to time.

The Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time send their
enquiries and concerns to the Company by post at No. 33, Guanyun
East Road, Zhuozhou City, Hebei Province, the PRC or by telephone
at (+86) 0312-3650258 or email at zhongguotianbao@chinatbjt.com.

The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy. Having considered multiple
channels of communication and engagement in place, the Company
considered it to be effective for the year ended December 31, 2023.

AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

During the Reporting Period, there has not been any change in the
Articles of Association. The Articles of Association are available on
the website of the Company (www.chinatbjt.com) and the website of
the Stock Exchange.
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To the shareholders of China Tianbao Group Development
Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

e
EY:x

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Tianbao Group Development Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 146 to 287, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B XBENR S

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which states that as at 31 December 2023, the Group’s
current portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
amounted to RMB540,562,000, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to RMB187,924,000, and its net current liabilities amounted
to RMB165,023,000. USD39,870,000 (equivalent to RMB279,562,000)
of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings was due and
unpaid as at the report date. This condition along with other matters
as set forth in note 2.1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. In addition to the matter
described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern
section, we have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matters to be communicated in our report. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter
is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B RXBENR S

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition from construction contracting

80% of the Group’s revenue was derived from construction
contracting for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
progress was measured by applying an input method based
on the costs incurred up to the year end as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each contract. The application of
the input method involves the use of significant judgements
and estimates, including the scope of deliveries and services
required, total contract costs, and the remaining costs to
completion. The revenue, cost and gross profit realised on
such contracts can vary from the Group’s original estimates
because of any future changes in conditions such as scope
changes made to the original contracts, claims, disputes and
liquidation damages.

The accounting policies and related disclosures for the
revenue recognition from construction contracting are
included in notes 2.4, 3, 4 and 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

We performed the following procedures in relation to revenue
recognition from construction contracting:

1) We evaluated and tested the controls over the
accounting process of contract costs, contract
revenues and the calculation of the percentage of
completion;

2) On a sampling basis, we reviewed the detailed terms,
including the contract sum, the settlement terms and
other key contract terms of significant construction
contracts;

3) We inspected the contract costs incurred by checking
against supporting documents such as delivery and
acceptance notes, purchase invoices and other
computation forms such as labour cost settlement
documents and machinery expense settlement
documents; we evaluated management’s judgements
and estimates in the determination of the estimated
total contract costs by discussing the progress of
the construction contracts with those in charge of
the projects and by comparing actual contract costs
incurred with budgeted contract costs; and we
reviewed the gross profit of each project with revenue
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
identify whether there was any negative gross profit
item;

4) We re-calculated the revenue recognised on a
sampling basis and performed analytical review
procedures according to different types of
construction services; and

5) We evaluated the disclosures of revenue recognition
from construction contracting.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B RXBENR S

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Provision for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for trade receivables, deposits and other receivables and contract

assets

As at 31 December 2023, trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables and contract assets amounting
to RMB1,927,162,000 (2022: RMB1,626,845,000) were
material to the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Management uses the simplified approach to calculate
ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets and the
general approach to calculate ECLs for deposits and other
receivables.

Management’s assessment of the ECLs involves significant
judgements and estimates and is based on historical
observed default rates, ageing of balances, existence of
disputes and forward-looking information. At the year
end, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed by
management. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
Management also assesses whether the credit risk on
deposits and other receivables has increased significantly
under the general approach.

The accounting policies and related disclosures for the trade
receivables and contract assets are included in notes 2.4,
20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements. The
accounting policies and related disclosures for deposits and
other receivables are included in notes 2.4, 24 and 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

We performed the following procedures in relation to the
provision assessment for trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables and contract assets:

1) We evaluated and tested the controls over the
accounting process of provision for ECLs for trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables and
contract assets;

2) We evaluated the provision for trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables and contract assets
by selecting samples to check the debtors’ latest
correspondence and historical payment records;

3) We tested the accuracy of ageing of balances of
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables and
contract assets by tracing details of selected samples
to supporting documents, such as invoices and
contracts with debtors;

4) We inspected the bank slips for the payments of
the selected trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables received subsequent to the reporting
period;

5) We evaluated the Group’s determination of significant
increase in credit risk for the selected deposits and
other receivables by checking the available external
data and the information related to the overdue
balances;

6) We inspected the calculation of the ECLs by
checking the loss rate against the observed historical
loss records and reviewing the adjustment for
forward-looking information; and

7) We evaluated the disclosures of provision for ECLs for

trade receivables, deposits and other receivables and
contract assets.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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MEBEFHERE)

Key audit matter
Recognition of deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2023, deferred tax assets of
RMB71,850,000 (2022: RMB84,485,000) were material to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements, including
RMB7,427,000 (2022: RMB6,034,000) recognised for unused
tax losses.

Management recognised the deferred tax assets regarding
deductible temporary differences and deductible tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits.

The accounting policies and related disclosures for the
deferred tax assets are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We performed the following procedures in relation to the
recognition of deferred tax assets:

1) We evaluated and tested the controls over the
accounting process of the recognition of deferred tax
assets;

2) We reviewed the profit prediction in the future
approved by the management, compared the
historical operating results, trend, and future operating
plan, assessed the key data and assumption adopted
in the prediction of future taxable income;

3) We re-calculated the deferred tax assets and
performed analytical review procedures according to
different types of temporary differences; and

4) We evaluated the disclosures of the recognition of
deferred tax assets.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Siu Fung Terence Ho.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

FaRaR

Year ended 31 December 2023

EZE2023F 128318 LFE
2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AE® TR AR T
REVENUE I 2 5 2,716,589 1,923,869
Cost of sales 85 & A (2,554,676) (1,809,157)
Gross profit EF 161,913 114,712
Other income and gains Hih g A R 5 5,236 (97,784)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEBEX 598 (1,277)
Administrative expenses THEX (61,282) (65,879)
Impairment losses on financial and contract R R & EEEREBEF
assets, net £ 18,243 (162,681)
Fair value loss on investment properties REWMENLTATEEE 14 (100) (72,379)
Fair value loss on financial assets through EAFEFABENEME
profit or loss EATEERE (7,932) (7,378)
Other expenses Hap X (904) (2,560)
Finance costs ELE=g29%N 7 (71,497) (70,866)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BRRAAR (FE) 6 44,275 (366,092)
Income tax (expense)/credit EBEX), HE 10 (33,285) 18,746
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FEREH(BR) 10,990 (347,346)
Attributable to: BT AL A
Owners of the parent BARERA 10,990 (347,346)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE BAFEERESAAEN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY SBEREF (EE)
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12
Basic and diluted BEAXRi#EE
- For profit/(loss) for the year -BRERBR(EE) RMBO0.01 RMB(0.43)
AR%¥0.015T AR#(0.43) Tt
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEZEBRE

Year ended 31 December 2023

B ZE2023F12A31HILFE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT ARB T
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR EREF(BR) 10,990 (347,346)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Htt 2@k A (H5R)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may REZHBUEEENIEEZE
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent wmHEMEEBRA(BR) :
periods:
Exchange differences: BE N ZEZ5:
Exchange differences on translation of BREBMEBRNELZS
foreign operations 29 (10,235)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that may REZHBUKEEETRIEZE
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent EeHEMEERA(EGIE)F
periods ) 29 (10,235)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that will not REZBHEBEIEEHFI>HEEE
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent mzHMEEBA(BRE):
periods:
Equity investments designated at fair value EEARATFEFAHEMZE
through other comprehensive income: WANRERE :
Changes in fair value AFEEE (6,705) (51,270)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE FARMREGHR NBRRE
YEAR, NET OF TAX (6,676) (61,505)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR SR 2El A /(&5 #R) @&
THE YEAR 4,314 (408,851)
Attributable to: U AL e
Owners of the parent NAEEBA 4,314 (408,851)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e RGRKRE

31 December 2023

2023F12H31H

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B = AR®BTT AR T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRE 13 1,236,389 220,244
Investment properties REYE 14 239,700 239,800
Right-of-use assets FHAEEE 15(a) 10,659 10,443
Other intangible assets HtEFEEE 497 829
Equity investments designated at fairvalue EEBEZAFEFAE MR
through other comprehensive income HEAWRKRERE 16 134,400 141,176
Financial assets at fair value through profit A FEABZNERE
or loss E 17 17,426 44,077
Deferred tax assets EEREEE 18 71,850 84,485
Total non-current assets IRBEELE 1,710,921 741,054
CURRENT ASSETS RERE
Inventories & 19 51 53
Trade receivables 5 EWRE 20 403,508 335,124
Contract assets EREE 21 1,296,394 1,089,967
Properties under development TEEME 22 898,741 2,314,414
Completed properties held for sale ERIBEEENE 23 1,045,934 822,253
Prepayments, other receivables and other FEAREBE -HMEKRRER
assets Hih&EE 24 240,620 320,837
Tax recoverable ] Y B #i 1E 36,456 24,346
Pledged deposits EEFER 25 248,580 402,796
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEESEEY 25 187,924 222,976
Total current assets REBEEHAE 4,358,208 5,532,766
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBRAER

31 December 2023

2023%F 128318

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR®TR AR T
CURRENT LIABILITIES mBAR
Trade payables B 5 EMARE 26 1,828,066 1,762,454
Other payables and accruals HthENSRERETEAR 27 1,778,726 2,219,099
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5+ B8R 1T & H b (& & 28 540,562 644,238
Lease liabilities HESaE 15(b) 806 716
Tax payable FEAS R 1B 375,071 366,462
Total current liabilities REBEEHAE 4,523,231 4,992,969
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS RE(AE) SESE (165,023) 539,797
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRDAR
LIABILITIES 1,545,898 1,280,851
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBDER
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFERTER 28 505,000 260,000
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE 18 26,446 20,796
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(b) 481 -
Total non-current liabilities IRBESHEE 531,927 280,796
Net assets EEFE 1,013,971 1,000,055
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of the parent ANEIEBEAELESR
Share capital % 7% 29 7,281 7,281
Reserves & 31 1,006,690 992,774
Total equity 48R 1,013,971 1,000,055
Wang Xinling Li Yaruixin
ITH® FETEE
Director Director
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FeHREEaR

Year ended 31 December 2022

B E2022F 128318 ILEE
Fair value
reserve of
financial assefs
at fair value Shares held
Statutory through other Exchange for share
Capital Special surplus — comprehensive  fluctuation award QOther Retained Total
Share capital reserve reserve reserve income reserve scheme reserves profits equity
RATEHA
Hp2ENA AR
EEEH MemgE  ERR® B3
ke BAEE  RHEE % DYERE ff  RENRG  HHRE  REEA fEs
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETn ARETn ARET:R ARETR ARETn AREIn ARETn ARETn ARETR
note 29 note 31(a) note 31(o) note 31(c) note 31(d) note 31(e) note 31()
f&E29 B31(a) H3E31() B31(c) BEE31() Bik3te) GRS
At January 2022 Ro0E1R1A T80 433783 - 4368 g ) st B WS 1345790
Loss for the year EngE e - - - - - - - (BT3E) (347,346)
Other comprehensive loss forthe  EREM2EEE:
year:
Changes in fair valug of equity BATEIHALSR
investments at fair value ARANRERE
through other comprehensive ZATEZB(R
income, net of tax it - - - - (61,270 - - - - (51,270)
Exchange differences related to ~ EENEREBNE
forign operations HER - - - - - (10,235) - - - (10,235)
Total comprehensive loss forthe ~ ER2 EEEA%E
year - - - - B0 (10239 - - Ty (408
Transfer of fair valug reserve upon — HERATEE AL
the disposal of equity investments 2 EUANRERE
at fair value through other REBLTERE
comprehensive income S S S S 28,726 S S S (28,726) =
Shares granted under share award ~ RERHRBTHRH
scheme HRH = 14,599 - - - - 48517 (894) 894 63,116
Transfer to special reserve EZRHIER - - 30,542 - - - - - - 30,542
Utilisation of special reserve BRGARRE - - (30,542) - - - - - - (30,542)
At 31 December 2022 R202%12531H 7,281 448,382" - 43643 (22,073f [r72r - - 550,494* 1,000,055
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeHRERR

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31HLFE

Fair value
reserve of
financial assets
at fair value Shares held
Statutory  throughother  Exchange for share
Share Capital Special surplus  comprehensive  fluctuation award Other Retained
capital reserve reserve reserve income reserve scheme reserves profits
BATEHA
K2ERA BRR
EEER MewEE  ERED  REHH
R REERE  BHER 1] DFERR fi  RANRL  XhEE  REERY #is
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERTT AERTT ARRTT ARKI% AERTT ARRTR ARRTR ARRTT ARRTT ARRTR
note2d  note3dia  note3i(h)  note3i(c) note 31(d) note 31(e) note 31(f)
Kit29 Ritdi(a) Rit31(h) Riti(c) Rit31(d) Kitdile) Wiz 31(f)
At 1 January 2023 R2023E15 18 7,281 448,382 - 43,643 (22,073) (27,672) - - 550,494 1,000,055
Profitfor the year 2 b¥il - - - - - - - - 10,990 10,990
Other comprehensive loss EREpRERA:
for the year.
Changes in fair valug of equity RATEGALL2
investments at fair value ARANRERE
through other comprehensive ZATERBHR
income, net of tax HE) - - - - (6,705) - - - - (6,705)
Exchange differences relatedto ~ EENEREBNE
foreign operations 2R - - - - - 29 - - - 29
Total comprehensive loss EMREFEAE
for the year - - - - (6,705) 29 - - 10,990 4314
Prior year compensation waived by HRRHEBEEERE
shareholders - 9,602 - - - - - - - 9,602
Transfer to special reserve EZHRIRE - - 55,455 - - - - - - 55,455
Utilisation of special reserve BRRHER - - (65,455) - - - - - - (55,455)
At 31 December 2023 202312531 H 7,281 457,984* - 43,643* (28,778)F (21,643 - - 561,484* 1,013,971
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZERBEREBECEREVYVBMRRRPARE

RMB1,006,690,000 (2022: RMB992,774,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

1,006,690,000 7T (2022 £ : A [ ¥ 992,774,000 7T ) #)
RERE-

2023 FF IR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeReafER

Year ended 31 December 2023
EZE2023F 128318 LFE

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M &E AR®TT ARBT R
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES #EFBHEEXMNBEERE
Profit/(loss) before tax BB AER(BE) 44,275 (366,092)
Adjustments for: BUTRERE:
Finance costs A& AR 71,497 70,866
Interest income B WA (3,134) (6,955)
Dividend income from equity investments ETARDTFHEFAHMEZE
designated at fair value through other BWAZREREZRERA
comprehensive income b (9,840) -
Dividend income from financial assets at BEATEFABBEZEREE
fair value through profit or loss ZBREWA 5 - (970)
Realised loss on equity investments at BEAFEFABRZRERE
fair value through profit or loss ZUREER 5 12,357 108,154
Gain on prior year compensation waived BREHEBIFEREZ KRR
by shareholders (3,841) -
Fair value losses, net: NFEBRFE:
Equity investments at fair value through BAFEFTABENRER
profit or loss = 7,932 7,378
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % -BER RBITE 13 6,211 7,955
Changes in fair value of investment properties REWNEAFEEZH 6 100 72,379
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAREERE 6 1,403 1,199
Amortisation of other intangible assets HthBEEE#E 6 332 589
Impairment losses on trade receivables EZRWNERERIE 6 (36,035) 177,038
Impairment losses on contract assets CREEREERSE 6 12,757 (13,876)
Impairment losses on prepayments, BEARE HttEWRERHE
other receivables and other assets tEERERSE 6 5,035 (481)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, HEME BERBEEEZ
plant and equipment Bie/ (k) 409 (110)
109,458 57,074
Decrease in inventories FERY 2 16
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables g5 EWRKEGLE M, HD (120,505) 41,510
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets AREEGE M, WL (219,184) 277,179
Decrease in properties under development ERMERD 394,605 78,687
Increase in completed properties held for sale B % THEHE W EE M (223,681) (20,187)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, other BARE HtERRBEREM
receivables and other assets BERD /(M) 44,600 (88,338)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits EE TR, (L m) 154,216 (179,508)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables g S EMAREL M CRD) 153,768 (377,575)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and HttENREREFEA
accruals R A) /12 in (304,916) 78,291
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= A, i =

ReEBERER

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31HLFE

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
o & AR® TR AR®T R
Cash used in operations BEmMARS (11,637) (132,851)
Income tax paid B EHR (18,500) (34,585)
Interest received 2 WF 8 1,196 1,646
Net cash flows used in operating BEITBMARAERE
activities (28,941) (165,790)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZBELEMBEERE
Dividends received from equity investments BEEARATESTAEMZE
designated at fair value through other BAZREREWBZRE
comprehensive income 9,840 -
Dividends received from financial assets at fair EBERZAFEFAEZNEREE
value through profit or loss H&HYZHX B - 970
Purchase of items of property, plant and BEWMX BERFKEEE
equipment (1,698) (252)
Proceeds from disposal of equity investments HEEEARAFEF AL ME
designated at fair value through other ARAZREREZRBNE
comprehensive income - 5,644
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HERDFE f‘f AERZERE
fair value through profit or loss EzER 6,948 19,828
Repayment of advances to related parties EBEOBHA 36 63 -
Advances to related parties |"1 B AL ‘Zﬁ BN 36 - (63)
Advances to third parties E=ZFEHZER (21,567) (18,432)
Repayments of advances to third parties 1 BOE=AFHEZER 22,757 39,532
Net cash flows generated from investing BRETHRASERSRE
activities 16,343 47,227
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeReafER

Year ended 31 December 2023
EZE2023F 128318 LFE

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt ARBTT ARBTR

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES RMEEZBHELMNRERE

Additions of interest-bearing bank and REBEFERTREMER

other borrowings 483,000 260,000
Repayments of interest-bearing bank and BEFTERTRAMER

other borrowings (346,100) (177,865)
Principal portion of lease payments HEMRNEAEE S 15 (1,086) (951)
Advances from related parties REBEBATNEN 36 - 30,000
Repayments of advances from related parties EEREBEHAINER 36 (30,000) -
Advances from third parties REE=ZATNER 806,618 774,277
Repayments of advances from third parties BERBE=ZFHEX (867,374) (720,061)
Interest paid EFFE (71,458) (70,125)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from MEZFB(RB) FE

financing activities BHERE (26,400) 95,275
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH HeREEFBENBRD

EQUIVALENTS (38,998) (23,288)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year £ HERBEEEY 222,976 248,749
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net IEEXSEHZEFTHE 3,946 (2,485)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FXEERERERY
OF YEAR 187,924 222,976

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND ReRBeSEMRERIN
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances ReRBRITER 436,504 625,772
Less: pledged deposits W EERER (248,580) (402,796)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in BBERREMIBRERASEE

the statement of financial position ) 187,924 222,976
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in BEeREXMIRERALEE

the statement of cash flows ) 187,924 222,976

1 54 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited Annual Report 2023



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
The registered office address of the Company is Windward
3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort
Street, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following

principal activities:

° Construction contracting

° Property development and others

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company and
the ultimate holding company of the Company is Jixiang
International Industrial Company Limited, which is incorporated

in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023

AFIREEEHE
PFEAREEZRERATAE —BERHEEH
EEMRINERATD AATANEMPS
B 1 3 B Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,
PO Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort Street,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands °

. BEEE

. 5t E B B R A Al

2023%F 128318

RER FEERSUTHERES:

ESRAE FA2ANERRAARBRERD
AATHERBEXERAF ZQAAREE
BELHRES(EBELES DEMMR L -

Information about subsidiaries FHRMBATZHE
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as KRB EEMBRARZFERBOT :
follows:
Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ equity attributable
registration and Issued ordinary/ to the Company
Name Legal Status business registered share capital Indirect Principal activities
ENFELMN
BEMBI/ BERTEE/ BEasit
a2 ER A ERREXME BEREF HE FEEDH
Tianbao Construction Group Limited liability ~ People’s Republic of RMB1,050,000,000 100 Construction
Company Limited* company China (“PRC”)/Chinese contracting
Mainland
AREREEERAF BEREALT HEARLNE A K #1,050,000,000 70 100 BERAE
@D,/ +Er
Tianbao Property Group Company Limited liability ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB300,000,000 100 Property development
Limited* company and others
ARELESEERAA EREELA  HE/HPERY A K #2300,000,000 7 100 FHERBREM
Huailai Tianbao Property Limited liability ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 100 Property development
Development Company Limited* company and others
BRAREHEBEFERAF EREELA  HE/HTERKYL A K #20,000,000 7T 100 FHERBREM

2023 FF3R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFIREEEFIHE)
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) FRMBLRZHEE)

Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ equity attributable
registration and Issued ordinary/ to the Company
Name Legal Status business registered share capital Indirect Principal activities
ERTELM
3.3 BRTEE/ REES L
1] i3 3.4 BEMRERME BEREE ME FEED
Yuxian Tianbao Property Development Limited liability =~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 100 Property development
Company Limited* company and others
FEAREHERRERLT BREEAA  HE/TERH A K #20,000,000 7T 100 BEREREM
Zhangbei Tianbao Henggi Property  Limited liability =~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 100 Property development
Development Company Limited* company and others
RAXREEEHEREFR BREEDLA HE/FE R A K %5,000,000 7T 100 RHERREREM
EfEQA
Zhuozhou City Mingyang Property Limited liability ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 100 Property development
Development Company Limited* company and others
BNTAGEELEREER BREEAA  HE/TERH A K #10,000,000 ¢ 100 BEREREM
EfEQA
* The English names of the companies registered in the PRC * RAESMNATNENERBIIEAAAE
represent the best efforts made by the management of the BEEESREAEHIEZEAAPXEBEEMR
Company to translate the Chinese names of these companies B NDEHEYEFRXREXEZHE -
as they do not have official English names.
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, FTRIWEARQATBZHMBAT EERXAZE
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results WEARFEZEARARFEEEEIEBRAE
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets EEFENITEL, - EE=RE BHEMK
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in BEATNHEBEEERARABZILE °

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment
properties and equity investments which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company has
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange
fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)
Going concern basis

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current portion
of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
amounted to RMB540,562,000, while its cash and cash
equivalents amounted to RMB187,924,000 and its
net current liabilities amounted to RMB165,023,000.
USD39,870,000 (equivalent to RMB279,562,000) of the
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings was due
and unpaid as at the report date. In view of the volatility
of the property market in China, coupled with the
limited source of financing from the capital market, the
Group may take longer time than expected to realise
cash from the sale of its properties, and the proceeds
from construction contracting and/or have the cash
from external financing to meet its loan repayment
obligations.

In view of the above circumstances, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to
the Group’s future liquidity requirements, operating
performance and available sources of financing in
assessing the Group’s ability to operate as a going
concern. The following plans and measures are
formulated to manage the working capital and improve
the financial position of the Group:

(a) The Group continues to generate positive
operating cash flows for the next twelve
months by implementing various strategies to
improve the Group’s income from construction
contracting services and property development
and other services to generate additional
operating cash inflows and putting extra
efforts on the collection of outstanding trade
receivables and contract assets;

(b) The Group is actively reviewing its debt structure
and looking for funding opportunities. The Group
has obtained a new long-term bank facility of
RMB800,000,000 which was guaranteed by
properties and controlling shareholder on 12
January 2024 and withdrew RMB440,000,000 as
at the report date;

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)
Going concern basis (continued)

(c) The Group continues to monitor capital
expenditure to balance and relieve cash
resource to support operations and take action
to tighten cost controls over various operating
expenses;

(d) The Group continues to identify suitable
investors and engage in discussions with certain
potential investors on possible investments in
certain property development projects to raise
additional capital.

The directors of the Group have reviewed the Group’s
cash flow forecast covering a period of twelve
months from the end of the reporting period. They
are of the opinion that, taking into account of the
above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance its operations
and meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the directors
believe it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, given the volatility of the
property market in China and the uncertainties to obtain
continuous support by the banks and the Group’s
creditors, material uncertainties exist as to whether the
management of the Company will be able to achieve its
plans and measures as described above.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments may have to be made to write down the
values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities that might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities, respectively.
The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2

Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
IFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting

and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Policies

Amendments to Definition of Accounting

IAS 8 Estimates
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets
IAS 12 and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction
International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

Amendments to
IAS 12

The nature and the impact of the new and revised
IFRSs that are applicable to the Group are described
below:

(a) Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information
included in an entity’s financial statements,
it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. Amendments to
IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality
to accounting policy disclosures. The Group
has disclosed the material accounting policy
information in note 2 to the financial statements.
The amendments did not have any impact on
the measurement, recognition or presentation of
any items in the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and 2.2

EatBE(E)
EHRFEBDREE(E)

disclosures (continued)

(b) Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also
clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates.
Since the Group’s approach and policy align
with the amendments, the amendments had no
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

(c) Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exception in IAS 12 so
that it no longer applies to transactions that
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred
tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable
profit is available) and a deferred tax liability
for temporary differences arising from these
transactions.

Prior to the initial application of these amendments,
the Group applied the initial recognition exception
and did not recognise a deferred tax asset and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences for
transactions related to leases. The Group has applied
the amendments on temporary differences related to
leases as at 1 January 2022. Upon initial application of
these amendments, the Group recognised (i) a deferred
tax asset for all deductible temporary differences
associated with lease liabilities (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available), and (ii) a deferred tax liability
for all taxable temporary differences associated with
right-of-use assets at 1 January 2022, with cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to the balances of
retained profits and non-controlling interests at that
date.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

(©

(continued)

Upon the application of the amendments, the
Group has determined the temporary differences
arising from right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately, which have been reflected
in the reconciliation disclosed in note 18 to the
financial statements. However, they did not
have any material impact on the overall deferred
tax balances presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position as the related
deferred tax balances qualified for offsetting
under IAS 12.

Amendments to |IAS 12 International Tax
Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules introduce
a mandatory temporary exception from the
recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes
arising from the implementation of the Pillar
Two model rules published by the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development.
The amendments also introduce disclosure
requirements for the affected entities to
help users of the financial statements better
understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar
Two income taxes, including the disclosure
of current tax related to Pillar Two income
taxes separately in the periods when Pillar
Two legislation is effective and the disclosure
of known or reasonably estimable information
of their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes
in periods in which the legislation is enacted
or substantively enacted but not yet in effect.
The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall
within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules,
the amendments did not have any impact to the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Issued but not yet effective IFRSs

The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements. The Group intends to apply
these revised IFRSs, if applicable, when they become
effective.

Amendments to IFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of
and IAS 28 Assets between an

Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture?®

Amendments to IFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?’

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 amendments”)’

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)’
Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance
and IFRS 7 Arrangements’

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10
and in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
was removed by the IASB. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability
arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure
the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount
of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it
retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and
shall be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback
transactions entered into after the date of initial
application of IFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that
a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification. The
2022 Amendments further clarify that, among covenants
of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability
as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are
required for non-current liabilities that are subject to
the entity complying with future covenants within 12
months after the reporting period. The amendments
shall be applied retrospectively with earlier application
permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments
early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based
on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements.
The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows
and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application
of the amendments is permitted. The amendments
provide certain transition reliefs regarding comparative
information, quantitative information as at the beginning
of the annual reporting period and interim disclosures.
The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

Issued but not yet effective IFRSs (continued)

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate
at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking.
The amendments require disclosures of information
that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying
the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained profits or to
the cumulative amount of translation differences
accumulated in a separate component of equity, where
appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Material accounting policies
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and
equity investments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques

for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets,
financial assets, investment properties, properties
under development and completed properties held for
sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

or

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

U]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. ErBEE)
2.4 Material accounting policies (continued) 24 EBEXEHBEE)
Related parties (continued) BB ()
(b) (continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a) (i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viiij  the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

3% to 5%
5% to 19%
6% to 32%

10% to 33%

Buildings

Plant and machinery

Motor vehicles

Office equipment and others

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.
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2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings (including right-of-use assets) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values
of investment properties are included in the statement
of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to
owner-occupied properties or completed properties
held for sale, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date
of change in use. If a property occupied by the
Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an
investment property, the Group accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” for
owned property and/or accounts for such property in
accordance with the policy stated under “Right-of-use
assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset up to
the date of change in use, and any difference at that
date between the carrying amount and the fair value
of the property is accounted for as a revaluation in
accordance with the policy stated under “Property,
plant and equipment and depreciation” above. For a
transfer from completed properties held for sale to
investment properties, any difference between the
fair value of the property at that date and its previous
carrying amount is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held
for sale after completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower
of cost comprising land costs, construction costs,
borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs
directly attributable to such properties incurred during
the development year and net realisable value.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless those will not be realised in the normal
operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated in the
statement of financial position at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined by an
apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings
attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable
value takes into account the price ultimately expected
to be realised, less estimated costs to be incurred in
selling the properties.

Allocation of property development cost

Land costs are allocated to each unit according to their
respective saleable gross floor areas (“GFA”) to the
total saleable GFA. Construction costs relating to units
were identified and allocated specifically. Common
construction costs have been allocated according to
the saleable GFA similar to land cost.

1 74 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited Annual Report 2023

2.

B BEGE)
24 BEXEHBERE)
EEME

EEVERRRIBSHEHE-

ERMERRARTEZRFEME P
MEEESIR MAABE LR
BRBA BREEF - BEEARRHA
BRFEAMELEEBENEEZEBRN
HmAs e

BRITEENETREREZELEEBRH R
ERCBREBERYELIBRARS
EE-ZEYERRIKEREER
ITHEHEME-

EBTHEHEYDE

CRIFFHEDERRAETER
FEMETHNREERTBEMRREKS
ReMABREEMERE L RE
FERATANDBLEHBEE - 7 &R F
EEARBAHZLAEERNWERR D
EMEELENMEFRATH -

EHERRBREZSE

ITHEARBEREMNTHERZER
BIEEEBEVEUHELAEZEEMEN
EHrBREEEM - BENHBERNR
FEBEBRENRIE  —RER
BAZETHRABENTIAREA
HEREEBEDE-



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of other intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Software is stated at cost less any impairment loss
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life from 1 year to 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right
to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023

2023%F12A31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(@)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Office buildings

40 - 50 years
2 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests
in leasehold land held as properties under
development or completed properties held
for sale, they are subsequently measured
at the lower of cost and net realisable value
in accordance with the Group’s policy for
“properties under development” and “completed
properties held for sale”. When a right-of-use
asset meets the definition of investment
property, it is included in investment properties.
The corresponding right-of-use asset is initially
measured at cost, and subsequently measured
at fair value, in accordance with the Group’s
policy for “investment properties”.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of office buildings (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance
lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in the statement
of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business
model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial
assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments) (continued)

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends
are recognised as other income in the statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established, except when the Group benefits from
such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the
financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded
in other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair
value with net changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the
Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends
on the equity investments are also recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights
and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and
the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and contract assets which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which
credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition but that are
not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance

is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage2 -

Financial assets that are
credit-impaired at the reporting

date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for
which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 -

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, an amount due to the ultimate
holding company and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables,
and interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of
the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contracts
at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in
accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment of
financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity
of generally within three months that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined
above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to
be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is
presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any
reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences;
and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries
and associates deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that
it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities
and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration
is subsequently resolved.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of
a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in IFRS 15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023

2023%F12A31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(@)

Construction services

Revenue from the provision of construction
services is recognised over time, using an input
method to measure progress towards complete
satisfaction of the service, because the Group’s
performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. The input method recognises revenue
based on the proportion of the actual costs
incurred relative to the estimated total costs for
satisfaction of the construction services.

Claims to customers are amounts that the
Group seeks to collect from the customers as
reimbursement of costs and margins for scope
of works not included in the original construction
contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value
method to estimate the amounts of claims
because this method best predicts the amount
of variable consideration to which the Group will
be entitled.

Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is
recognised at the point in time when control
of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the properties.

Provision of management services

Revenue from the provision of management
services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as income in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services
to a customer before being unconditionally entitled to
the consideration under the contract terms, a contract
asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is
conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the
accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.
They are reclassified to trade receivables when the
right to the consideration becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services
to the customer).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Share-award scheme

The Group operates a share award scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purposes of (i) recognising the
contributions by certain employees and providing them
with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group; and (ii)
attracting suitable personnel for further development
of the Group. Employees of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for
equity instruments (“share award scheme”).

The Company entered into trust deed and appointed
Victory Global Trustee Company Limited (the “Trustee”)
as the trustee for the administration of the Scheme
pursuant to the Scheme Rules. Pursuant to the
Scheme, the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) may from time to time instruct the trustee to
purchase shares in the open market for the purpose
of the Scheme. The shares purchased by the trustee
and the returned shares will be held by the trustee
until they are vested in the selected employees in
accordance with the scheme rules and the trust deed.
The consideration paid by the trustee for purchasing
the Company’s shares from the market is presented as
“shares held for share award scheme” and the amount
is deducted from total equity.

A share award scheme in exchange for services
received from employees is measured at the fair value
of the equity instruments granted to the employees.
If such share award scheme could vest immediately,
related costs or expenses at an amount equal to the
fair value on the grant date are recognised, with a
corresponding increase in capital reserves.

1 94 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited Annual Report 2023

2.

B BEGE)
24 BEXEHBERE)
BRGEMEH

rAEBRE-EROER BT
g2 -BENROXEETREREMERER
TERERMER KAORERSEU
BAEBENFELE RBER B Ki)
REAEBE-SHRRNSIBEEAE -
FEBREEURODAERNAIRAR
BEHME Bt EEUARERB B
RATA(KRGREBSD -

AAAERYERRBEREZEBANR
REXTAERLIATZEEFADAZE
A UREBEFBRAEETE - REBE
B -ARAESRIESEHRDAFEE
TERAAFEBEAATHSLBER
B REBFHRIREERE ZFEA
BENRORRORODEHAZITAEAL
F EZHEBRETERERL-ZFEA
ARTHELBERALCAROMITH
RERIBIARORBAIAFTEOR
Bl ZEERESBREPME-

BUIR 3R 5t 40 B 35 1F 5 3B 60 IR 45 2%
Bits REFESEBTANAFE
HE - MERORDHBETDET
AERTFEEREETANATE
AR AREA - AR MEE DT o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Share-award scheme (continued)

The cost of share award scheme is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for share
award scheme at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are
not taken into account when determining the grant date
fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions
being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are
reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other
conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because
non-market performance and/or service conditions
have not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Share-award scheme (continued)

Where the terms of a share award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the
award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair
value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification. Where a share award is cancelled,
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,

it is

and any expense not yet recognised for the award is
recognised immediately. This includes any award where
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the
Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is
designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as
inventories, properties under development, completed
properties held for sale, and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are
capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are
met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the entity can
specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of
the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in
the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Contract costs (continued)

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and
charged to the statement of profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services to which the
asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed as
incurred.

Employee benefits
Social pension plans

The Group has the social pension plans for its
employees arranged by local government labour and
security authorities. The Group makes contributions
on a monthly basis to the social pension plans. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
social pension plans. Under the plans, the Group has
no further obligation beyond the contributions made.

Housing fund and other social insurances

The Group has participated in defined social security
contribution schemes for its employees pursuant to the
relevant laws and regulations of the PRC. These include
housing fund, basic medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, injury insurance and maternity insurance.
The Group makes monthly contributions to the housing
fund and other social insurances. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss on an accrual basis. The Group
has no further obligations beyond the contributions
made.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability
when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss with the exception of monetary items that
are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s
net investment of a foreign operation. These are
recognised in other comprehensive income until the net
investment is disposed of, at which time the cumulative
amount is reclassified to the statement of profit or
loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange
differences on those monetary items are also recorded
in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Material accounting policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance,
the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the RMB. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statement of profit or loss
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent
that the differences are attributable to non-controlling
interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows
of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the
year are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Going Concern Consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimations, management has
prepared the consolidated financial statements on the
assumption that the Group will be able to operate as a going
concern in the coming year, which is a critical judgement that
has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements. The assessment of
the going concern assumption involves making a judgement
by the directors, at a particular point of time, about the
future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The directors consider that the Group has the
capability to continue as a going concern and the major events
or conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that
may individually or collectively cast a significant doubt upon
the going concern assumption are set out in note 2.1 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,

management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue

from contracts with customers:

(@

Determining the timing of satisfaction of construction
contracting

The Group concluded that revenue from construction
contracting is recognised over time because the
customer simultaneously receives the benefits provided
by the Group. The fact that another entity would not
need to re-perform the construction contracting that
the Group has provided to date demonstrates that the
customer simultaneously receives the benefits of the
Group’s performance as it performs.

The Group determined that the input method is the best
method in measuring the progress of the construction
contracting because there is a direct relationship
between the Group’s effort and the transfer of services
to the customer. The Group recognises revenue on
the basis of the proportion of costs incurred to date
to the estimated total cost relative to complete the
construction contracting.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties or completed properties held
for sale

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions
could not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis
to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that
a property does not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below:

Provision of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion of
properties under development, and the costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing market condition.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale (continued)

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale. Such provision requires
the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, the carrying value and
provision for properties in the period in which such estimate is
changed will be adjusted accordingly.

Progress of completion of construction contracting

Revenue recognition on a project is dependent on
management’s estimation of the total outcome of the
construction contracts and is measured by reference to
the proportion of costs incurred to date to the estimated
total cost of the relevant contract. The Group reviews and
revises the estimates of total contract costs, prepared for
each construction contract as the contract progresses.
Budgeted construction costs are prepared by management
on the basis of quotations from time to time provided by
the major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors involved
and the experience of management. In order to keep the
budget accurate and up-to-date, management conducts
periodic reviews of the management budgets by comparing
the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts incurred. Total
budgeted costs for construction contracting comprise (i) direct
material costs and direct labour, (ii) costs of subcontracting,
and (iii) an appropriation of variable and fixed construction and
services overheads. In estimating the total budgeted costs
for construction contracting, management makes reference
to information such as (i) current offers from subcontractors
and suppliers, (ii) recent offers agreed with subcontractors
and suppliers, and (iii) an estimation on material costs, labour
costs and other costs with reference to past experience.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in China. As
a result of the fact that certain matters relating to the income
taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau,
objective estimate and judgement based on currently enacted
tax laws, regulations and other related policies are required
in determining the provision for income taxes to be made.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts originally recorded, the differences will impact
on the income tax and tax provisions in the year in which the
differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in China. The provision for LAT
is based on management’s best estimates according to the
understanding of the requirements set forth in the relevant
PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are
subject to the determination by the tax authorities upon the
completion of the property development projects. The Group
has not finalised its LAT calculation and payments with the tax
authorities for certain of its property development projects.
The final outcome could be different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, and any differences will impact on the
LAT expenses and the related provision in the year in which
the differences realise.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of the
reporting period. Other non-financial assets are tested
for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of
deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31
December 2023 was RMB7,427,000 (2022: RMB6,034,000).
The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2023
was RMB11,653,000 (2022: RMB65,186,000). Further details
are contained in note 18 to the financial statements.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

Investment properties carried at fair value were revalued at
each reporting date based on the appraised market value
provided by independent professional valuers. Such valuations
were based on certain assumptions, which are subject to
uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results.
In making the estimation, the Group considers information
from current prices in an active market for similar properties
and uses assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of the
fair value include those related to estimated rental values with
reference to the current market rents for similar properties in
the same location and condition, appropriate capitalisation
rates and expected profit margin.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31 December
2023 was RMB239,700,000 (2022: RMB239,800,000). Further
details, including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurement are given in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

3.

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H
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F: AR ¥6,034,0007T) - #2023F 12 A31H

WABAHRBEBESHE S AR ¥ 11,653,000
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R2023F12A31EMREDERTEAAR

B'u-’1‘15‘239,700,0007_1:(2022¢ ¢ A R 239,800,000
cE-SHBFEELTEFERANEE
ﬁ)?ﬁﬁ(‘, BRI 14 -

2023 FF3R

sExremeramran 205



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns. (i.e., by geography, product
type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of
credit and other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with
forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased
number of defaults in the construction contracting and
property development sectors, the historical default rates
are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables and contract
assets is disclosed in note 20 and note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

206 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited Annual Report 2023

3.

EXErAER G (E)

R TRERGE)
EEENRAREAEE R ERGARR

AEECABBEEFEESRURERS
BEENREEERBE -BEEDERASR
BoUpERE(IREEES EMER &
FERARFRAURGERAEREMAFEANER
REBRENRESBIA D) NFTREEF2 A
SEHMBEEE-

BREERVERAEERIBEEMBEN
EMBE AEBAERELRE FUIRAEN
EXNAEBECERRER -BAMS ME
AEERRE(MBERNEERBE BHERKRRE
—FEC EHERBRUVEMBEENSH
g MEREBAENZ -REREBH
BAEBRFSENEBTEN XEOMA
e bt 2 -

HEABEMGENR FALAKRRREAY
FEBE-HHEEMETHIGBEEARMET -
AHEFEFESHRERAZLCLRANLEMNR
REEBR - AEEBETFEFELRETE
MEBRRTALERREFARNERE
HWER - FBRAAESEEZRURERERE
ENEBEEBENENDIRNES BT
R FE20R M FE21 K 58



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates)
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Fair value of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based
on a market-based valuation technique as detailed in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements. The valuation
requires the Group to determine comparable public companies
(peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the Group
makes estimates about the discount for illiquidity and size
differences. The Group classifies the fair value of these
investments as Level 3. The fair value of the unlisted equity
investments at 31 December 2023 was RMB134,400,000
(2022: RMB138,000,000). Further details are included in note
16 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
two reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) Construction contracting — this segment engages in
the provision of services relating to construction as a
general contractor for building construction projects,
infrastructure construction projects and property
investment; and

(b) Property development and others — this segment
engages in the sale of properties and the provision of
services relating to properties.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of profit before tax.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference

to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the
then prevailing market prices.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION EESBEHE)
(continued)
Property
Construction development
contracting and others Total
= ith &= B
BREAE RHEM #
g £2023%F12A31H RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Year ended 31 December 2023 I E AR¥TR AR¥®TTRT AR¥®TT
Segment revenue (note 5) &k & (P 5ES5)
Sales to external customers HEFHNBEFRE 2,169,878 546,711 2,716,589
Intersegment sales o EB B 168,379 - 168,379
Total segment revenue w5 ER U = 2,338,257 546,711 2,884,968
Reconciliation: AR
Eliminations of intersegment sales HEsHEEE (168,379)
Revenue U &= 2,716,589
Segment results DEHER 65,174 (34,328) 30,846
Reconciliation: AR
Eliminations of intersegment results HETMEXE 13,429
Profit before tax B B AT = R 44,275
Segment assets NWBEE 5,138,459 10,684,644 15,823,103
Reconciliation: Ez 3
Eliminations of intersegment receivables ¥ §§ 7 %0 [& FE UL FX 18 (9,753,974)
Total assets WEE 6,069,129
Segment liabilities SHMAR 3,938,026 7,405,799 11,343,825
Reconciliation: AR -
Eliminations of intersegment payables  ¥f &5 2 3B & F& 11 X 18 (6,288,667)
Total liabilities waeE 5,055,158
Other segment information: HthpEEH:
Depreciation and amortisation WER#HE 1,576 6,370 7,946
Impairment losses on financial and TRREREE
contract assets, net HEEEFRE (22,669) 4,426 18,243
Capital expenditure* =N 791 906 1,697
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

4, OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION BESBEHGE)
(continued)
Property
Construction development
contracting and others Total
Bt ER R
BERE R H At At
B ZE2022%12H831H RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Year ended 31 December 2022 IEFEE AR T T AR T T AR¥ET T
Segment revenue (note 5) 5Bk & (B 5E5)
Sales to external customers HEFHNBEFRE 1,455,411 468,458 1,923,869
Intersegment sales o EB B 226,202 - 226,202
Total segment revenue a5 U &= 1,681,613 468,458 2,150,071
Reconciliation: E) 3N
Eliminations of intersegment sales HEIHEHEE (226,202)
Revenue g &= 1,923,869
Segment results DEHER (130,831) (222,774) (353,605)
Reconciliation: E): 3N
Eliminations of intersegment results Hign BREEE (12,487)
Loss before tax RR i Al & 18 (366,092)
Segment assets SHEE 5,216,066 10,049,895 15,265,961
Reconciliation: Eg 3
Eliminations of intersegment receivables ¥ £ % & & F& W 3% 8 (8,992,141)
Total assets BEE 6,273,820
Segment liabilities SHMAR 4,058,654 7,202,134 11,260,788
Reconciliation: Ep 3
Eliminations of intersegment payables % 5 % 2B & & {+ ;X 8 (5,987,023)
Total liabilities waE 5,273,765
Other segment information: Htt 7 BEH :
Depreciation and amortisation e R 1,485 8,258 9,743
Impairment losses on financial and TRREREE
contract assets, net WEEEFE 163,654 (973) 162,681
Capital expenditure* EARBELZ 206 46 252

*

equipment and intangible assets.

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, BESBEHE)

(continued)

Geographical information HEZFHE

(a) Revenue from external customers (a) X E B3 E F 89 ik 2
The Group has derived substantially all of its revenue TEBEBNRBRBWREREPE-
in the PRC, and hence, geographical information is not it EERERBIELE -

considered necessary.

(b) Non-current assets (b) B EE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TR ARB T
Hong Kong &8 835 761
Chinese Mainland B A b 1,486,410 470,555
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 1,487,245 471,316
The non-current asset information above is based tAERBEEENDEREENA
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial EHETEFESRIAREERES
instruments and deferred tax assets. Eo
Information about major customers FREEEFRMEH
Revenue of approximately RMB176,445,000 (2022: RMB94,449,000) B AR 176,445,000t (2022F 1 A R #
was derived from sales by the construction contracting segment 94,449,000 T) MWK ZE D RBBE AR B D E @
to a single customer, including sales to a group of entities which —FENEFELHNEE(EFRNEHNEZET
are known to be under common control with that customer. FEHAREHNZEBERBELMNEE) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. e HtkARKR
An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: K EfWARKEZEZ2MAT :
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABR® TR AR T
Revenue from contracts with customers EFARWzm 2,708,246 1,912,000
Revenue from other sources H it 37 #9475
Gross rental income from operating leases: RELKEHENHES KA
AR
Other lease payments, including fixed HpHEENR (BEEEE
payments E9) 8,343 11,869
Total 4t 2,716,589 1,923,869
Revenue from contracts with customers ZEEeRKE
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) PHKBREE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE2023F12A31HILFEE
Construction Property
contracting development Total
BRE&A EBHEMRR # 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Segments S8 AR® TR AER® T AR®TT
Types of goods or services BHREBEBER
Construction contracting BERE 2,169,878 - 2,169,878
Property development Bt ER - 538,368 538,368
Total # 5t 2,169,878 538,368 2,708,246
Geographical market i & T 3%
Chinese Mainland Bl P it 2,169,878 538,368 2,708,246

Timing of revenue recognition Iy & 7 52 FF RS

Goods transferred at a point intime REBHEBE @ - 538,368 538,368
Services transferred over time RE B = B R 2,169,878 - 2,169,878
Total 5t 2,169,878 538,368 2,708,246
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

K@ HmARKS(E)

EFaRkE(HE)
(a) SBEBRBEHE)
BMZE2022512831HLEFE

Construction Property
contracting development Total

EERE B ERE Bt

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Segments o AR®T T ARET T AREFT T
Types of goods or services BRBEEER
Construction contracting BEEE 1,455,411 - 1,455,411
Property development = th E BE 2% - 456,589 456,589
Total w5t 1,455,411 456,589 1,912,000
Geographical market it E T 5%
Chinese Mainland A A b 1,455,411 456,589 1,912,000
Timing of revenue recognition I 3 e 52 [
Goods transferred at a pointin time R B EBE R - 456,589 456,589
Services transferred over time Ve B S B % Bk 7% 1,455,411 - 1,455,411
Total FE 1,455,411 456,589 1,912,000
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed
in the segment information:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

K@ HmARKS(E)

EFSRBE(E)

(a) DBEEBEHGE)
THRHBIIRBEFERKRBES HE
BRESHENER:

B E2023F12A31HLFEE

Construction Property

contracting development Total

BEEAE BhERS #at

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Segments b2 AR®TR AR®BTR AR®TRE
Revenue from contracts with EFARAKR

customers

External customers IEBEF 2,169,878 538,368 2,708,246

Intersegment sales PHEHEE 168,379 - 168,379

Subtotal NEF 2,338,257 538,368 2,876,625

Intersegment eliminations g e E (168,379) - (168,379)

Total FE 2,169,878 538,368 2,708,246

For the year ended 31 December 2022

B E2022F12A31HLFEE

Construction Property

contracting development Total

BERE Bt ER R @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Segments b2 AR®T R AR® TR AR®B TR
Revenue from contracts with EFERKR

customers

External customers IEBEF 1,455,411 456,589 1,912,000

Intersegment sales DEEHE 226,202 - 226,202

Subtotal N 1,681,613 456,589 2,138,202

Intersegment eliminations gl e E (226,202) - (226,202)

Total 5t 1,455,411 456,589 1,912,000
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. ke HttlkARKSR(Z)
(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EFeRKE(E)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (a) REKBEHEE)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TRITHRAREHEEIZERRS
recognised in the current reporting period that were R AR EeBELBIHBEEE
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of TEAEEARINUESE:
the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR T
Revenue recognised that was included in  SR&EHAFAEBDEEN
contract liabilities at the beginning of EERWE:
the reporting period:
Construction contracting BERG 386,161 209,250
Property development 5 b 2= BR 8 239,097 337,929
Total 5t 625,258 547,179
(b) Performance obligations (b) BHER

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Construction contracting

The performance obligation is satisfied over time
as services are rendered and payment is generally
due within 30 days from the date of billing. A certain
percentage of payment is retained by customers
until the end of the retention period as the Group’s
entitlement to the final payment is conditional on the
satisfaction of the service quality by the customers
over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

FEAEERNEENEMBRMT ¢

BERG
BREEREHRBE R ERBER:
BN -RRHAEHEHEAI0ORAE
HESG FFERENRZETESD
HLEERBHERH/L BAEEE
BEARNRZENDERREFES
BFAz -—EHEANHRBERERT
MBRAAEE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(b) Performance obligations (continued)
Property development

The performance obligation is satisfied when the
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal
title of the completed property and the Group has
a present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:

5.

K@ HmARKS(E)

EFaRABE(HE)
(b) EHEEE)
55 i 7 B 3%

EEFOSCRIVENERERR
FEEMERLBEAEEA WEAR
WREBANBEITRBURAER AIE
WEERER-

R1I2ANM BB FRBENEFTCRE
BRBAORERINZZEREHNT :

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR T

Amounts expected to be recognised as EHEIARZNEEE:

revenue:

Within one year —F R 1,953,341 1,830,724
After one year —F % 5,913,934 6,574,186
Total 5t 7,867,275 8,404,910

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations which are expected
to be recognised as revenue after one year relate
to construction services, of which the performance
obligations are to be satisfied within four years,
while those related to property development are to
be satisfied within two years. All the other amounts
of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be recognised
as revenue within one year. The amounts disclosed
above do not include variable consideration which is
constrained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F 128318

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. k& HttlrARWKR(Z)

(continued)

Other income

Interest income

Dividend income from equity investments
designated at fair value through other

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T
Hfttir A
FE WA 3,134 6,955

BEEABRAFEFAHEMLE
HRANREREZRE

comprehensive income A 9,840 -
Dividend income from financial assets at fair BRAFEFABENEHE

value through profit or loss EZRERKRA - 970
Government grants BUAT 7 B 289 2,227
Total other income Habg A4 %8 13,263 10,152
Gains/(Loss) ke (BHK)
Realised loss of financial assets at fair value BRAFEFABENESHE

through profit or loss ENAZRER (12,357) (108,154)
Others Hfth 4,330 218
Total loss B M (8,027) (107,936)
Total other income and gains, net HEWARKSELEFTE 5,236 (97,784)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

6. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 6. MRREER (BR)
The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/ FEBMOBRBAGEA (BB RINBR (Gt X)
(crediting): TH&EZ K :
2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 3 ABR®T AR T
Cost of construction contracting BERERAR 2,069,793 1,378,760
Cost of property development and EHEMBERAREM
others 484,883 430,397
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BRERZEINE
equipment 13 6,211 7,955
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEINE 15(a) 1,403 1,199
Amortisation of other intangible assets  H fth & £ & & # 85 332 589
Minimum lease payments under REHEBRTHREHREN
operating leases = 15(c) 104 73
Lease payments not included in the FEFAHEEBFENME
measurement of lease liabilities BN 1,442 1,274
Auditor’s remuneration ZE R & 1,600 2,000
Employee benefit expenses (excluding EERAMBEZI(FTBIEE
directors’ and chief executive’s ERESTHASMH
remuneration): &)
- Wages, salaries and allowances - IE - Fe Rz 14,684 14,648
- Social insurance - ERE 11,566 6,057
- Welfare and other expenses - RBA R H AR X 414 614
Total #Et 26,664 21,319
Impairment of trade receivables, net B EWREREFHE 20 (36,035) 177,038
Impairment of contract assets, net EREERBEFRE 21 12,757 (13,876)
Impairment losses on financial assets FAFEMRE  HiEW
included in prepayments, other MERHEHMEENE®
receivables and other assets, net EEREBETSE 24 5,035 (481)
Total 4 =t (18,243) 162,681
Changes in fair value of investment REWELFHEEE
properties 14 100 72,379
Dividend income from equity EEARRATEFTAHEM
investments designated at fair value PEHBKANERERE 2
through other comprehensive income B2 WA 5 (9,840) -
Dividend income from financial assets at # A FEt ABHE N & &
fair value through profit or loss EEZREWA 5 - (970)
Interest income FIE WA 5 (3,134) (6,955)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEME BERRHBEE
property, plant and equipment, and BEREMLIHBEERE
prepaid land lease payments &iE () 409 (110)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F 128318

FINANCE COSTS 7. MERE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MEREANIMAT :
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TR AR T
Interest on bank and other loans ROTRHEMERFE 77,950 75,088
Interest on lease liabilities HESGEMNE 39 75

Total interest expense on financial liabilities WHEBAFEFTABEZHN SR

not at fair value through profit or loss EBENERXAE 77,989 75,163
Less: interest capitalised W ERERE (6,492) (4,297)
Total 5t 71,497 70,866
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EERBESETBRARHH
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RIBELTHEE - FEDAEHE383(1)() * (b)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) (a), (b), CkHErRABR(HEEESNRERBRME2
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 HMEENFAESRESTRAETFHAOT :

of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TTR ARB T

Fees ws 423 417

Other emoluments: HiE S -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind He - EZBEREYNEF 3,111 8,474
Pension scheme contributions and social EBREFEMHAR LR

welfare 49 51

Total F 3,583 8,942

2023FEH tEAREEwREsRAE 219



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

8.

EERBRETBRARHFM(E)

(a) BWIUAIFHTEE
FABMBIFBTESXNZERAN

during the year were as follows: T
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBF T

Independent non-executive directors BAUFHITES

Mr. Li Xu ZE L E 141 139
Mr. Li Qingxu ZEBEE 141 139
Mr. Hou Liang BmEEE 141 27
Mr. Liu Kaixiang 258 %k & - 112
Total @t 423 417

Mr. Liu Kaixiang resigned as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with effect on
21 October 2022. Mr. Hou Liang was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company
with effect on 21 October 2022.

There were no other emoluments payable to the

independent non-executive directors during 2023 (2022:
Nil).
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8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION (continued)

(b)

Executive directors

2023

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

8. EERESTBRABRHFHE)

(b) WMITES
2023%

Pension

Salaries, scheme

allowances contributions

and benefits and social Total
in kind welfare remuneration

BiFaets

Fe - RUR #HRR
EViEF it & & 8 &
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®BTR AR®TTR

Executive directors BITES

Ms. Shen Lifeng REBRZT 2,719 17 2,736
Mr. Li Baotian ZREAXE 240 - 240
Ms. Wang Xinling B =cqnn 38 14 52
Mr. Li Yaruixin TnEBLE 38 2 40
Mr. Zang Lin i8R S & 38 16 54
Ms. Wang Huijie FERLZL 38 - 38
Total 5t 3,111 49 3,160
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EFRERETTBRARFHFME)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors (continued) (b) BMITEFEE)
2022 2022 F
Pension
scheme
Salaries, contributions
allowances and and social Total
benefits in kind welfare remuneration
Bk S5E
FEREER MR R
BEYEA HtEEF 48 %5 B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE  ARBTR  AR®TR
Executive directors BITES
Ms. Shen Lifeng REBRZT 3,082 16 3,098
Mr. Li Baotian FRELEE 2,027 - 2,027
Ms. Wang Xinling EHER L 930 14 944
Mr. Li Yaruixin THnEERE 931 16 947
Mr. Zang Lin R & 752 3 755
Ms. Wang Huijie FEARLT 752 2 754
Total # 5t 8,474 51 8,525

The arrangements under which executive directors
waived remuneration during the year were as below:

FRAUTESHEFHNZ2ZHFOT :

Current year Prior year Total
XEE BEFE Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR® TR AR®B T

Executive directors BITES
Mr. Li Baotian EHREELEE 1,843 4,802 6,645
Ms. Wang Xinling EFHBL L 923 2,400 3,323
Mr. Li Yaruixin THEERLE 923 2,400 3,323
Mr. Zang Lin 8RS & 738 1,920 2,658
Ms. Wang Huijie FERLZE 738 1,920 2,658
Total 5t 5,165 13,442 18,607
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10.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included five
directors (2022: five directors), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above.

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate. Pursuant
to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and British
Virgin Islands, the Company and the Group’s subsidiaries
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands
are not subject to any income tax. The Group’s subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong are not liable for income tax as
they did not have any assessable profits currently arising in
Hong Kong during the year.

Subsidiaries of the Group operating in Chinese Mainland
were subject to the PRC corporate income tax rate of 25% in
accordance with the PRC Corporate Income Tax during the
year.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from
sales of properties less deductible expenditures including
land costs, borrowing costs and other property development
expenditures. The Group has estimated, made and included
in taxation a provision for LAT according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant Chiense Mainland tax laws and
regulations. The LAT provision is subject to the final review
and approval by the local tax bureau.

10.

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

LEERmFMESR
FANEEReFMEERERL EES (2022
F RABRES) HFHFERN LEXHES-

Fiis R
AEBARAEEREQRREMREERE
BEAEZEEELARRBEENERNZERE
ERRFTEH REREHBERABE L
ENBRARRA AXFARFIEERHSH
ENEBELHESEIMRINMBELRAEAR
BREAFEH - AEERETBEMARAILY
MEARERABMFEHR BRAZEL2AR
FARBYTERETBELEEMERTGER -

AEERRFPEREKENHNBLARAIREREA
BREFBEEEAEREZRB5%NBEEZHH P
Bl EFTEH -

THBERDTERN FI0%E60%H REHR
ERIHBERAR L EEERYEH
EMERERTARMA(BELERA - E
REARAMEHEREMAS) - AEERE
EREPEAMBBEEREREZANEAER L1
BERMGS FHRARRERG L EE
BBEARBLAIRBRETERERR M E-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FidR(E)
Certain subsidiaries with properties sold were subject to ETEELEWENHBLARNEAMM L HIZE
LAT which is calculated based on 5% of property revenue in R OHDRBEEELSHEBERMENRER
accordance with the authorised taxation method approved by KR ERFZHNS5%ETE

the respective local tax bureaus.

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR® T

Current income tax BNEAFT 18 B 13,279 18,124

PRC LAT o E + e 3 R 821 (54,127)

Deferred income tax EEFEH 19,185 17,257

Total tax charge for the year FRAMERAZAE 33,285 (18,746)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss or profit EARRERBOME A RTMAERERE

before tax at the statutory tax rate for the jurisdictions in BREFEBREFTENRUEABSBE L EFER

which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are W SHBAXERERSHEFENMSE

domiciled to the tax expense at the effective income tax rates, BEAXHE UREABREEIEERR)HEE
and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory BMBERZHERWNOT :

tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TR AR T
Profit/(loss) before tax BB AER(FE) 44,275 (366,092)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BREEBREFE2HRIE 11,069 (91,523)
Income not subject to tax BARBBA (2,462) (225)
Expenses not deductible for tax FHHNHEX 498 761
Effect of tax rate differences in other HtBtEEREERH
jurisdictions e 14,391 40,308
Unrecognised deductible temporary RERTNREREZER
differences and tax losses HMIEE B 9,173 72,528
Provision for LAT T IEERBERE 821 (54,127)
Tax effect on LAT THIEERNBREEE (205) 13,532
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate BRAEEBEBRREFE
MBE X 33,285 (18,746)
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11.

12.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIVIDENDS 11. KR

Interim — Nil (2022: Nil) FH-SREBERE
per ordinary share (2022%F : &)

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F 128318

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. BRRYERREAARAERE

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE (B #])

PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts REXBF (BE)SENHEDERED
is based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary FEEREBEABRGERERN (BER)UR
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average number FAE BTEBERMNETF YK H809,456,000
of ordinary shares of 809,456,000 (2022: 808,314,000) in issue §% (2022 4 : 808,314,000 %) (4 & LU B &
during the year, as adjusted to reflect the number of shares WRETEITENRDER)

exercised under the Scheme during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue REBREE2023F K2022F12A31H L F

during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

EYEZETHECRTERR -

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share BEREARBERRN (BBR)DERUTER
is based on: &
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TR AR T
Earnings/(loss) B2 (HR)
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity ARAEERERRER
holders of the parent, used in the basic (BEINEAREERER
earnings/(loss) per share calculation BEAEMEFR(EE) 10,990 (847,346)
Number of shares
v g=|
Shares B 5
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FARFESRELRBR,(EH
in issue during the year used in the basic BINERAERTEBRM
earnings/(loss) per share calculation EF YR 809,456,000 808,314,000

2023 FF IR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings

o
RMB’000
AERTR

31 December 2023

At 1 January 2023

2023%12R 318

M202351518

13.

Plant and
machinery
BER
i
RMB’000
AERTT

Mk BERXR

Motor
vehicles

AE
RMB’000
ARWFR

Office
equipment
and others

N
R
RMB’000
ARETT

Construction
in progress

EBIE
RMB’000
AERRFT

Total

5
RMB’000
AERTR

Cost B A 242,421 11,025 11,281 3,511 - 268,238

Accumulated depreciation 2 E (31,120) (7,220) (7,492) (2,162) - (47,994)

Net carrying amount FREE 211,301 3,805 3,789 1,349 - 220,244
At 1 January 2023, net of M2023E 1818

accumulated depreciation NBEFIE 211,301 3,805 3,789 1,349 - 220,244
Additions RE - - 1,690 7 - 1,697
Disposals & (368) - @) - - (409)
Depreciation provided during ERTERE

the year (4,469) (630) (872) (240) - (6,211)
Transfers from property under ERREENE

development - - - - 1,021,068 1,021,068
At 31 December 2023, net of M2023E12 8318

accumulated depreciation NBREFIE 206,464 3,175 4,566 1,116 1,021,068 1,236,389
At 31 December 2023: M2023E12 8318 :

Cost A 242,053 11,025 12,930 3,518 1,021,068 1,290,594

Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (35,589) (7,850) (8,364) (2,402) - (54,205)

Net carrying amount FREE 206,464 3,175 4,566 1,116 1,021,068 1,236,389
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13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

13. VX -BER®M(E)

(continued)
Office
Plant and Motor  equipment
Buildings machinery vehicles  and others Total
BE R N
BF AR "= Rk HAh st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB®TT ARBTRT AR¥®ETR ARB®TR AR®BTR
31 December 2022 2022%¥12HA31H
At 1 January 2022: R2022F1 /18 :
Cost 2N 242,421 11,025 11,075 3,465 267,986
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (24,966) (6,587) (6,636) (1,850) (40,039)
Net carrying amount FRMEE 217,455 4,438 4,439 1,615 227,947
At 1 January 2022, net of M2022F 1818 >
accumulated depreciation NMBREFTHE 217,455 4,438 4,439 1,615 227,947
Additions wE - - 206 46 252
Depreciation provided during & A i & B &
the year (6,154) (633) (856) (312) (7,955)
At 31 December 2022, net of 12022412 B 31
accumulated depreciation B HBRESHH
B 211,301 3,805 3,789 1,349 220,244
At 31 December 2022: 12022512 A 31
g :
Cost 2N 242,421 11,025 11,281 3,511 268,238
Accumulated depreciation E i (81,120) (7,220) (7,492) (2,162) (47,994)
Net carrying amount FIREE 211,301 3,805 3,789 1,349 220,244

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB486,805,000 (2022: RMB199,175,000) were pledged to
secure bank borrowings granted to the Group (note 28).

R2023F12A31A - AEBFHREAENLIAR
% 486,805,000 7T (2022 F : A K ¥ 199,175,000
TINETYUE BERRKBEERAUERR
F A E B AR AT 18 T (M FE28) -

202355H  HERREEBRARAE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. BEWYE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TR ARBT T
Carrying amount at 1 January M1B1EWEREE 239,800 140,400
Transfer from properties held for sale EBREFELEME - 171,779
Net loss from a fair value adjustment AFYEBEFREFER (100) (72,379)
Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31HMEREE 239,700 239,800

The Group’s investment properties consist of two commercial
properties in Chinese Mainland. The directors of the Company
have determined that the investment properties consist of
one class of asset, i.e., commercial, based on the nature,
characteristics and risks of each property. The Group’s
investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2023
based on valuations performed by Jones Lang LaSalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, an independent
professionally qualified valuer, at RMB239,700,000. Each year,
the Group’s property manager and the chief financial officer
decide, to appoint which external valuer to be responsible for
the external valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection
criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence
and whether professional standards are maintained. The
Group’s property manager and the chief financial officer have
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results once a year when the valuation is performed
for annual financial reporting.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under

operating leases, further summary details of which are
included in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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14,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F 128318

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. BEVEE)

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s investment M2023F12AB31A AEEREAEBENAR
properties with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately #£239,700,000 7T (2022 F : A K % 239,800,000
RMB239,700,000 (2022: RMB239,800,000) were pledged to TINETREVECERUERRTAEAE
secure bank borrowings granted to the Group (note 28). Y8R 17 18 7k (Ff £ 28)

Fair value hierarchy SFEEER

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRHEAFREEREVEN AT EFEEBR

hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2023 using
#2023 F12A3THERUTRIB L FEHIE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

RERTS EXTHR EXFAUER

B | WA RS WA B
(B—E®W) (8= &) (B=RE®) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTRT AR®BTR AR®BTR

Recurring fair value
measurement for:

Commercial properties

LT BB ETH
EHEDTE

=

=

BED = = 239,700 239,700

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2022 using
MR2022F12A31AFERAUATRAINAFETE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RIER ™S ENIR R EXTAEHE
B R 1E WA BB WAHE
(BE—B#&) (BZEB&) (B=E#&) 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBF T ARBT ARBT T ARBF T

Recurring fair value
measurement for:

Commercial properties

MUTHEBEETH
BEMHEQTFES

2 -

[GEXZES = = 239,800 239,800
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer
into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil).

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

wEMER(E)

DFERRE)
FROE-BREAF-BRZHALHAFET
ENER TESBRINEHAEE=ERQ022
Foam) .

PEEQATFEEBRE=-ZBRZ2LAFEFEY
£

Commercial
properties
RMB’000
AR T
Carrying amount at 1 January 2022 R2022FE1B1BEWERE A 140,400
Transfer from properties held for sale ERRRBELHEYE 171,779
Net gain or loss from a fair value adjustment recognised in REZERANAFEARZFUWER
profit or loss FE B (72,379)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2022 and 202212 A31H K2023F1A1H
1 January 2023 F AR E & 239,800
Net loss from a fair value adjustment recognised in REZBEIANATFERRZ2FEE
profit or loss (100)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 MR2023F12A31AMWERE & 239,700

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

Valuation technique

REMEGEFMANGERTREREZEH AR
BHERHINNT

Range

Significant unobservable inputs i)

{5 8 EXFTHRSANS m—zozz
Commercial properties Income approach Estimated rental value (RMB per RMB15 to RMBS5 to
s.g.m. and per month) RMB101 RMB375
BEWE A A HEEEBEIRR AR®ISTE AR®BSTE
BRAAR®R) AR%1017T ARM®375T
Discount rate 5.5% - 6% 5.5%
BhIR &

Long term vacancy rate 6% - 30% 10% - 30%

EHEEX
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14,

15.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The fair value of commercial properties is determined by the
income approach by taking into account the rental income
of the properties derived from the existing leases and/or
achievable in the existing market with due allowance for the
reversionary income potential of the leases, which have been
then discounted to determine the fair value at an appropriate
discount rate. Where appropriate, reference to the comparable
sales transactions as available in the relevant market has also
been considered.

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental value
would result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair
value of the investment properties. A significant increase
(decrease) in the long term vacancy rate and the discount rate
in isolation would result in a significant decrease (increase) in
the fair value of the investment properties.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of office
building and leasehold land lease payments used in its
operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
the leased land from the owners with lease periods of 50
years, and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms
of these land leases. Leases of office building generally have
lease terms of 2 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

14.

15.

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

wBEMEE)

LFEBRGE)

BEVENLDFEDBREUAEEE 7%
EEBFAURBEHENBR/RERED
S LAWBNYERSRA BESRHEER
ERWAZELNFBEEGRE YCREENWE
RREFTHERUABEAFE- EBEBRT
NEEZRSEHEATSITELBNEERS -

A EESEEREENCGED)EEFREY
ENAFERBEBEMGED) RBEEERE
REEBABEEMRD)BEEZRENEN
DB KRR D (3 ) o

HE

TEREMERKEAA
FEBERAREXREENRLBURES
tHHEERESZEBEENEESR -BRA
FH-RAMENRABXETREERELH A
HAS0F MRBEZSIHBEENGRIY BT
BEEXNEARE - BPLENHEPEE K2
Fo—RME AEEFRTEAEEUIIAL
EZRkoHHEHEEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. #H& (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) EEEMESZSERBAE)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHEZE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use FRA AEEFAEEENREAER
assets and the movements during the year are as 2HWMT
follows:

Leasehold Office
land building Total

HRLH R st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AR®BTT AR®BTR

As at 1 January 2022 H2022F1H81H 10,020 4,188 14,208
Depreciation charges MEMX (339) (860) (1,199)
Early termination AT L - (2,566) (2,566)
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 R2022%F12H318 &

January 2023 2023F1H1H 9,681 762 10,443
Additions RE - 1,619 1,619
Depreciation charges mEBX (339) (1,064) (1,403)
As at 31 December 2023 A2023% 128 31H 9,342 1,317 10,659
As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s M2023F 12831 AEEBER@AE
right-of-use assets with an aggregate carrying amount YN AR®7,891,0007T (20225 : AR
of approximately RMB7,891,000 (2022: RMB8,120,000) 8,120,000t )W E THEAREEER &
have been pledged to secure bank borrowings granted RUERBEFAEENRITERME
to the Group (note 28). 28) o
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15. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F 128318

15. #H& (&)
FEEEREFEAE)
(b) HEAME
FR HERENEEERZDMT

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR T

Carrying amount at 1 January M1A1EWEREE 716 4,268

New leases mHAE 1,618 -
Accretion of interest recognised FRERNFEG M

during the year 39 75

Payments IR (1,086) (951)

Early termination A& L - (2,676)

Carrying amount at 31 December M12A31HMEEREE 1,287 716

Analysed into: PWAUTEIE:
Current portion B EB 806 716
Non-current portion IE R E B D 481 -

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation

to leases are as follows:

(c) RAEZEREZFHBEEHLHAMT :

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR T

Interest on lease liabilities HERBEFE 39 75

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets F AEEENITER X 1,403 1,199
Expense relating to leases of low-value ERKEBEEEHENH

assets (included in administrative X (FF AT X)
expenses) 104 73
Total amount recognised in profit orloss REZERNWE L 1,546 1,347
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

15. LEASES (continued) 15. #H& (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) FEEERKBEANE)
(d) The total cash outflow for leases relating to leases that (d) HEERBHENEEFENHEHERER
have not yet commenced is disclosed in note 32(b) to HAENKREMFTI20)P K& -

the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor EXEEEHEHEAN
The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) under AEBRBELEHEZHFHBEEREY (I
operating lease arrangements with leases negotiated from H14) HEBEEENT—ZE+&F-

terms ranging from one to ten years.

At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments MR2023F12A31H  AEBEREBEEEBAFL B
receivable by the Group in future periods under FTARESEHERRRBBEEKM KRR
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as HENMROT:

follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARB T

Within one year —FR 9,610 6,971
After one year but within two years HEBE-—FERMER 9,522 3,268
After two years but within three years HEBEMFER=ZFR 8,167 3,407
After three years but within four years HB=FERNFR 8,181 2,063
After four years but within five years BBRANFEREFR 8,275 2,063
After five years hF#% 7,813 2,063
Total 5t 51,568 19,835
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16.

17.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F 128318

16. HERBAFEHHARMEZEARA

ol R

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBF
Equity investments designated at fairvalue EESBRAFEHAHEMZ2E
through other comprehensive income WABMKRERSE
Listed equity investments, at fair value RAFEFENLETRERSE - 3,176
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value RAFEFENFELTRER
=1 134,400 138,000
Total @ 3t 134,400 141,176

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group
considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group received
dividends in the amount of RMB9,840,000 (2022: nil).

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

TR ERETTHEBIEERR D FER
AHMMZEBRAFGE BRAAEERAZSE

REBEMBME-

BZE2023F12A31ALFEE REBFWREWEK
B AR #09,840,000(2022 F : &) °

17. BRAFEGARINEHNEE

Listed equity investments, at fair value

FTRERE

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AR T

BAVEE 17,426 44,077

The above equity investments were classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for
trading.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, no dividend was
received by the Group (2022: RMB970,000).

TRBRBRERSBAEATENAREN
SRMEE DERABEEE-

HZ2023F 12831 EFE AEBHEWK
AR B (20224 : A R#970,0007T) °

2023 FF IR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

18.

DEFERRED TAX

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Chinese Mainland. The requirement is effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate
is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2016.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has retained earnings of
approximately RMB1,056,961,000 (2022: RMB992,554,000).
No deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Company
and the Group’s subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group’s
fund will be retained in Chinese Mainland for the expansion
of the Group’s operation, so it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future.
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RIE T B EERE - R P B AR
BREGCEMIBREESRNRE S A
10% M9 B R W TR I H - &% R E 5200851 A
1THEEXN LEMAR2007F12A31H & H
B -MPBEANMEIFEREEMETAEER
CEITBUBE ATRARENROKR R
AEBNBERABER10% - Bt - B20165F 1
A1RE  AEBE AR E T E ALK E
REAFELENBAMOBENREBETHBKE
M E -

R2023F12A31H "EEHHEERE B F
Y AR #1,056,961,0007T(2022F : A R ¥
992,554,0007t) - WEF A LD & R R B R it
BYWAEBENHWEXRASREDHBO KR
EHRENEENESENRBERELBIR-
KXRABDEEZFRR AEENESBREEF
BRAtt AREZRAEELEE AUEZSEHE
RARTRERDREBEBEFOBEERK -



18.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFERRED TAX (continued) 18. BREMRIF(Z)

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the FR - EZEHEEEREENESHOT :

year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities BIEREEA B

Fair value
Fair value adjustments
adjustments arising

arising from from equity
investment investments at
properties FVOCI
BOAFERA

HthZEmKkA

ol kR

BREYMEREE EE®H
BAFEHAE NFEEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR® T

Others

H it at
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR®T T

At 1 January 2023 R2023%181H 15,613 2,875 41,253 59,741
Deferred tax (charged)/ RERNEBERR

credited to the statement  (30B&), /5t A i

of profit or loss during IE #E 75 18 (Ft 52 10)

the year (note 10) (25) (900) 6,648 5,723
Gross deferred tax liabilities 72023512 831 H

at 31 December 2023 IR E R IH & &

FEE 15,588 1,975 47,901 65,464
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

18. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets

18. EEMRIE(Z)
BERIERE

Unrealised
profit from
Provision for intercompany Impairment of
LAT  transactions receivables Others Total
THEE RERLFMW
RERE Xhiat BERHEE Kt # it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TT ARBTR ARBTR AR®TTR AR®TT
At 1 January 2023 W2023F1A1R 18,187 13,602 70,091 21,550 123,430
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to ~ RERBHE
the statement of profit or loss B/ GTAH
during the year (note 10) BB E (2 10) 760 (3,357) (10,023) 58 (12,562)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 R2023F12B31H K
December 2023 EEHEEEAE 18,947 10,245 60,068 21,608 110,868
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18.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

DEFERRED TAX (continued) 18. EEWRIEA(Z)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEREBFARK
2022
Fair value
Fair value adjustments
adjustments arising
arising from from equity
investment  investments at
properties FVOCI Others Total
BAFEFA
Hit2mE®K A
WERERE
REMEEE BEEW
WAFERAE NFERE Hfth Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B T ARBT T AR T AR®B T
At 1 January 2022 R2022% 1818 15,813 2,875 36,798 55,486
Deferred tax (charged)/ RERBRRK
credited to the statement (B FH AW
of profit or loss during the I 3E B 18
year (note 10) (FF&E10) (200) - 4,455 4,255
Gross deferred tax liabilities 72022 % 12 A 31
at 31 December 2022 BHELZEHEE
B4 58 15,613 2,875 41,253 59,741
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

18.

DEFERRED TAX (continued) 18. EEWRIE(Z)
Deferred tax assets BEERHBERE
2022
Unrealised
profit from
Provision for  intercompany  Impairment of
LAT transactions receivables Others Total
TEE RERLAM
BERE XHaM ERRERE Hit @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT T ARBT T ARBTF T ARBTR
At 1 January 2022 202251518 56,749 10,480 33,980 35,223 136,432
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to ~ REREBHEXR(NKR)/
the statement of profit or loss FANELRE
during the year (38,562) 3,122 36,111 (13,673) (13,002)
Gross deferred tax assets at R2022F 123181
31 December 2022 BEEREEELR 18,187 13,602 70,091 21,550 123,430

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets

and liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial

position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes.

REFIME &

TEEBRBEERAGEER

MBERRERANEHE - UTHA B BERBRE W

ZAEBEERIBERD

#r o

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARB T
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the REEVBEMRRRABINF
consolidated statement of financial position EEFEEE 71,850 84,485
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the REEHBERRIRRAEZNF
consolidated statement of financial position iR = (26,446) (20,796)
Net deferred tax assets FBELEFEEE 45,404 63,689
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19.

20.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

INVENTORIES R

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARB T
Raw materials R R 51 53

TRADE RECEIVABLES ErPEEHRIE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABR® T AR T
Trade receivables ESEKRKE 645,527 613,178
Impairment WA (242,019) (278,054)
Net carrying amount EREE 403,508 335,124

Trade receivables mainly represented receivables from
construction contracting. The payment terms of contract
work receivables are stipulated in the relevant contracts.
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. The credit period offered by the Group is three to six
months, except for retention receivable as detailed below. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that
the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

EZRUARBETEREZEEACNEBKRNRE-
ERIBEURENSTRERREBSEF
AR -AEBEEZFNEZRAEIERE
BE-AEERTHNEERR=ZZE~BEA HT
NHEANERERESRMP - AEBHHE MK
BEEBURELEEBEESN EIREFEERE
EXMUZEREFERR SREEEE
HENAHNER -SRI LAREREAEE
CESRUREDNRRESZRLEFEH
HYBEREFERBRETZER - AEEL
ERAEZRUNEBEAHREAEMERAR
HtEERE -B5RRUREBEREE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 20.

At the end of the reporting period, the due settlements of the
Group’s retention receivables are as follows:

HHEBBKREGE)

RESHR XEEIPEREENERER
TWT:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TTR ARB T

Retentions included in trade receivables FABSERFENERS 64,452 68,598
Provision for impairment WERE (31,242) (19,986)
Retentions included in trade receivables, net st AE ZEWRFENER S FEE 33,210 48,612

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables excluding
retentions at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

Trade receivables without retention receivables

AEEBRBEPARAERZAHEINRBER
BHENESEUREEREERM OKRER
DHWT

EZRUNRE(TEERERERS)

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AR®B T

Within 1 year 1E R 262,008 107,036
1 year to 2 years 15 825F 64,785 151,650
2 years to 3 years 2FB3F 107,085 76,833
3 years to 4 years 3FEZE4EF 42,981 167,802
Over 4 years BiB4F 104,216 41,259
Total #Et 581,075 544,580

Retention receivables included in trade receivables
represented the Group’s unconditional right to receive upon
completion of the warranty period of 1 to 5 years.
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20.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

HHEBBHREE)

REEPAREZREZEDRRIRBERBHE
ZEZRBRURBZREDINAOT :

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AER®TE AR T T

Within 1 year 15 R 268,147 120,060
1 year to 2 years 15 E82F 56,324 100,006
2 years to 3 years 2FE3F 56,145 52,746
Over 3 years 8 iE3F 22,892 62,312
Total 5t 403,508 335,124

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

EZRWRERESEERBEHNT -

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ABR®T ARB T

At beginning of year REHD 278,054 101,016
Impairment losses, net WEEEFE (36,035) 177,038
At end of year RER 242,019 278,054

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure ECLs. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade
receivables are written off if past due for more than one year
and are not subject to enforcement activity.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the impairment loss
amounting to RMB38,478,000 (2022: RMB3,822,000), was
reversed resulting from the offset of the trade receivables and
certain trade payables.

REBREEHELABBEERETHRED M
LA EENFERR BBLEXEDERASR
BUEBERANZEASTFoMARNNWEH B
BEE - ZAERRARZMELER EFH
BERRBEAPIESHNEEBESER - EA
RRRAREBEFERGEFEANEERATEEHR -
—RME MEZERREARES —F 8
MEEZEBARE XEAZREENITED
FriR iR -

BZE2023F12A31ALEE HEBEAR
538,478,000 7T (2022 F : A K% 3,822,000T)
RAEHEZERRARBERETESEAREM
BgE e

202355H  HERREEBRARAE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 200 HEBBHRIE(E)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure TREBINAEEFARBREEETENE S E
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: KHRENEERBER
As at 31 December 2023 ®2023%F12A31H

Past due
bR

Current and

within Over  Apparently
iyear 1to2years 2to3years 3to4years 4 years impaired
EHR

15/ 1£52% 25 E3F SEF4E B4 HEAE

Expected credit loss rate BHGEFER 1.25% 11.58% 21.54% 47.90% 100.00% 100.00% 37.49%
Gross carrying amount REAE
(RMB’000) (AR#TT) 271,542 63,701 71,556 43,939 70,919 123,870 645,527
Expected credit losses BHEEER
(RMB’000) (AR®TR) 3,394 7,378 15,411 21,047 70,919 123,870 242,019
As at 31 December 2022 M2022F12HA31H
Past due
am
Current and
within Over  Apparently
iyear 1to2years 2to3years 3todyears 4 years impaired Total
EHR
15/ 1522% 25 E3F SEEAF BiB4F BERE @
Expected credit loss rate EHGEFER 1.19% 12.64% 31.00% 45.85% 100.00% 100.00% 45.35%
Gross carrying amount REAE
(RMB’000) (AE®TR) 121,499 114,476 76,447 115,085 33,887 151,784 613,178
Expected credit losses BHEEER
(RMB’000) (AR®T 1) 1,440 14,470 23,701 52,772 33,887 151,784 278,054
Included in the above provision for impairment of trade AL EBESERREREREABERE
receivables were provisions for apparently impaired trade B 5 EWMRIBERE AR®123,870,0005t (2022
receivables of RMB123,870,000 (2022: RMB151,784,000) F: AR®151,784,0007T) » A2023F 12 A 31
with an aggregate carrying amount before provision of B BEAMREDAEBA AR123,870,000T
RMB123,870,000 (2022: RMB151,784,000) as at 31 December (2022 F : AR ™®151,784,0007T) °
2023.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONTRACT ASSETS

Contract assets arising from:

ELXAUTRENSREE:

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

eRRE

31 December 31 December 1 January

2023 2022 2022
2023 2022 F 2022 F
12A31H 12H31H 1A1H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AR T AR T

Construction contracting EEAY 1,311,794 1,092,610 1,369,789
Impairment WA (15,400) (2,643) (16,519)
Net carrying amount FIRMEE 1,296,394 1,089,967 1,353,270

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned
from construction contracting as the receipt of consideration is
conditional on successful completion of construction. Included
in contract assets for construction contracting are retention
receivables. Upon completion of services and acceptance by
the customer, the amounts recognised as contract assets are
reclassified to trade receivables. The increases in contract
assets in 2023 and 2022 were the results of the increases in
the provision of construction contracting at the end of each of
the years.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, RMB15,400,000
(2022: RMB2,643,000) was recognised as an allowance for
expected credit losses on contract assets. The Group’s trading
terms and credit policy with customers are disclosed in note
20 to the consolidated financial statements.

EREENRERRREEERE RS MR
BHWE AEREASERRIZETRESA
BB - BZERBENERAEECERRERSE -
—ERBEAREEFES ABRABAE
EENSHEBENIERESEURRIE -]
B & & R 2023 5 & 2022 & & i T3 A R 22 R
BEENSEREM-

BN B E2023F12A31H L FE AR ¥
15,400,000 7T (2022 % : A K % 2,643,000t )
ERARCRNEEEDNFERREBBE L&
BREEFNXEBARGFERERGEAYE
RRME20HHE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

21. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued) 21.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract
assets as at 31 December is as follows:

ERRE(E

M12A31H  SREENHAFREREER

BT

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER® T ARBFT T
Within one year —F R 735,406 472,123
After one year —F % 560,988 617,844
Total contract assets EREEHLAE 1,296,394 1,089,967
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of CREEREBEREBEESHOT
contract assets are as follows:
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TTT ARBFT T
At beginning of year RED 2,643 16,519
Impairment losses recognised FREINREEREFE
during the year, net (note 6) (P 5E6) 12,757 (13,876)
At end of year RE R 15,400 2,643
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21.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

CONTRACT ASSETS (continued) 2. AREE(E

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date REBRSHHEFARBEBETHRES T

using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. UstERHEEBR - STEcREENTESR

The provision rates for the measurement of the expected FEFBENEBBLEEDERESEKRREN

credit losses of the contract assets are based on those of BELELE DHAREGRAEERES EKRAE

the trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade REB—FEFPER -TEAREENEEL

receivables are from the same customer bases. The provision EZDEREEELUEBEBEANZBEFR 2

rates of contract assets are based on days past due of trade HAMBHAREE(IE ERERN &

receivables for groupings of various customer segments with FEARTFEAUREEAEIHEHMEERRE

similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product AN REEHEE) ZAERUIAEZMELR -

type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of EMEBERRBREEH TSN EEBRESE

credit or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation BEAMRTRERARCERGEIANEGEER T E

reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value EH o

of money and reasonable and supportable information that

is available at the reporting date about past events, current

conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure TRHIEBAAEECARBERNERE

on the Group’s contract assets using a provision matrix: ERGRNEERBRER

Expected credit loss rate HHEEBEXR 1.17% 0.24%

Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) RELABEANRE T T 1,311,794 1,092,610

Expected credit losses (RMB’000) EHEEBEBARE T T 15,400 2,643
202355H TEXREEBEERAT 247



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

22. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 22. EEYE

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

Carrying amount at 1 January M1A1EWEREE 2,314,414 2,393,101
Additions hE 312,267 370,009
Transferred to construction in progress EREFEEIR (1,021,068) -

Transferred to completed properties held ERZEECERIFHELHEDE

for sale (706,872) (448,696)

Carrying amount at the end of the year FREEE 898,741 2,314,414

Properties under development expected to be completed and

ERZMERSRUATHEA TR R EE :

recovered:
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥®TX AREFT T
Within one year —FR 692,288 1,235,894
After one year —F# 206,453 1,078,520
Total Fal 898,741 2,314,414

The Group’s properties under development are situated on
leasehold land in Chinese Mainland.

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s properties
under development with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately RMB135,981,000 (2022: RMB283,600,000) have
been pledged to secure bank and other borrowings granted to
the Group (note 28).
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23.

24,

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F 128318

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 23. EBRINMEHEYDE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR T
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year E ¥ REE 822,253 973,845
Transferred from properties under development E & B IE 2 ¥ # 706,872 448,696
Transferred to investment properties EREREYE - (171,779)
Transferred to cost of sales EREZFHEERSE (483,191) (428,509)
Carrying amount at the end of the year FREEE 1,045,934 822,253
PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 24, BAMNRE HOUBKRERAMEE

OTHER ASSETS

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ABR®TR AR T

Prepayments SEENE ] 36,594 107,535

Deposits & 64,563 77,792

Other receivables H b fE UK 7R 1B 69,944 66,904

Loans to employees mESRMEER 62,953 62,054

Other tax recoverable H fth 7] Ui B FIE 17,626 11,548

Advances to related parties (note 36) /e B8 B A 2 3 (K 3£ 36) 5,574 4,460
Advances to the ultimate holding company MEAEZERQIAER

(note 36) (Ff 5% 36) 1,784 3,927

259,038 334,220

Impairment allowance WERE (18,418) (13,383)

Total 5t 240,620 320,837

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets are
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.
The loans to employees were provided by the Group for
vesting the restricted shares under the Scheme.

ANRE -HMBEARERAMEERER
A R2EREREREE AREEHNER
DEHASERBEZFEANEBEZRIR MM

=it
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

24. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 24, BAMNRE HOUBKRERAMEE
OTHER ASSETS (continued) (%)
The movements in provision for impairment of prepayments, BEARE - ReRHEMERZERERES
deposits and other receivables are as follows: BT :
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T
At beginning of year RED 13,383 13,864
Impairment losses, net BB E B F A 5,035 (481)
At end of year REXR 18,418 13,383
The Group has evaluated the expected loss rate and gross AEECHAEHAEEEREEAE BRI
carrying amount, measured the impairment based on the N2EREHEEEREGERE LFHER
12-month expected credit losses, and assessed that the 2023F12A31IBENFEHEEFEAARE
expected credit losses were RMB18,418,000 as at 31 18,418,0007t (20225 : A R%13,383,0007T) ©
December 2023 (2022: RMB13,383,000).
25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 25. BeRBeEFRPLUREEHER
PLEDGED DEPOSITS
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARB T
Cash and bank balances HERRTEG 436,504 625,772
Less: pledged time deposits W EEHEHER
Pledged for bank loans RITERIE#H 41,508 46,523
Pledged for others H fth 3K 5 207,072 356,273
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBReEEY 187,924 222,976

China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited

Annual Report 2023



25.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, bank deposits of RMB41,508,000
(2022: RMB46,523,000) were pledged as security for
purchasers’ mortgage loans.

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain
construction contracting companies and property development
companies of the Group are required to place certain amounts
of cash in designated bank accounts for specified use. As
at 31 December 2023, such restricted cash amounted to
RMB207,072,000 (2022: RMB356,273,000).

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents
approximated to their fair values.

At the end of the reporting period, cash and bank balances
are denominated in RMB, United States dollar (“USD”) and
Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies. However, under Chinese Mainland’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

25.

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

BeRBeFRMUREHAER
(%)

720236128318 » A R#41,508,0005 (2022
& AR #46,523,000T) IR TEREEH
FESTERBER

RETEEBEEIREE AEENETESR
ABAAREHMERBELARNEAREERT
BEFEA—T2ENBRSEBETAE R
2023F12A31H ZEZERHRALAARE
207,072,000 7T (2022 F : A R % 356,273,000
TT) °

RORERBSARTERNERIDAE
HE - ROLBEREISERENES BEE
RENAT-RERRLSSEYNEAMEE
WERATEME -

RESHR BERBRITEKUARE -ER
TEZERDEBR(BETDFE - ARBTE
HABREAMBEYR AWM - REPE R 25
EEERIRGE EERFEEERE &
EEEREZEBEERTEARELBFER
tEWLETHIER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

26. TRADE PAYABLES 26. HHEMARE

An ageing analysis of the trade payables at the end of the BRERRERBERHNEZRERNAREZR

reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BoWMWT :
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABR®T AR T
Within 6 months 618 A K 600,981 459,101
6 months to 1 year 6@ A E1HF 234,926 426,521
1to 2 years 1§ ZE245F 323,458 98,398
2 to 3 years 2FEEIF 88,369 542,455
Over 3 years HBiE3F 580,332 235,979
Total 45t 1,828,066 1,762,454
Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally ESRENREATHEE—RRBEIREE

settled based on the progress of construction. HE -
27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. HttEAREREAER

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR T
Contract liabilities cREE (a) 643,085 1,006,268
Other payables Hfh fE SR8 (b) 764,851 847,962
Other tax payable H b fE{F Fi 18 337,852 314,760
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits EitHe TERBH 3,451 11,982
Amounts due to related parties (note 36) F& 13 B8 B 75 7% 18 (Fff 3£ 36) 7,786 36,935
Interest payable AR R 20,739 -
Others Hfth 962 1,192
Total 5t 1,778,726 2,219,099
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued) 27.

Notes:

(@)

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fff &

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

HtEAREREGBER(E)

(a) ERAENFBEOT

31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
2023 F 2022 2022 F
12A31H 12H31H 1818
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®B T AR®T T

Short-term advances received from WE & P 5 B R

customers

Construction contracting BEAE 318,384 536,120 286,966
Pre-sale of properties FEEME 324,701 470,148 647,083
Total 5t 643,085 1,006,268 934,049

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received from
customers for construction contracting when the pace of
progress billings exceeds the pace of relevant construction

projects and pre-sale proceeds in relation to property sales

contracts.

As at 31 December 2023, except for the other payables (b)
amounting to RMB7,136,000 (2022: RMB13,696,000), which

bear an interest rate of 8.25% per annum, all other payables

are non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

2023 FF3R

ERABEEEREEREEREBRBHEBRES
HEZERREEABAZTFRIRNEDRR
RREBYNEHRESRNAERERE -

R2023F12A3TA - REMENSRBEAR
¥ 7,136,000 T (2022 F : A & ¥ 13,696,000
TEFFE8.25% B4 B H M ENRK
BYARERARERER-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 28. FHTEHBRITREMMER
BORROWINGS
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
2023%12A31H 2022%12831H
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate(%) Maturity RMB’000 rate(%) Maturity RMB’000
REfE ERAZE
(%) HY AR®TT (%) A8 AR®Tn
Current Bp &
Other loans - secured* EtER-BEE 12.00 Over due 274,390  11.00-12.00 2023 270,464
&
Other loans - unsecured* HthER-BEH" 12.00 Over due 35,172  11.00-12.00 2023 34,675
i
Current portion of long term RESTERZOES 5.25-6.65 2024 231,000 5.50-8.70 2023 339,099
bank borrowings - secured Bo-BHEA
Total - current A -H 540,562 644,238
Non-current 3k B &
Bank borrowings - secured BOEH-BER 5.25-8.70 2025-2026 505,000 5.50-6.65 2024-2025 260,000
Total Foly 1,045,562 904,238
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTR ARB T
Analysed into: DB UTERE:
Bank and other borrowings repayable: EEERTREMER:
Within one year or on demand —FARARKRER 540,562 644,238
In the second year E_F 503,000 110,000
In the third to fifth years, inclusive B=ZFZFERF
(BEEREME) 2,000 150,000
Total w5t 1,045,562 904,238
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28.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Except for the 12.00% other loans which are denominated in

USD, all borrowings are in RMB.

Other loans with principal amounts of USD44,000,000
(equivalent to RMB309,562,000) were due on 6 February 2023,
of which USD4,130,000 (equivalent to RMB30,000,000) has
been paid as at the report date.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s investment
properties with an aggregate carrying amount
of approximately RMB239,700,000 (2022:
RMB239,800,000) were pledged to secure bank
borrowings granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s
properties under development with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately RMB135,981,000
(2022: RMB283,600,000) were pledged to secure bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment with a carrying
amount of approximately RMB486,805,000 (2022:
RMB199,175,000) were pledged to secure bank
borrowings granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s
right-of-use assets with a carrying amount of
approximately RMB7,891,000 (2022: RMB8,120,000)
were pledged to secure bank borrowings granted to the
Group.

28.

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

ARRTRAMMBER(E)

BRUETFENI2.00%HMBERN 2 BE
REUARBIE-

* A & % R44,000,000% T(HE R AR
309,562,0007t) ) H 1 & ;X 2 W 2023F2 A
6EE M Hd4,130,000 X T(HHERARY
30,000,0007t) 2 MR & A AT -

(@ H2023F12A31A - AEEEETMAE
# AR #239,700,0007T (2022F 1 AR
# 239,800,000 ) 1y 1 E M K B & 1 1
ERETAEENRGER .

(b) R2023F12A31H AEERERE
Y AKRM 135,981,000t (20225 : AR
# 283,600,000 T)NE TEEMHXEER
HUERBETFAEEMNRITRAAME

=
Mo

(c) R2023F12A31H AEERERE
X AR ¥ 486,805,000 T (20225 : AR
#199,175,000 L)W E T E -BER
RECEMUERRTFAEENRT

B e

(d  H2023F12A31A - AEEEETEE
# A R #7,891,000 7T (2022 F : A R M
8,120,000 X)W E FEAEEEC & #
MERETFREBMHRTER

2023FEH TEXREERRERAT 20D



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. BB®&E
Shares B% 13
2023 2022
HKD’000 HKD’000
TET FET
Authorised: EE

2,000,000,000 (2022: 2,000,000,000) ordinary ~ 2,000,000,000 f% (2022 £ :

shares of HKD0.01 each 2,000,000,000 %) & R &
0.01 BT 2 EBR

20,000 20,000

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABR®TT AR T
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
809,456,000 (2022: 809,456,000) ordinary 809,456,000 A% (2022 & :
shares of HKD0.01 each 809,456,000 %) & it E &

0.O1BRT2EBR

7,281 7,281

30. SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company operates the Scheme for the purpose of (i)
recognising the contributions by certain employees (the
“Selected Employees”) and providing them with incentives
in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Company; and (ii) attracting suitable
personnel for further development of the Company. The
Scheme became effective on 4 March 2020 and subjected to
early termination and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
would remain in force for 5 years from that date.

The Board shall not make any further award of awarded shares
(the “Awarded Shares”) which will result in the number of the
shares awarded by the Board under the Scheme exceeding 5%
of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.
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30.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

The Company entered into trust deed and appointed Victory
Global Trustee Company Limited as the Trustee for the
administration of the Scheme on 4 March 2020. During the
year ended 31 December 2020, 19,848,000 shares were
purchased by the Trustee from the market, representing
approximately 2.45% of the issued share capital of the
Company, at an average price of approximately HKD2.68
(equivalent to RMB2.44) per share, with an aggregate amount
of HKD53,188,000 (equivalent to RMB48,517,000).

On January 21, 2022, the Board granted a total of 19,848,000
Awarded Shares to 20 Selected Employees under the Scheme
at the price of HKD3.5 per Awarded Share. The Selected
Employees shall continue to serve the Group for at least five
years from the date of the grant (“Restricted Period”).

In the event of early termination of the employment
relationship between the Selected Employees and the Group
within the Restricted Period, the Selected Employees shall
pay to the Company, within five business days of the date
of termination of the employment, the difference between (a)
the aggregate value of the Awarded Shares (calculated based
on the closing price of the Shares on the date of termination
of the employment) and the awarded amount (the “Awarded
Amount”); or (b) the aggregate value of the Awarded Shares
(based on the closing price of Shares on the last trading day
prior to the date of grant) and the Awarded Amount; whichever
is the higher.

The Awarded Shares confer rights on the Selected Employees
to dividends and to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

30.

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

A% 1% 58 W &t & (42)

A D ARN020F3A4B T IEEZH B
ZABNBRELAERAAREEZT Y
W2 A B £2020F12A318 1t & &
BEREARTHEMEERN268ET(HER
AR #2.4470) & T 15 88 B 19,848,000/ &
B EARACRTRAN245% BEBEH
53,188,000 jT (18 & M A R #48,517,0007T) °

M2022FE1H21B EERBREBEZTERER
RERMISBTNEEO20REEREER Y
419,848,000 R BB M - BREEEBR
R BEEALREEARBZLPEF(E
FREIEARTD o

MEBREREEAEBNRMBRHBERAL L
EREBEF ETREREEEERERKLZA
EBAEEXRAQAQRAXNUTELRE: (9
RERONBEERRONEBRBERLLA
HOBTEFENRBEHE(RBESHED 2
B ZO)RBRONAEERBEREBEHN
AEE-—EAXZENROBVHEFE)MRE
TH2E LRSS ERE-

RBROVBTFETEERRBRERNRBRRX
ELEREWNER -

2023 FF3R

PEAREEREERAT 2D/(



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

30. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

The following restricted shares were outstanding under the
Scheme during the year:

30.

Vesting price

BERE
RMB

AR #
per share
-3

At 1 January ®1A1H
Granted during the year FREF
Vested during the year FREB

A% 17 58 W &t & (42)
FRRMBMETHRITENZRARGMT :

2022

Number of Number of
restricted restricted
shares Vesting price shares
35 PR il = BRI
BB E FEE RGoEE
’000 RMB 000
T B& ARH TR

per share

[k
- 2.85 19,848
- 2.85 (19,848)

At 31 December W12H831H

The weighted average share price at the vesting date was nil
(2022: 2.85).

As at 31 December 2023, no share based compensation
expense was recognized in the consolidated financial
statements (2022: nil).

31. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 150 to
151 of the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the difference between the
par value of the shares issued and the consideration
received. During the year, increase of capital reserve
represents the waived remuneration by controlling
shareholder and his two nominee shareholders. (Note 8)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. RESERVES (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

)

Special reserve

In the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has appropriated a certain
amount of retained profits to a special reserve fund
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, for
safety production expense purposes as required by
the directives issued by the relevant PRC government
authorities. The Group charged the safety production
expense to the statement of profit or loss when such
expense was incurred, and at the same time an equal
amount of such special reserve fund was utilised and
transferred back to retained earnings until such special
reserve was fully utilised.

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, certain
subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic enterprises
are required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax,
as determined in accordance with the relevant PRC
accounting standards, to their respective statutory surplus
reserves until the reserves reach 50% of their respective
registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out
in the PRC Company Law, part of the statutory surplus
reserve may be converted to share capital, provided that
the remaining balance after the capitalisation is not less
than 25% of the registered capital.

Fair value reserve of financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income
The equity investment revaluation reserve represents
unrealised fair value gains or losses for equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Shares held for share award scheme

As at 31 December 2023, the Group fully granted
the shares held for share award scheme to Selected
Employees. (Note 30)

Other reserves

The other reserves represent dividend income on
shares held for the Scheme.

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

31. %W (2&)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

f)

¥ Bl G R
RERGAVBHRRE B E2023F
R2022F12A31HLEE AEEBE
EHBOIREBN D N EREZHB B
T -AREBETERFERREMD
ESHRENZE2EEMX -AEER
ZELEERIXELERBEFTABER
YTEBHAESESHENBIRES
BoOozRERN EEZBNREE
BEHAR/L-

ik E B RN

BREPREAAFE AEEETHWE LA
ARERNEE BEBRBREFH10%
TEESBEERSEE LIDRIE
HETESHEAEE BEEREBE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32.

OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions
For the year ended 31 December 2023, trade payables

amounting to RMB84,064,000 (2022: RMB88,156,000)
were offset with trade receivables.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, other payables
amounting to RMB40,860,000 (2022: RMB62,235,000)
were offset with other receivables.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
didn’t have non-cash reductions to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities (2022: RMB2,566,000
and RMB2,676,000, respectively, in respect of early
termination for lease arrangement for properties).

FEBaRNBERME
(@) EXEEHXBREXH

HE2028F12A31ALLFEE E5 &
14 F 1B A R #84,064,000 5t (2022 £ :
A R 88,156,000 T) # & 5 FE W X 18
e o

B E2023F12A31ALLFE HitbfE
4 & H A R ¥40,860,000 7T (2022 F :
A R #62,235,0007T) 2 8 H 1 fE W X
HIEHH -

B E2023F12A31BLFE *&E
MECHAEEEREEEEN RS
WA (2022F  HRELLEVWEHRER
FDR#EEB ARY2566,000T kAR
#£2,676,0007T)) °

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) NREMEITDHABEH
activities
Interest-bearing
bank and other
borrowings Lease liabilities
MBRRTR
Hfih & & HEE®E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABR®TR AR T
At 1 January 2023 A2023F1H81H 904,238 716
Changes from financing cash flows MEREREEE 86,432 (1,086)
New leases HEE - 1,618
Interest expense F BB X 50,468 39
Exchange realignment B 4,424 -
At 31 December 2023 A2023F12A831H 1,045,562 1,287
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F 128318

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32. FEABERERME(E)
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) REMEFIDHEAGSEDHE)
activities (continued)

Interest-bearing

bank and other

borrowings Lease liabilities
MBRITR

H fih 5 HEE®E

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARB T

At 1 January 2022 A2022F181H 795,707 4,268
Changes from financing cash flows BMEBRSRELD 14,258 (951)
Early termination RATHA L - (2,676)
Interest expense BB X 68,543 75
Exchange realignment [ 25,730 -
At 31 December 2022 A2022F12H31H 904,238 716

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERSGTHESH

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARB T

Within operating activities RETFIR 104 73
Within financing activities mEEE R 1,086 951
Total w5t 1,190 1,024
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

33.

34.

35.

262 China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has provided guarantees
in respect of mortgage facilities for certain purchasers
of the Group’s properties amounting to approximately
RMB1,789,386,000 (2022: RMB1,729,913,000).

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of grant
of the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance
of real estate ownership certificates to the purchasers, which
will generally be available within one to two years after the
purchasers take possession of the relevant properties.

The directors of the Group consider that the fair value of the
guarantees is not significant, and in the case of default on
payments, the net realisable value of the related properties can
cover the repayment of the outstanding mortgage principals
together with the accrued interest and penalties. Therefore,
no provision for the guarantees has been made during the
reporting period.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s bank and other borrowings which are
mortgaged by the assets of the Group or guaranteed are
included in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following contractual commitments at the
end of the reporting period:

33.

34.

35.

RARR

M20236F 128318 A EBERFEE Y ¥
#0% F 8754 A R ¥#1,789,386,00057T (20224 :
ABR#1,729,913,0000) Mz BRI E R HER -

AEEBNERBREBEAERRE A BH
B EELQEABRREHERARERR L,
—RRETDSHENER -—ZEMEABTR -

FEBESERL ERNLAFELTEKR B
MAREN  MABBEYREN T ERFEAE
ERBERBREACEREFANERT S
MER Bt RREHR TRRBBHRSE
PRLEREHERE

R2023F12A31H AEBITEEME KRG
REfE-

BEEH

FREAEERASEEER TR ERNRT
REMERZFEBTEARGES M BRRME28 -

ik
AEERERHMEREEATSHRE:

31 December

Contracted, but not provided for:

Construction contracting BERE

SR EREE:

12H31H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARB T
261,912 241,695
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F 128318

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. FBAXD
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed () MRZISFHERZHMEMFAFL
elsewhere in these financial statements, the BN FEEERABEIRER
Group had the following transactions with BTHNXS:

related parties during the year:

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®BTT AR®T T
Advances to related parties [ B8 Bt 5 B - 63
Repayments of advances from BEREBEBELIN
related parties E- B 30,000 -
Repayments of advances to the BEORELERAA
ultimate holding company EE N 3,796 3,742
Advances from related parties RE BB WK - 30,000
Repayments of advances to related {Ei& B BB 5 K8 &%
parties 63 -
Purchases of raw materials from B2EBE R
a company of which a director (KRB —BREEAH
of the Company is a controlling ZERRERRKRR)
shareholder (i) 784 -
Property management fee paid to MEBEFXTNESE
related parties B2E (i) 2,482 2,537
Interest expense on other loans HEERNFERX (iii) 3,796 3,742
Other rental income HiHEESWA (iv) 1,699 1,701
Other interest income H R B WA (v) 1,999 2,043
Purchase of office supplies from BEBIBERLAOAM
related parties (vi) 469 361
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the
Group had the following transactions with
related parties during the year: (continued)

Notes:

(i) The purchases were made from companies of which
Mr. Li Baotian is a controlling shareholder. The
directors consider that the purchases of raw materials
were made according to the published prices and
conditions similar to those offered to the major
customers of the suppliers, except that interest was
not charged on overdue balances. As at 31 December
2023, the balance owing to the suppliers was
RMB8,984,000 (2022: RMB8,984,000).

(i) The fees were paid for the property management
services provided by companies controlled by Mr.
Li Baotian’s spouse. As at 31 December 2023, the
balance owing to the companies was RMB10,409,000
(2022: RMB9,035,000).

(iii) The interest expense was paid for the loan from the
ultimate holding company with an interest rate of 12%.
There was no outstanding balance with the ultimate
holding company as at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

(iv) The rental income was from the lease agreement with
companies controlled by Mr. Li Baotian and his spouse.
As at 31 December 2023, the balance due from the
companies was RMB8,197,000 (2022: RMB6,498,000).

(v) The other interest income was from the advances to
the ultimate holding company with an interest rate
of 12%, the balance due from the ultimate holding
company was RMB5,280,000 (2022: RMB3,281,000).

(vi) The purchase was made from company controlled by
Mr. Li Baotian’s spouse. There was no outstanding
balance with this related party as at 31 December 2023
(2022: Nil).
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36. WBMAXH(E)
BRESFMHERERAMEHMREL
ZXBNH FREEMBARFAN
FTHNXH: (&

(a)

(i)

(ifi)

(iv)

EEBEDROZSEARAEL m=E
REAXEAZELNANERRKRRER:-
EERH BEEMHMDOREHED
HEBNEEEFMEMREBELUY
CAMERREHEET EANEX
3R B4 B W EL - A2023F 12
B31A Y HEEBNEHR A A
[ #8,984,000 7T (20224 : A R #
8,984,0007T) °

EBERDRTRELENERBA
BEHELCARENWEETERBMX
f$ o M2023F12R31R8 R &%
DA WA ER AR AR 10,409,000 T
(2022 % : AR #9,035,0007T) °

MERMXDRREBELKERLIN
ERMX AN 7R HB12% - %2023
F12A31A HEHEHGKEZRQA
BEMREESRQ2022F 1 &) -

HEBWARBETREALEERAER
BES QR 2 E W - R2023
FI12A31A ERZEQAMNER
R ARMS,197,000T (2022F : AR
#56,498,000 7T) °

HFERARBBRLERA A
BEHFER12% BREKRERD
" # 8 B A R ¥5,280,000 5T (2022
F: AR ¥3,281,0007T) °

BEDHFRELZENBRBHAER
B~ A fE e R2023F12831H
MEEZEBRIEEAREESH
(2022F 1 &) »



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F 128318

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36. ABMAEXR(E)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (b) HEBABHXREMTEER

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T

Prepayments, other receivablesand HfHRBE HttEKRHEARE

other assets (note 24)*: i 3 = (f &E24)* -
Advances to the ultimate holding mEAZERQAER
company 1,784 3,927
Advances to related parties o] B8 B 5 B 5,574 4,460
7,358 8,387
Other payables and accruals HthENREREFER
(note 27)*: (B §E27)*:
Amounts due to other related parties FEAS H b BA 5 FR 1B 7,786 36,935
Interest-bearing other borrowings Bt B H fih 5 R (P 5 28) -
(note 28):
Loans from the ultimate holding REBRALERATMNER
company 35,172 34,675
* As at 31 December 2023, except for the advances * M2023F12A31H B EHERER
to the ultimate holding company amounting to D E B ;AR 1,784,000 7T (2022
RMB1,784,000 (2022: RMB3,927,000), which bear F . AR ¥3,927,0007T) #Z11% K R
an interest rate of 11%, all other receivables were R BN FEHMERRES S
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on EIKF RERBEREREEUAR
demand and non-trade. FESH o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36. MBMAEXH(E)
(c) Compensation of senior management c) EREBABRFFEH
personnel
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTR AR®BT T
Short-term employee benefits EHEERA 3,648 9,002
Pension scheme contributions and BRESTTEERRLER
social welfare 90 92
Total compensation paid to senior mMeREBAEZSTHEMH
management personnel FER] 3,738 9,094
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s EBESERERSITHRAEHMENE —
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial THBHEHRUBERMRM T8

statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. BRENBSHEMIR

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REEBEHBR SESRIANERENT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

2023 20235

Financial assets SMEE

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value
at fair value through other
through profit comprehensive
or loss income
BAFEHRA
BOAFEEA HtiZEB AW
RENemEE eHEE
Designated
as such upon Equity Financial assets
initial recognition investments  at amortised cost Total
ROSHRH BREBREFHE
HEmM BB HEMEE # i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ABRRTR AR%TR AR%TT
Financial assets included in FARNRE B E
prepayments, other receivables KHEREHEEN
and other assets CREE - - 186,401 186,401
Equity investments at fair value EEARATENAH
through other comprehensive 2 ERANRER
income & - 134,400 - 134,400
Equity investments at fair value EERARATETAE
through profit or loss ANRERE 17,426 - - 17,426
Trade receivables ESEWFE - - 403,508 403,508
Pledged deposits EERBEX - - 248,580 248,580
Cash and cash equivalents RERBLEEY - - 187,924 187,924
Total @s 17,426 134,400 1,026,413 1,178,239
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. BENBESHNEMIAE)
(continued)
Financial liabilities &M AR
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REBRTHE
HemAR
RMB’000
AR®TT
Trade payables E 5 EMNFRE 1,828,066
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals # AHEMENREREFTEHAN
sRas 772,638
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFERTEEMER 1,045,562
Total wa 3,646,266
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37.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37. RENESMEMIA(E)
(continued)

2022 2022 &

Financial assets eRER

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

Financial assets

Financial assets
at fair value

at fair value through other
through profit or comprehensive
loss income
BOFETA
BELTERFA Htb2EWAH
BRNERERE tREE
Designated as
such upon initial Equity  Financial assets at
recognition investments amortised cost Total
ROSERR REHARGTE
BEME RERE MWeMmEE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT T ARBETF T AREBTR
Financial assets included in FARMARE Hft
prepayments, other receivables ERREREMEE
and other assets MeERmEE - - 201,754 201,754
Equity investments at fair value EERARATETA
through other comprehensive Hit 2K AR E
income RE - 141,176 - 141,176
Equity investments at fair value EEABRATETA
through profit or loss BaNRERE 44,077 - - 44,077
Trade receivables g5 EWHE - - 335,124 335,124
Pledged deposits EEHREX - - 402,796 402,796
Cash and cash equivalents ReRELEEY - - 222,976 222,976
44,077 141,176 1,162,650 1,347,903
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

37. RENNSHEMIA(E)

(continued)
Financial liabilities eMAR
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
BREBHERARTE
Hemes
RMB’000
AR T
Trade payables B 5 ENRE 1,762,454
Financial liabilities included in other payables FAHMENREREFEARAN
and accruals s@mas 884,897
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFERITREMER 904,238
3,551,589

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 38.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

EMIANLXFERLITFERR

REEEEATFTESERENERI AN
FEBERIANKAERAFENT

Carrying amounts Fair values
IR E (B nNF¥E

RMB’000

2023 2022

RMB’000

2023
RMB’000

2022
RMB’000

AER®TR ARBEF T ABR® TR AR T

Financial assets EMEE
Equity investments EERKRATES

designated at fair AHEfMEZEE X

value through other HWRERE

comprehensive income 134,400 141,176 134,400 141,176
Financial assets at fair value %2 FET AEH

through profit or loss HNEmEE 17,426 44,077 17,426 44,077
Total ot 151,826 185,253 151,826 185,253
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38.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, trade payables and financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of
these instruments.

The Group’s management is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments. At each reporting date, management
analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation.
The valuation process and results are discussed with the
audit committee twice a year for interim and annual financial
reporting.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based
on quoted market prices. The fair values of unlisted
equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income have been estimated using a
market-based valuation technique based on assumptions
that are not supported by observable market prices or rates.
The valuation requires the directors to determine comparable
public companies based on industry, size, leverage and
strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price multiple, such
as price to earnings (“P/E”) multiple, for each comparable
company identified. The multiple is calculated by dividing
the enterprise value of the comparable company by an
earnings measure. The trading multiple is then discounted for
considerations such as illiquidity and size differences between
the comparable companies based on company-specific facts
and circumstances. The discounted multiple is applied to
the corresponding earnings measure of the unlisted equity
investments to measure the fair value. The directors believe
that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
technique, which are recorded in the consolidated statement
of financial position, and the related changes in fair values,
which are recorded in other comprehensive income, are
reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate values at
the end of the reporting period.

38.

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

EMTIRHLFERLFEERE)

EHECHMRERRESEEY CEREF
HoBEZRERE-FARMCSRE  HiMEK
REARAEMEENETREE EZRENXE
URFARMENREREFEANSME
BENAVERERESKREERE DEEAR
ZETENREHRNEH-

rEBEEREAEEEERIAQATEFE
ZCBEREBF REREEH EEESIN
ERMIAEECSHYEEHEMAZTE
WAB - HEBEREARSEEFMARANPH
REEHNBBEREEREZESTM -

ETRERENDFEDERTESHRE -BE
ARAFEFAHEMCZEWANELTRE
RENLDFVE CRBAFAITEENTS
BERIAFNEIFZRRT RAERTSHNMG
BEREG -HEERESRETEX -RE-
BRREBRRETELR QR QA I HAE
FNETELRDOAFEHEENEREE
EmmBEE(HTRRDEH ZBHRIOUTE
ERLATNEXEERUBINERETUTE -
RE ERQAABENERERER ZRXE
FEATELRAACHNERBUERBES
REZREREMTUTR - TENFHER
RIFLTRAREEENRINESEUFELR
FE-ESAH KARGERFESHLI K
ABREHBRRROMEAD2FE ARIEK
REM2ERANAIFEZHEBZBIDES
B ARBREHRBHREER-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 38.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The
Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings as at 31 December 2023 was assessed
to be insignificant.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instrument together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023:

ERMIRHLFERLFERER(E)

AERTREMMERNATFTECBEBREARE
rE FERBERSBTHRIABELMUNHNITA
MERASNEERAPRRRERBTH -
REBMR2023F12AT BT RBITREM
ERNBETENREBRIERLTEKR-

TREMNR2023F12AMBEERM T AGREN
EXTABERABBEERESHRED M

Significant Sensitivity of fair value
Valuation technique unobservable input Range to the input
EXFAUEER
45 {EH PG . §] HE A2FEHBANBOHRE
Investment A Valuation multiples Median P/E multiple of 4.94 Alow end of 3.00 and high
peers end of 9.44 P/E multiple
used would result in a
difference in fair value of
RMB176,000,000
REA fhEE# BTHRUBETEEEH 494 FRAKMKI.00KRFEE9.441

Discount for lack of
marketability

REZWMERBUIER

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts
of premiums and discounts determined by the Group that
market participants would take into account when pricing the
investments.
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TR EEHBERAFE
=% AR %176,000,000 7T

16.00% 5% increase/decrease in
discount would result in
decrease/increase in fair
value of RMB8,000,000

16.00% BEIR 1B 0, 2 5% 15 H
DEFERD EMARYE
8,000,000 7T

RETERBUBREAKTEREN W5
SHREAHRETEREZRENEENMER
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38.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 38.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2023

Fair value measurement using
FERAUTRAINDLFEHE

Quoted prices
in active
markets

(Level 1)
RERT S
H&E
(B—E#®)
RMB’000
AER®TT

Equity investments designated at fair ¥£E&E 2 FE A
value through other comprehensive — H 2 & Ut A B9 i &

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

EMTIRHLFERLFEERE)

AFEE

i®

TRAPAAEEEHIEN QAT EFERA:

BAFEFEZEE:

#2023 12A31H

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
EXTER
BABE

(¢ =3 -§")
RMB’000
ARBTR

Significant

unobservable

inputs

(Level 3)

EXTAER

BABE
(B=E®R) #
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TT

income RE - - 134,400 134,400
Financial assets at fair value through & 2 P EFAEBEH

profit or loss CREE 17,426 - - 17,426
Total @ 17,426 - 134,400 151,826
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 38.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

As at 31 December 2022

ERMIRHLFERLFERER(E)

DEEBERE)

R2022F12A31H

Fair value measurement using

EAUTRBNXFEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RIFRB™ S EARAHE EXTAEHE
B R E LN WAHE
(E—EB#&) (BEZE&) (F=E#&R) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T ARBT T ARBT AR T
Equity investments EBEEAZRATFES
designated at fair A H 2 WA
value through other WRERE
comprehensive income 3,176 - 138,000 141,176
Financial assets at fair value #2 FEst AEH
through profit or loss MWerEE 44,077 - - 44,077
Total BT 47,253 - 138,000 185,253
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38.

39.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3
during the year are as follows:

38.

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

EMTIRHLFERLFEERE)

LFEBERE)
FRE=ZBERLDFEFTEZEZHNT :

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income
At 1 January and 31 December

EEABRAFEFAEMLZE
BANBRERE
®M1A1BK12A31H

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT ARBF T
134,400 138,000

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no
transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and
Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for financial
assets (2022: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments mainly include cash
and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, trade payables and financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, which arise directly
from its operations. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments
for trading purposes. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

39.

BZE2023F12A31ALEE REemEEM
R EBEREE_ERLTVENEZEYL
BER TEEAFELE =B R (20224F :

eHEAREEERRBE

AEENTESHIATZEAERERRSE
ZEY CERER BESZEWRE FFAHE
NRBE -HMMERRERECEENERE
E-BESRARBUARGFAHEMBESRER
EHEANEREE ZEEMIARAR
EMEEREL ZSERIAENTEZENE
RAEFEENELERE -

AEESRIAEEENIERBRIIERR -
FERBRRABESAB AEBREEY
BOEXZENNITEERTIA -ESR/EF
RIEBREEZSEBR ZBE  WEHBLNT -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group has currency exposures from its interest-bearing
other borrowings and exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the USD and HKD exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s loss or profit before tax (due to
changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) and
Group’s equity (due to translation of foreign operations).

39. SMEARETEEARRBE(

b % B B

s

&)

AEEERRBEFEHMERRBEEIH

EBHNELZRNERER-

TRIIRRBERR EFFHEHMERBRE
TEHNBERT  AEEBRHAERIEF (B
REBEEREBENAFTEEZB)IRASEHE
B(ERBREBNAEBIHUEIARBRERS
BEUREDHHBRE -

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in Increase/
(decrease) in profit/(loss) (decrease) in
USD/HKD rates before tax equity*
EY R B Al
7B U E R wm A 8) B% RE 38 n,
EHCF ) 2, GR2) Ot ) *
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AR T AR T
2023 2023 £
If the RMB weakens against the USD MARBEETRME (5) 15,582 15,582
If the RMB strengthens against the USD i A R# X £ Tt & 5 (15,582) (15,582)
If the RMB weakens against the HKD MARBERELIRE (5) - 1,382
If the RMB strengthens against the HKD i A B % &8 7t 7+ & 5 - (1,382)
2022 2022 F
If the RMB weakens against the USD HMARBEEIRME (5) 15,322 15,322
If the RMB strengthens against the USD fid A R ¥ 5 X Tt # & 5 (15,322) (15,322)
If the RMB weakens against the HKD MARBEEBELRE (5) S 1,384
If the RMB strengthens against the HKD i A R # & 38 Tt 7 & 5 - (1,384)
* Excluding retained profits * TEEREER
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39.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis. For transactions that are not denominated
in the functional currency of the relevant operating unit, the
Group does not offer credit terms without the specific approval
of the Head of Credit Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets and the exposure to credit risk for the financial
guarantee contracts.

39.

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

eHEARETEERRBE(E)

& & & B2
FEBERNMEAGERFNE=ZARS -
REAEBNRE EAEZEXRSERKE
FEHMNEFPUARSEERERF LI
BEUREFABRERSEER -BAUFUAER
KEBENYEERAENRIME [ RE
FEEEZTENRERE AEETSRMH
=EH-

EERBERFEFRER

TRERMRIZAIBRBEAEBEEREK(E
ZEERBEIPEN BKRIAHMBERETES
NHBZHAREHITHIES NEELEER
CEEFRERBURFEABRI R -T2
CHEATREENRERERYEERER
NEERBEAE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2023

3. PREARETEEZARRBE(E)

EREEE)
720234 12A 310

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 R
FHEEER 2HRMGEEGR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FIR& 2R & HIE B | K% &
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTR ARBTR ARBTT AR®TT
Contract assets* EREE" - - - 1,298,167 1,298,167
Trade receivables* g5 ERHRE" - - - 645,527 645,527
Financial assets included in ABEARE HitfE
prepayments, other receivables BHEREMEEN
and other assets tRER
- Normal** -EE 165,605 - - - 165,605
- Doubtful* — g = 31,713 7,500 - 39,213
Pledged deposits EEAER
- Not yet past due - R E S 248,580 - - - 248,580
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEEEN
- Not yet past due — 14 K A 187,924 - - - 187,924
Guarantees in respect of mortgage ~ BAEEMEMNE T
facilities for certain purchasers of EXNEBRE
the Group’s properties RHEER
- Not yet past due —-HRE S 1,789,386 - - - 1,789,386
Total Foy 2,391,495 31,713 7,500 1,943,694 4,374,402
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39.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. ¢eMEARBEEBEERBEK(Z)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EHREE)
As at 31 December 2022 M2022F12AH31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A
EHEERR PHEHFERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1RE E2WER K] G 3 @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARBTT ARBT T ARET T AREBTR
Contract assets* AREE" - - - 1,092,610 1,092,610
Trade receivables* g5 EWARE" - - - 613,178 613,178
Financial assets included in ABEARE HitfE
prepayments, other receivables BHEREMEEN
and other assets SMEE
- Normal** -EE" 192,631 - - - 192,631
- Doubtful* — g - 15,006 7,500 - 22,506
Pledged deposits CERAER
- Not yet past due — 1 R 402,796 - - - 402,796
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEEEN
- Not yet past due - R E 222,976 - - - 222,976
Guarantees in respect of mortgage FAEEYENETE
facilities for certain purchasers of KN BEmERME
the Group’s properties &
- Not yet past due — 1 R 1,729,913 - - - 1,729,913
Total Foy 2,548,316 15,006 7,500 1,705,788 4,276,610
* For trade receivables and contract assets to which the Group * RAEEERAREGLLT EZNE S BB FRIE

applies the simplified approach for impairment, information
based on the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 20 and 21
to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

*k

The credit quality of the financial assets included in

prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be

“doubtful”.

ReREEME ERBHEENERTID
B BERGE P BRRME20R21

= Ef ARNRE HUERREREMEE
MEeEMEEYERY BREERRASH
EERVMABRRAEEERARABEEMN HE
EEERRAIER]I-TE EMEENE
BEEZRERIAE]

2023 FF3R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note
20 to the consolidated financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/
counterparty, by geographical region and by industry sector.
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group as the customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables
are widely dispersed in different sectors and industries.

Liquidity risk

The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its
ability to maintain adequate cash inflows from operations to
meet its debt obligations as they fall due, and its ability to
obtain external financing to meet its committed future capital
expenditure. As further described in the going concern basis
contained in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors consider that the Group will be able to maintain
sufficient financial resources to meet its operation needs.
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39.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39.

AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as

at the end of the reporting period, based on contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

On demand or
no fixed terms of
repayments
BREXS
EEENREKE
RMB’000
ARBTTE

Guarantees in respect of mortgage R BB EER

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

eHEARETEERRBE(E)

REBBLEE(E)
FAEEREBREPREERAABANRGAE
NMERBEENIBEROT

Within one year Over one year Total

-%R —FH L ®it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTRE

facilities 1,789,386 - - 1,789,386
Trade payables B EARAE - 1,828,066 - 1,828,066
Financial liabilities included in other &t A Ef B Fi B K fE

payables and accruals TERANERAR 772,638 - - 772,638
Interest-bearing bank and other FERTREMEN

borrowings (excluding lease (TEEHEER)

liabilities) - 619,208 518,835 1,138,043
Total @it 2,562,024 2,447,274 518,835 5,528,133
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 30. ¢MEARBREEBEERBEK(Z)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) mEEEREE)

2022

On demand or
no fixed terms of

repayments Within one year Over one year Total
REXRS
EETHRER —£R —F5k @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBF T ARBF T ARBTR
Guarantees in respect of mortgage RBREER
facilities 1,729,913 - - 1,729,913
Trade payables ES5EMARE - 1,762,454 - 1,762,454
Financial liabilities included in other 3t A £ B B K fE
payables and accruals TEANSREE 884,897 - - 884,897
Interest-bearing bank and other FERTREMMER
borrowings (excluding lease (FEFEHERR)
liabilities) - 675,315 277,742 953,057
Total @t 2,614,810 2,437,769 277,742 5,330,321
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39.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39. 2RMEABREREERBE(Z)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management TExER
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management AEEBERBEANEZEEARBERERF
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going BEBRENRED URBEFR2EARALEENX
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to BHEBREZRREESZ KL
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes AEEEBRHERERE A REBELEMRRE
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions tREBEENERBSHFLEAR - RERS
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To RABREARB AEETRAZDRREX
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust FTHRE MBRREBEEALBITHRMG K
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to SEBEETFEMABEMVDELRRE - &
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to F2023F K2022F12A31ALLGEE BB E
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were AWER BEXICEMEZLEEAEH-
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net rEEFREEEBHE(RFEBBRULH
debt divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. Net debt BEANMFEEABE)EEZELR - FEHERE
includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade FERTRERAMER BZENREBEBURH
payables and other payables and accruals, less cash and HESREREFERRREERESEEY -
cash equivalents. Capital represents the equity attributable to EXRETLAAEBEARLER HRBEBHAR
owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the NWEEEBHLERNT
reporting periods were as follows:
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023%F12H31H 2022% 12 B 31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR F T
Trade payables B 5 EMARE 1,828,066 1,762,454
Other payables and accruals HihENHEREGTER 1,778,726 2,219,099
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SFERITREREMER 1,045,562 904,238
Less: cash and cash equivalents B RERRESEEY 187,924 222,976
Net debt FEX 4,464,430 4,662,815
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BARBEEAELESR 1,013,971 1,000,055
Capital and net debt ERARFEY 5,478,401 5,662,870
Gearing ratio EEEBLE 81% 82%

202355H  HERREEBRARAE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 40. HEHERER
The Group has obtained a new long-term bank facility of AEBCR2024F1A12B R P BEERBT
RMB800,000,000 from China Construction Bank Corporation BOEBERAFRAERIZTHESHFNVNRBEITH
Huailai Sub Branch which was guaranteed by properties and & A R 800,000,000t  HMERZERRER
controlling shareholder on 12 January 2024 and withdrew ER > RS A B E IR AR 440,000,000
RMB440,000,000 as at the report date. JC °

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 41. TLTFHHMBIRAE
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the RAABTRBERRNTHEMRRRER DT ¢
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Financial assets at fair value through profitor R AFEFAEBEZNEHEE
loss 16,664 44,077
Investment in subsidiaries RBLAINERE 105,355 103,850
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 835 761
Total non-current assets ERBEEHLE 122,854 148,688
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, other receivables and other ENFRE HtEKRZERAE
assets & E 516,606 529,264
Pledged deposits EEHEX 528 1,673
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHAEZEEY 36 1
Total current assets REBEEHAE 517,170 530,938
CURRENT LIABILITIES ABAEF
Other payables and accruals HitENSRERESER 138,719 123,030
Interest-bearing other borrowings FFEHAMER 309,562 305,138
Lease liabilities HEas 471 716
Total current liabilities REBEEALE 448,752 428,884
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41.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F 128318

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 41. TLFMHBMBRAK(E)
COMPANY (continued)

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR TR
NET CURRENT ASSETS ABEEFE 68,418 102,054
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERABERE 191,272 250,742
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREBERE
Lease liabilities HE&aE 369 -
Total non-current liabilities RBEEEE 369 -
Net assets EEFE 190,903 250,742
EQUITY E &=
Equity attributable to owners of the parent B A TEEFAELES
Share capital [N 7,281 7,281
Reserves (note) f% 48 (Bt &%) 183,622 243,461
Total equity R 190,903 250,742
Wang Xinling Li Yaruixin
EHmB FEHEE
Director Director
EE EE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A F58R R P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 41.

FOFHMBRREE)

COMPANY (continued)
Note: B 2E
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KABMNBEEREZNOT :
Exchange  Shares held for
Capital fluctuation share award Other Retained
reserve reserve scheme reserves profits Total
#@E
EXfEE EXRBRE FEHRNH Hittfh REEF @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBFR ARBFR ARB TR ARBFR ARBTR
At 1 January 2022 20251818 418,947 (35,716) 48,517) 894 (20,331) 315,277
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (158,913) (158,913)
Exchange differences related to EENEBTRANES
foreign operations F3: - 23,981 - - - 23,981
Total comprehensive loss for the year 2 H &84 8 - 23,981 - - (158,913) (134,932)
Shares granted under share award ~ RIER B R B EE H
scheme 1R 17 14,599 - 48,517 (894) 894 63,116
At 31 December 2022 2022512 8318 433,546 (11,735) = = (178,350) 243 461
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41.

42.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 41.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A5 8RR P oE

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

FOFHMBRREE)

COMPANY (continued)
Shares held
Exchange for share
Capital fluctuation award Other Retained
reserve reserve scheme reserves profits
-1.:37]
B matE
X ERRDREG BHEBER K fth 6 i REEF 11
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TR AR®TT AER®TT AE®TT AR®TR AE®TR
At 1 January 2023 R2023F 1818 433,546 (11,735) - - (178,350) 243,461
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (63,291) (63,291)
Exchange differences related to HENEBEBRANER
foreign operations =8 - 3,452 - - - 3,452
Total comprehensive loss for the year & 12 [ 5 18 8 5§ - 3,452 - - (63,291) (59,839)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H 433,546 (8,283) - - (241,641) 183,622
APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 42. FEMBEERZmME

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 28 March

2024.

FEMBHRRE N2024F3A28B BEEER

HERKET -
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BREAKDOWN OF PROPERTIES

LU E Lk

BREAKDOWN OF PROPERTIES AS OF DECEMBER

BE2023F12ATEHMEHEMRAE

31, 2023
Held for
future
Completed Under development development
i
B#I 3 FERE
Completion
Rentable time/
GFAheld Saleable estimated Equity
GFA  Saleable/ Unsold forproperty ~ GFAunder  Saleable GFA  Development Planned completion holders’
Sitearea  completed rentable GFA  saleable GFA investment development GFA pre-sold  stage GFA  Use time equity
T4e/ FHE  HEUR B H BIRN/
E#I TH# THE REVHE 3 ] BEH bEH il fEH#I figd
fRER  REER  REEW  REEE  REEE  MEEE  RRER  RRER RERR BAER AR KR fid
Name and location of project (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m,) (sq.m,) (sq.m,) (sq.m,)
RE4RRLE (F5%)  (F5%) (F5K) (KK (FRK) (BRR) (FRR) (FRR) (Fh%)
.~ Residential and commercial properties
- EERARYR
Zhuozhou
&N
1. Tianmadingyuen 5968 204034 196761 209 - - - - - - Residentil  July 2015 100%
No.5-1 Huayangzhong Road k% 155TR
ERNASE
2. Tianhe Penghua 36,901 71,8637 6,861.2 38766 e e e S0 - Residential ~ November 100%
No. 128 Huayang Road fiz 017
=2 2RR 185 MTENR
3. Tianbao Green City Beet 1051783 78,3200 §,1640 - - - - - - Residential ~ November 100%
The northern side of Guanyun Road end fiz 2019
the westem side of Xuyi Vilage W19E11R
RR&H
BERLURH-HEH
4. Tianbao Lingyun Chy %6667 891208 609026 6,338 - - - - - - Residentidl  April 2019 100%
The northern side of Songgao Road, fiz 019544
Songlindian Town
RREEY
RrEERERLY
5. Tianbao Xinyue Bay 175933 48,665.5 1474 5,166.0 e 12430 e - Main structure - Residential ~ December 100%
(elso known s Project MingYang Phase |) under fiz 04
Xiguo Vilage, Matou Town construction WUENR
RRBREREHE-B) TRER
ERERgN EEL
8. Tianbao Smart Bulding Technology Park Project 58,6109 - - - - 1346582 1094178 %403 Manstucte 1754345 Commercial  June 2024 100%
North o Yongj Est Road and east o Pengcheng under [ 2AU4EGH
Street in the High-Tech Development Zone construction
RRESEINRREA TREE
BHEABRALURERAERA ERd
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BREAKDOWN OF PROPERTIES
135 EA

Held for
future
Completed Under development development
fif
B4I 3 ] FERE
Completion
Rentable time/
GFA held Saleable estimated Equity
GFA  Saleable/ Unsold forproperty ~ GFAunder  Saleable GFA  Development Planned completion holders’
Sitearea  completed rentable GFA  saleable GFA  investment  development GFA pre-sold  stage GFA  Use time equity
The/ FHE  HEUR B H KIER/
B4I TH# THE HRETHE 3] bEH bEH i fiH#I figd
fRER  REER  REEW  REEW 0 REEE  MBEE  HRER  BRER RERR BEER RE KR fig
Name and location of project (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m,) (sq.m,) (sq.m,) (sq.m,)
REARRLE (F5%)  (F5%) (F5%) (FRK (FRK) (BRR) (FRR) (FRR) (Fr%)
Thangjiakou
]
1. Tianbao New Ciy Phase 86,3518 1327780 1210800 53226 - - - - - - Commercial,  December 100%
The eastern side of Zhongdu Street and the Residential 2014
southern side of Xinghe Road, Zhangbei County B2 iz NUENRR
KR4
REBBRERUREAAEY
8. Tianbao New City Phase Il 663400 132087 1183682 41 - - - - - - Commercia, January 2018 100%
The easter side of Zhongdu Street and the Residential ~ 2018%17
southern side of Xinghe Road, Zhangbei County B% £
RRiAZE
RREAERGRUR AR B
9. Tienbao New City Phese Il 01895 241368 210827 128671 - - - - - - Commerciel,  December 100%
The eastem side of Zhongdu Street and the Residential 2019
souther sids of Xinghe Road, Znangbei Courty FE iz N0ENA
RRiAZE
RHERERGRUR AR B
10. Zhangbe Zhongdu Ginza 81067 5362 43T 388 - - - - - - Commercel—June 2021 100%
(high-rse apartments and office buidings) LES 1£68
The eastern side of Znongdu Street and the
southern side of Xinghe Road, Zhangbei County
EIhSEE(SELERELE)
REBBRERURATAEY
1. Zhangbei Fuxinyuan Shanty-town Improvement Mnesr0  WigT2 187015 17,1192 - - - - - - Commercid, ~June 2020 100%
Project Residential ~ 2020%67
The eastem side of Jingdu Road, Zhangbei County B% £
RERRARFEAEAR
REERERR
12. Tianbao Edelweiss Cty (Residental) 1001920 220136 200879 179438 - - - - - - Residentil ~ Docemper 100%
The eastem side of Qiihe Vilage, Yu County i 023
RREALHIER) 203£ 128
HELEAHEN

2023FEH tEAREERRERAT 289



BREAKDOWN OF PROPERTIES
LU E Lk

Held for
future
Completed Under development development
fif
B4I &R E3q 1]
Completion
Rentable time/
GFA held Saleable estimated Equity
GFA  Saleable/ Unsold forproperty ~ GFAunder  Saleable GFA  Development Planned completion holders’
Sitearea  completed rentable GFA  saleable GFA  investment  development GFA pre-sold  stage GFA  Use time equity
T8e/ FHE  HEUR B H KIER/
E#I T THE RETHE i3 DL DL b | fiitiI CLE
E¥ER REER  BEEN  REER  REER  HREE  REER  REER RERR REEH AR KR fig
Name and location of project (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m,) (sq.m,) (sq.m,) (sq.m,)
REARRLE (F5%)  (F5%) (F5%) (FRK (FRK) (BRR) (FRR) (FRR) (Fr%)
13, Tienbao Edshveiss City Commercia) 54,7000 - - - - 104 10155 94982  Manstucture 1558647 Commercial  Doember 100%
The eastern side of Qiihe Village, Yu County under L 2025
RREGEH(ER) construction ABENRA
HELENHEN TRER
EEL
14, Tianbao Boyue Bay 816150 1930811 1641909 52,6959 - - - - - - Residential ~ Deoember 100%
LipuziVilag, Yuzhou Town, Yu County frz s
ARERR ME1A
FEELEES S
15, Zhangbei Zhongdu Garden 99,5130 S S S = = = = 5 1194156 Commercial  December 100%
The western side of Zhanghua Highway and the L 025
northern side of Zhangshang Highway, Zhangbei 005% 128
County
FihgiE
EYHRERREARENRRLA
16, Zhangbei Haiziwa Land Lot 487420 - - - - - - - - 48,7420 Other December 100%
The western side of Haiziwia Scenic Area, commercial 2025
Zhangbei County services 2055128
39503 4
EVHETERERY fth
17, Tianbao Jingifu $3242.0 - - - - - - - - 86,4840 Commercial,  December 100%
Nanfanzhuang Village, Yuzhou Town, Yu County Residential 2024
RRRER BE iz AMUENA
FEEREELES)
[l Investment properties
o RENR
Zhuozhou
&N
18, Baoxin Intemational Building (Note 1) 7704 500007 4433 - U3t - - - - - Commercial  May 2016 100%
No. 33 Guanyun East Road G 2016558
REARAEMEI
FELT RS
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BREAKDOWN OF PROPERTIES
135 EA

Held for
future
Completed Under development development
fif
B4I &R E3q 1]
Completion
Rentable time/
GFA held Saleable estimated Equity
GFA  Saleable/ Unsold forproperty ~ GFAunder  Saleable GFA  Development Planned completion holders’
Sitearea  completed rentable GFA  saleable GFA  investment  development GFA pre-sold  stage GFA  Use time equity
T8e/ FHE  HEUR G H BIRN/
E#I T THE RETHE i3 DL DL b | fiitiI CLE
E¥ER REER  BEEN  REER  REER  HREE  REER  REER RERR REEH AR KR &
Name and location of project (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m,) (sq.m,) (sq.m,) (sq.m,)
RE&RRGE (F5%)  (F5%) (F5%) (FRK (FRK) (BRR) (FRR) (FRR) (Fr%)
Thangjiakou
1
19, Zhangbel Zhongdu Ginza- Tianbao Plaza (Note 2) 81067 343 343 - 33643 - - - - - Commercial Jung 2021 100%
The eastern side of Zhongdu Strest and the ES 1£64
southern side of Xinghe Road, Znangbei County
ELhRE-RRERME
REBERERUREAAEY
Il Other property
I kfthi
Ihangjiakou
!
0. NasutuHotel (formerly known as Haiziwa Hote) 52,2870 34,4804 - - - - - - - - Other December 100%
The souther side of Haiziwa County, commercial 2022
Zhanghei Gounty senices 2026128
PEERERE B72ER) ihEz
EXERTEREN fi#
Notes: 1 The land use rights of Baoxin International Building have been BEEE: 1. REEBRAEERLHERAENHRR
granted for a term expiring on December 2, 2053. 2053F 12 2B @ °
2. The land use rights of Zhangbei Zhongdu Ginza-Tianbao Plaza 2. RIEFHRE-RRESERLBGERAEN
have been granted for a term expiring on May 14, 2050. BAPR R 2050F 5814 @i ©
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFMEGERR

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group BEBELAMEERYBRR]NVNAEE BT I EH
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published BEENEZE EEREEHMERINOT -
audited financial statements is set out below.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY IEMBERE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
N Al AR T ARMTIT AR¥ TR AR TR

CONTINUING OPERATIONS BIBREBER
REVENUE U &= 2,716,589 1,923,869 2,899,541 3,369,341 2,660,037
Cost of sales & R A (2,554,676) (1,809,157) (2,655,907) (2,741,242) (1,977,617)
Gross profit % F 161,913 114,712 243,634 628,099 686,420
Other income and gains H i A R U&= 5,236 (97,784) 16,113 26,537 13,786
Selling and distribution expenses $5& R 2 85 X 598 (1,277) (8,559) (1,172) (3,220)
Administrative expenses THR X (61,282) (65,879) (62,875) (55,678) (78,038)
Impairment loss on financial 2REREREER

and contract assets, net BEEEBFHE 18,243 (162,681) (46,326) (40,132) (24,274)
Fair value (loss)/gain on REVMENRFEE

investment properties (F518) & (100) (72,379) - (700) 4,700
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial &2 F{EAEH

assets at fair value through WEeRmEEQF

profit or loss E(EE), k& (7,932) (7,378) (36,824) 22,276 (910)
Other expenses Hipx (904) (2,560) (8,378) (1,252) (2,673)
Finance costs BB A (71,497) (70,866) (57,989) (37,679) (21,788)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE SEREXEBMB

TAX FROM CONTINUING BB AR R

OPERATIONS (E18) 44,275 (366,092) 48,796 540,299 570,003
Income tax expense FrEBimx (33,285) 18,746 (6,988) (208,628) (252,231)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE SEIS R EB B

YEAR FROM CONTINUING FREFN

OPERATIONS (E8) 10,990 (347,346) 41,808 331,671 317,772

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ERILEEERS

Loss for the year from AR IEREEKR

discontinued operations BERABE - = = = (62)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 4 iy % %I,/ (&5 18) 10,990 (347,346) 41,808 331,671 317,710
Attributable to: LT AL A

Owners of the parent BRAREE A 10,990 (347,346) 41,808 331,671 317,710
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFMEGRER

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES RERAR

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
N Al AR Tt AR T AR® TR AR®Tx

TOTAL ASSETS BEE 6,069,129 6,273,820 6,937,384 6,460,620 6,122,610

TOTAL LIABILITIES BEE 5,055,158 5,273,765 5,691,594 5,144,735 5,035,824
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DEFINITIONS
e

“Annual General Meeting”
RRBFARE]

“Annual Report”

[ %5 |

“Articles” or “Articles of

Association”
(4B K4 & ZE=4A8 ]

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

=N

“Chairman of the Board”
[EEREE]

“China” or “PRC”

[ B

“Company” or “we”

(22815 #EM]

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”
MR R =R

“Corporate Governance Code”
&R

“Director(s)”
[E=E

“GFA”
[ 52 7R

“Group” or “the Group”
[ & E ]

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held at the Company’s conference room
in Baoxin International Building, No. 33, Guanyun East Road, Zhuozhou, Hebei Province, the
PRC on May 23, 2024 at 9:00 a.m. and any adjournment thereof

RNABETR2024F5 8238 AR ERFETLEEFMN DT EERBIBFRREARAE
ARAREREETRRBEASREEMNES

the 2023 Annual Report of the Company
XA T 2023 F F ]|

the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company (as amended from time to
time)
ARARMEBERAARERMA(RTRKEET)

the board of Directors of the Company
KABEER

the chairman of the Board of the Company
RXABREERER

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purposes of this Annual Report and for
geographical reference only (unless otherwise indicated), excluding Hong Kong, Macau
Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

FEARANE ERAFERREBLEME - REFERIN TEEEE - BFBINTHRE

Ra

China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited (F B X R &E B % R B R 2 7), an
exempted company incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability on November 16,
2018, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1427)

FEXREBZERERLAT —HMR2018F11B16HEHERETMRINERREBR A
B EROMBERAERLS RDANR 1427)

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
EEETRUFETHRE

the corporate governance code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
TR AIM G+ W TS EER A

director(s) of the Company
KABESE

gross floor area
REEE

the Company and its subsidiaries
AABREKE DT

China Tianbao Group Development Company Limited Annual Report 2023



“HK$” or “HK dollars”
[t

“Hong Kong”
(&%)

“IFRSs”

' B B 7% 35 & 2E Al

“Listing Date”

[t B

“Listing Rules”

[+ 35 Bl

“Model Code”

¥

r

T

<5 Al

“Renminbi” or “RMB”
AR

“Reporting Period” or “Year”
(HEHIHAFE]

«SEQ”

(7% & 838 5&H ]

“Shareholder(s)”
MR ]

“Shares”
MR 10 ]

“sq. m.”

[¥ 5K

“Stock Exchange”
[k 32 T |

DEFINITIONS
s

Hong Kong dollars and Hong Kong cents, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
ERCEEER DR AEBITRBA

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
HFEEBRETHE

International Financial Reporting Standards, which include standards and interpretations
promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board and the International
Accounting Standards and interpretation issued by the International Accounting Standards
Committee

BB RELEL EEER ST A ESEEANERNRRBURER ST XAIZES
EHNBEKRESHENRZRE

November 11, 2019, on which the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange and from which
dealings in the Shares were permitted to commence on the Stock Exchange
2019F 1M A11H RORBIFALTHESR IYBHBHE ROEERBEXMBEKES

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
as amended from time to time
ERBAERSMBRLAABIFLWHRE BFRKBIT

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules
EHRAMBETABEN LT RTAEETETESIREN

¥

i

# % A

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
AR HEEEE

for the year ended December 31, 2023
B ZE2023F12A31HILEFE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
EBEDESNEZTSERBERY BETRKEFT BARUEM T B K

holder(s) of Shares
RBFEA

ordinary shares of nominal value HK$0.01 each of the Company
AABEREBEOOIEBTNEBER

square meters

T

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBERZHERLDA

202358  HERREEBRARAE
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DEFINITIONS
e

“Tianbao Construction Group’
[RREREH]

“Tianbao Real Estate Group”

[(RREHESE]

“gp”
%]

Tianbao Construction Group Company Limited (KR EZ R E BB R 2 7), a limited liability
company established in China on March 18, 1998 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company

AREREBERLAA —ER1998F3A1BHEEFEARIINERQAAREILANEES
BB A A

Tianbao Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. (X & 5 it = & @ & BR 2 7) (formerly known as Tianbao
Property Development Company Limited (X 1R = #b & B8 & & R 2 7)), a limited liability
company established in China on May 10, 2001 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
our Company, with its name changed to “Tianbao Real Estate Group Co., Ltd.” (X% & #t: &
£ E AR 2D F) on April 21, 2020

AMREMEEBEERAR  FEEAIXARERERZERAR] —ER20010FE58108 &
HFERYINERAARAADANEELZENBE LR R2020F4B21BEER[RXAREHE
SEEERAA]

per cent.
Eild
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